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PART |

| tem 1. Business.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

Except for historical information, this Annual Repon Form 10-K may be deemed to contain “forwardking” information. Examples
forwarddooking information include but are not limited t() projections of or statements regarding retumninvestment, future earnin
interest income, other income, earnings or lossspare, growth prospects, capital structure, ahdrdinancial terms, (b) statements of p
and objectives of management, (c) statements ofduitconomic performance, and (d) statements ohgstsons, such as economic conditi
underlying other statements. Such forward-lookimfgrimation may be identified by the use of forwéwdking terminology such as “believes,”
“expects,” “may,” “should,” “anticipates,the negative of any of the foregoing or variatiafissuch terms or comparable terminology, o
discussion of strategy. No assurance may be givanthe future results described by the forwlamking information will be achieved. St
statements are subject to risks, uncertainties pimet factors, which could cause actual resultgiffer materially from future results expres
or implied by such forward-looking information. Sustatements in this Annual Report on FormKl@aclude, without limitation, thos
contained in Item 1. Business, Item 7. ManagemsebDtscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiom &esults of Operations, and Iten
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data inodijdiithout limitation, the Notes To Consolidateiddncial Statements. Important fac!
that could cause the actual results to differ nitgrfrom those in these forward-looking statenseiniclude, among other items:

. the Corporatio’s successful execution of internal performances

. performance issues with key suppliers, subcontracémd business partne

. the ability to negotiate financing arrangementdénders

. legal proceeding:s

. changes in the need for additional machinery amipatent and/or in the cost for the expansion ofGleporatiol’ s operations
. ability of outside third parties to comply with theommitments

. product demand and market acceptance r

. the effect of economic conditior

. the impact of competitive products and prici

. product development, commercialization, and teabgiohl difficulties;

. social and economic conditions and local regulatiorthe countries in which the Corporation conduist businesse

. unanticipated environmental remediation expensetaims;

. capacity and supply constraints or difficulti

. an inability to perform customer contracts at dptited cost levels

. changing priorities or reductions in the U.S. Goweent defense budge

. contract continuation and future contract awa

. U.S. and international military budget constraismsl determination:

. the factors discussed under the cap“Risk Factor” in Iltem 1A below;

. and other factors that generally affect the busimésompanies operating in the Corpore’s markets and/or industrie

The Corporation assumes no obligation to updatedmooking statements to reflect actual results omgea in or additions to the fact
affecting such forward-looking statements.

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

The Corporation manages and evaluates its opesatiased on the products and services it offerdtamdifferent markets it serves. Base(
this approach, the Corporation has three reportsddenents: Flow Control, Motion Control, and Méla¢atment. The Flow Control segm
primarily designs, manufactures, distributes, aedrises a broad range of highly engineered ftmmtrol products. These products are
severe service military and commercial applicatioctuding power generation, oil and gas, and gariadustrial. The Motion Control segm
primarily designs, develops, and manufactures pigtiermance mechanical systems, drive systems, duheldecomputing solutions, &
electronic controls and sensors for the defens®space, and general industrial markets. Metal tiireat provides a variety of metallurgi
services, principally shot peening, laser peertiegt
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treating, and coatings, for various industriesjudimg military and commercial aerospace, autongtisonstruction equipment, oil and ¢
power generation, and general industrial.

Flow Control

This segment designs, manufactures, distributed, senvices a broad range of highly engineered ftmntrol products for severe sern
military and commercial applications. Military ssjgrimarily to the U.S. Navy as a subcontractomprised 48%, 50%, and 56% of segr
sales in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. Flont®I| products are used by the U.S. Navy, nugbeaver plants, oil and gas refineries,
other commercial businesses through the variouméss units discussed below.

This segment consists of four operating divisiofiatve Systems, Commercial Power and Services, Bleachanical Systems, and Cor
Systems.

The Valve Systems division of Flow Control desigmanufactures, distributes, and services highlyireeged valve products for fluid flc
systems and subsystems. This division is compob#ueolarget Rock, Farris, Sprague, Solent & PiaditaValve, and Tapco business ui
Valve Systems provides valve products that sugfpartprimary markets: defense, commercial poweascess, and industrial. Revenues der
from the sale of valves during 2005, 2004, and 2@@8esented 16%, 14%, and 16%, respectively, o€onsolidated revenue.

Flow Control's Target Rock division, located in East FarmingdBlew York, designs, manufactures, refurbishes, tasts highly engineer
valves and related actuators and controllers, aodiges engineering services to naval and commlemtéakets. Target Rock valves, includ
motor/solenoid operated gate and globe, contrétypaelief, and ball valves, control the flow éfilids and gases and provide safety reli
highpressure applications. Target Rock valves areliedtan every nuclear submarine and aircraft cam@nmissioned by the U.S. Navy
currently supplies all relief valves utilized byeth).S. Naval Nuclear Propulsion Program. Appligagianclude various U.S. Navy subma
classes, such as Los Angeles, Trident, and Virgasavell as Naval Aircraft Carrier classes inahgdihe Nimitz. The U.S. Navy utilizes Tar
Rock valves in its nuclear propulsion systems. Regethe segment has expanded its focus to indlndenonnuclear U.S. Navy business in
effort to diversify its product offering. Growth this sector has been generated through salesopéfdilaunch shuttles and control valves
aircraft carriers and ball valves for submarinesrgét Rock and Enertech Engineering Services afswide products and services
commercial markets, mainly the nuclear power ingusthe Target Rock division provides its valvesoteners and operators of commer
power utilities who use them in new and existinglaar and fossil fuel power plants. Over the past years, all new construction of nuc
power plants has been outside the U.S., and segabyst for such plants have been mainly to Soutledand Taiwan. A small investment
been made in South Korea and Russia to gain adlubtin the commercial nuclear valve market in Asiad Russia, respectively. 1
production of valves for the U.S. Navy and for powkants is characterized by long lead times frodeo placement to delivery.

The Farris, Solent & Pratt, DeltaValve, and Tapédsibns operate facilities in the U.S., Canadad éme U.K. that design, engineer,

manufacture spring-loaded and pilot operated presslief valves as well as metstated industrial gate, butterfly, and ball valussd i
standard and advanced applications including higiec highpressure, extreme temperature, and corrosive gawtonments within tf
petroleum, petrochemical, chemical, and oil and gascess industries. Included in these productthésrecent commercialization of
DeltaGuard™ coke-drum unheading device, which s a significant advancement in cakem unheading technology. This r
DeltaGuard™ technology is safe, easy to operali@pte, cost effective, and can be configured foy aokedrum application. The patents
this technology may become material to the futyrerations of our Valve Systems division.

Other products within the Flow Control segment picet at the Sprague business unit include hydraokleer units and components prima
for the automotive and entertainment industrieecigty hydraulic and pneumatic valves, diiven pumps, and gas boosters used in ve
industrial applications as well as in directionahtrol valves for truck transmissions and car tpams carriers. Flow Control also provic
inspection, installation, repair and maintenanoe, @her field services for harsh environment flomtrol systems.

The Commercial Power and Services division desigra)ufactures, distributes, and qualifies flow colnproducts, fasteners, custom fittir
and machined products for use in the global comi@lenaclear power markets and by the U.S. DepartragBnergy (“DOE”).This division i
composed of the Enertech, Nova Machine, and Tremtietess units, with operations located in Bredif@nia, Middleburg Heights, Ohi
and Cincinnati, Ohio, respectively. Enertech’s pidine includes snubbers, advanced valves, adwgators, pumps, test and
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diagnostic equipment, as well as related diagnastigices. In addition, this business unit provitlasing, onsite services, staff augmentati
and engineering programs to nuclear power plartsaNMachine and Trentec were both acquired by ¢gengnt in May 2004. Nova Machise’
product lines and services include nuclear safelsted fasteners, custom fittings, machined praduad custom welding fabrication.
September 1, 2005 Nova acquired the intellectugpenty for the HydraNut product line from Technafahis expands Nova'ability to offe
an innovative bolting solution for high stress amchperature environments. The HydraNut can sigaitly reduce the amount of exposure 1
for nuclear hot areas. Trentscgproduct line includes airlocks and hatches, spemintainment doors, pressure vessels, precisiachime:
components, and spent fuel pool gates. In additlman, Trentec business unit provides consultingisesy inspection and testing services,
diamond wire cutting services used to create laigek cuts from concrete structures.

The Electromechanical Systems division developsigis, manufactures, and performs qualificationcifical-function, electradynamic
solutions for the U.S. Navy, including pumps, adsehmotors, generators, and secondary propuls&tersig. This division is composed of
Electro-Mechanical Division (“EMD?”), located in Céwick, Pennsylvania, and Engineered Pump Divisi&@PD") located in Phillipsbur
New Jersey, which were acquired in November 2002 Mavember 2004, respectively. This division pr@ddmain coolant pumps, des
engineering services, purification pump motors,pskervice generators, and secondary propulsioremgstto the U.S. Navy. Spec
applications include the Los Angeles, Virginia, @hand Seawolf class submarines and the CVN AfircCafrier. In addition, the segm
offers ship service generators to the U.S. Navytigsr program. EMD also conducts business in coroimemarkets, mainly the nucle
power industry. EMD supplies reactor coolant pungagsls, motors, and control rod drive mechanisnsaioers and operators of commer
power utilities who use them in new and existinglear and fossil fuel power plants. EMD is expagdits offerings to include advanc
electromagnetic product development to the U.S.yAamd hazardous waste pumps to the DOE.

Our Control Systems division consists of the Paerlestrument business unit, located in East Faydaile, New York. This business
designs, develops, manufactures, tests, and servipecialized electronic instrumentation and céntquipment, which includs
instrumentation for primary and secondary contrsteam generator control equipment, and valve a&adeh controls. This division provic
these custom designed and commercial-offghelf based electronic circuit boards and systenthe U.S. Nuclear Navy and is develog
products for the process industry. Sales are madedponding directly to requests for proposalefaustomers.

Strong competition in commercial flow control pret and services is encountered from a large numbedomestic and foreign sourc
Competition occurs on the basis of technical exgerprice, delivery, contractual terms, previousallation history, and reputation for qua
Delivery speed and the proximity of service ceni@ms important with respect to aftermarket produSsles to commercial end users
accomplished by a combination of direct sales eygss and manufacturers’ representatives locateédeirsegmeng primary market are:
This representation provides sales coverage ofeaugbower utilities, principal boiler and reactawilbers, architectural engineers, .
hydrocarbon processing industry and chemical psingsndustry plants worldwide. For its militaryrdeacts, the segment receives reques
guotes from prime contractors as a result of bam@gpproved supplier for naval propulsion systemgmiand valves. Sales engineers su
non-nuclear military sales activities. The segment ukeglirect distribution basis for military and caowrcial valves and associated spare [

Backlog for this segment at December 31, 2005 w98 million, of which 32% is expected to be skipmfter one year, compared v
$396.3 million at December 31, 2004. AdditionaW% of this segmerg’backlog as of December 31, 2005 is compriseddérs with th
U.S. Navy through its prime contractor, Bechtel @rpinc. (“Bechtel”).Sales by this segment to Bechtel accounted for 8%, and 34% 1
total segment sales in 2005, 2004, and 2003, rdeple or 10%, 13%, and 16% of our consolidatederaie. Additionally, sales by tl
segment to another prime contractor accounted X86,155%, and 16% of total segment sales in 20054 280d 2003, respectively, while s:
to one of Flow Contro§ commercial customers represented approximatelya®809% of total segment sales in 2005 and 20@perively
The loss of these customers would have a matetisdrae effect on the business of Flow Control &red@ompany as a whole. Many of
products we produce are low volume, highly engiedgroducts for advanced technologies. As a rethidt,segment may be impacted by
timing of milestones in longerm military contracts. None of the commercial ihass of this segment is seasonal, and raw mategiz
generally available in adequate quantities.
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Motion Control

Our Motion Control segment designs, develops, magtufes, and maintains sophisticated, hpghformance mechanical actuation and ¢
systems, missiogritical electronic component and control systeary] sensors for the aerospace, defense, and iiadlesfuipment market
This segment consists of 14 business units thatrgemnized and managed as three operating divisEngineered Systems, Integrated Sen
and Embedded Computing.

Our Engineered Systems division’s product offeribgshe aerospace industry consist of electro-m@chbhand hydranechanical actuatis
components and systems, which are designed toigosiircraft control surfaces or to operate camgpoargo doors, weapons bay door:
other devices used on aircraft. Aircraft applicasionclude actuators and electronic control systantssensors for the Boeing 737, 747,

767, 777, Airbus A320, A330, A340, and future Ba@ei87 civil air transports, the Lockheed Martin &HRalcon fighter jet, the Boeing F/28
Hornet fighter jet, the F-22 Raptor fighter jetetBell Boeing V22 Osprey, and the Sikorsky Black Hawk and Seahbhelicopters. Th
Engineered Systems division is also developindhflicontrol actuators for the engineering and mastufing development phase of Lockh
Martin’s F-35 Joint Strike Fighter (“*JSF”) prograithe JSF is the nexteneration fighter aircraft being designed for ligall three branches
the U.S. military as well as by several foreign gmments. The U.S. Air ForceJoint Unmanned Combat Air System integral weapoisting
system is another major development effort forTuee manufacturing of these products is performealiatShelby, North Carolina facility. T
division also provides electric motors, controllersd smaller electromechanical actuation subsysfemflight, engine, and environmer
control applications on various commercial transpaegional aircraft, military aircraft, and spewt through our facility in Stratford, Cana

As a related service within the Engineered Systdivision, we also provide commercial airlines, théitary, and general aviation custom
with component overhaul and repair services. Theices include the overhaul and repair of hydragufineumatic, mechanical, electro-
mechanical, and electronic components, aircraftspsourcing, and component exchange services feida array of aircraft. The divisic
provides these services from facilities in Gastamd Shelby, North Carolina, Miami, Florida, Stoatf, Ontario, and a marketing distribut
facility in Singapore.

In addition, the division’s Drive Technology buséseunit designs, manufactures, and distributestrelatechanical and electiosdraulic
actuation components and systems, including eleictmontrols designed for the military tracked aviteeled vehicle, highpeed tilting trair
and commercial marine propulsion markets. Theselymts, which are designed and manufactured at amility in Switzerland, primaril
consist of turret aiming and stabilization, weaptasdling systems, and suspension systems for adnmilitary vehicles sold to forei
defense equipment manufacturers and tilting systemdighspeed train applications. The products are soldguai direct sales force
customers worldwide.

In March 2005, Motion Control purchased the ase&tadal Technologies Inc. (“Indal'lpcated in Mississauga, Ontario, Canada. Indalgehe
and manufactures electro-mechanical systems foalnassels and helicopters. Indashipboard helicopter handling systems are useithd
U.S. Navy and U.S. Coast Guard and more than tegr siavies around the world. The company desigdshaiids the elements of the ship’
structure including telescopic hangars and hangarsd Specialized winching equipment is providedtéoving sonar and mine sweep syst
from submarines and surface ships. The comparguisching a new product aimed at the airport pradgettor for automating the pre«
movement of passenger boarding bridges. A dirdesgarce is utilized with assistance from comnuasid agents in country. Sales to Japa
made through Mitsubishi Trading Corporation whidédes to the U.S. Navy are made through the Cand@ieanmercial Corporation. All oth
sales are made directly to navies, shipyards, afiddpter manufacturers. Indal has provided prodoaver twentyfour countries around t
world.

We market Engineered Systems products primarilputin a direct sales force. Our Engineered Systeodupts are sold in competition wit
number of other suppliers, some of whom have bropdaduct lines and greater financial, technicald duman resources. The compet
environment for these products is focused on atdisbrof companies, with recent strategic trentishe prime contractor level resulting i
smaller market of vertically integrated suppliewijle prime contractors specialize in integrationl dinal assembly. Price, technical capabi
performance, service, and “overall valug'e the primary forces of competition with a foaus offering solutions to perform control ¢
actuation functions on a limited number of new prcttbn programs. Our overhaul and repair servicessald in competition with a number
other overhaul and repair providers with a focugjoality,
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delivery, and price. Marketing for overhaul andaieservices is accomplished through independdet sapresentatives and by direct <
employees.

Our Integrated Sensing division develops and maufas a range of sensors, controllers, and elgictroontrol units for military ar
commercial aerospace and industrial markets, whieh marketed through facilities in the United Kiogd and the United States. Th
products include position, pressure, and temperase@nsors, solenoids and solenoid valves, smolectiet sensors, torque sensing,
detection, and protection equipment, air data caerpuflight data recorders, joysticks, electrosignal conditioning and control equipmt
We sell this divisiors products primarily to prime contractors and sysietegrators, both directly and through a netwairindependent sal
representatives on a worldwide basis. Position@snare used on primary flight control systems andine controls on Airbus and Boe
aircraft, regional and business aircraft, and omynd.S. and European military aircraft, includingetBoeing 787 and JSF. Air data, fli
recorder, and ice protection equipment is suppbeaiany helicopter applications. We also sell aadpcts for use in a wide range of indus
applications such as offighway vehicles, powered wheelchairs, processrohrand motorsport. Competition with the integdatgensin
division, especially in the aerospace market, sdasingly being driven by price concerns. Theitghib service the customer with supe
performance and quality is expected of all vendous,downward pricing pressure is emerging as adisyriminator.

Our Embedded Computing division designs, develapd, manufactures embedded computing béard modules and integrated subsysit
primarily for the aerospace and ground defense etsrkUsing standard, commercially available eledt® technologies, coupled w
application domain specific knowledge, this divisioffers hardware and software modules based on opkistry standards, referred tc
commercial-off-the-shelf or “COTS”. Our integratedabsystems include both reuse and third party modules as well as custonutesdase
on in-house intellectual property content. We alffer a supporting array of services that inclulife-cycle management, technical supy
training, and development of custom module varidrased on COTS modules. Our Embedded Computingialivis considered one of
embedded computing industsy’'most comprehensive and experienced single sdorcg@rocessing, data communications, digital si
processing, and video and graphics computing swistiOur COTS modules and integrated subsystemdesigned to perform reliably
rugged conditions, such as extreme temperaturesiirteand/or speed which result in high shock aiwtation, as well as commerc
environments for use in laboratory and benign emrirent applications.

Embedded Computing’s subsystem products are useadaiitle variety of missiowritical military applications, including fire comt, aiming
and stabilization, munitions loading, and environtaé processors for military ground vehicles. Thpemducts are used on demanding col
platforms such as the Bradley fighting vehicle, #ilwams M1A2/A3 tank, and the Brigade Combat Teaterim Armored Vehicle, which
part of the U.S. Armys modernization and transformation efforts. Thidsibn also provides the mission management, flagintrol computer
and the sensor management units for advanced aemgpatforms including the U.S. Air Force Globawk, a high-altitude and high-
endurance unmanned aerial vehicle.

Embedded Computing’s modules are used in hundreastive programs today, including leadiedge military platforms such as the Imprc
Bradley Acquisition System, and the Improved TowgAisition System. The modules feature high perferteachips on open architectu
The division has taken a leadership position indtadting and definition of the newest embeddedddads, which are designed to addres
more demanding performance and bandwidth requiresnginemerging applications. Embedded Computinthésfirst embedded computi
vendor to announce forthcoming boards and systemsedoon these new architectures. Embedded Compistiatgo committed to supg
technology for some of the most advanced futurgamy platforms including the F-22, JSF, and FutGmmbat System.

This division’s products are manufactured at its operations ddcat North America and the United Kingdom. Headtgprad in Leesbur
Virginia, the Embedded Computing division maintafasilities in Santa Clarita, California, San Digdoalifornia, Dayton, Ohio, Kana
Ontario, Canada and Cambridge, United Kingdom. Pnaducts are sold primarily to prime contractorsl asubsystem suppliers loca
primarily in the United States, United Kingdom, &dnada, both directly and through a network oépehdent sales representatives. In re
years, competition in the embedded electronic systearket has migrated away from traditional boaosthpetitors toward subsystem .
system providers selling to prime and sectied-defense and aerospace companies. Competitiothi$ market is based on quality
technology, price, and delivery times.

Page 8




Sales by Motion Control to its largest customee, Boeing Company (“Boeing”)n 2005, 2004, and 2003 accounted for 10%, 10%,1484
respectively, of Motion Control revenue and 4% af consolidated revenue for each year. The lod8o&ing as a customer would hav
material adverse effect on Motion Control. Diregtlaend use sales of this segment to governmentegemprimarily the U.S. Government
2005, 2004, and 2003, accounted for 64%, 62%, &A6, Bespectively, of total Motion Control salestiugh the loss of this business wc
also have a material adverse affect on Motion @bntio single prime contractor to the U.S. Governttbrough which we are a subcontra
provided greater than 10% of Motion Control revedueng any of the last three years.

Backlog for our Motion Control segment at DecemBg&r 2005, was $374.5 million, of which 33% is expecbe shipped after one ye
compared with $229.6 million at December 31, 20@4ne of the business of our Motion Control segmergéeasonal. Raw materials
generally available in adequate quantities fromuelper of suppliers. However, we utilize sole sousuepliers in this segment. Thus,
failure and/or inability of a sole source supplier provide product to Motion Control could have adverse impact on our financ
performance. While alternatives could be identified replace a sole source supplier, a transitionldcaesult in increased costs
manufacturing delays.

Metal Treatment

This segment provides various metallurgical sesjieghich strengthen or otherwise enhance the paénce of metal parts. Principal serv
of Metal Treatment include shot peening, coatiregg] heat treating. Shot peening is the process Highwthe durability of metal parts
improved by the bombardment of the psrsurface with spherical media, such as steel @hoeramic or glass beads, to compress the
layer of the metal. Revenue of shot peening sesvioe2005, 2004, and 2003 accounted for 10%, 128d, B%, respectively, of ¢
consolidated revenues. Coatings consist of theiagn of primarily solid film lubricant coatingsyhich are designed to enhance
performance of components used in a broad rangeoofucts and industries. We apply our coatingsibg@ay or by a dipping and spinn
process for bulk applications. Heat treating is etaturgical process of subjecting metal objecthigat and/or cold or otherwise treating
material to change the physical and/or chemicatadtaristics or properties of the material. In #ddi to shot peening, heat treating,
coatings, other metal treatment services that eveiged on a job shop basis include shot peen fogniaser peening, wet finishing, chem
milling, and reed valve manufacturing.

These processes are used principally to improveehéce life, strength, and durability of metaltpaCertain of these processes are also
to form curvatures in metal panels, which are asdednas wing skins of commercial and military aftrand to manufacture reed valves |
in compressors. Metal Treatment provides theseicgsvto a broad spectrum of customers in variowtdtries, including aerospa
automotive, construction equipment, oil and gas, retal working.

Working in conjunction with Lawrence Livermore Naial Laboratory, Metal Treatment has developeddwataced metal surface treatn
process utilizing laser technology. The laser pegiprocess is being used in production to exteadith of critical turbine engine componel
Future applications include additional turbine emgcomponents as well as other high value, extrggméce components in aircraft struct
oil and gas, medical implant, and marine applicetioLaser peening also shows potential to augnentsegmeng wing skin formin
capabilities, allowing for placement of more exteemerodynamic curvatures of wing skins of greatekhess. We operate a laser pee
facility in the United States and another in thateh Kingdom. We currently have six operationaklasand are in the process of building t
additional lasers, with mobile capability, as opgubso a stationary laser. We retain the exclusieedwide rights to the intellectual prope
necessary for its use on commercial products. @tlyrethe patents associated with the laser peetéognology are not material to
operations. However, we believe that this technplbgs significant potential and, thus, these patematy become material to our fut
operations.

During 2004, we increased Metal Treatmsrbatings capabilities with the acquisitions désted assets of Evesham and Everlube, loca
Evesham, United Kingdom and Peachtree City, Geprgi&pectively. These acquisitions provided anyeimtio the European coatings mai
and added the capability to manufacture our owR bahtings.

Through a combination of acquisitions and new ptg#nings, we continue to increase Metal Treatrsergtwork of regional facilities. Me
Treatment operations are now conducted from 5@itiesilocated in the United States, Canada, Erjl&nance, Germany, Sweden, Belgi
and Italy, with a new facility in Spain scheduledojpen in
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mid-2006. Our Metal Treatment services are marketezttljr by our employees. Although numerous compaciespete in this field and ma
customers have the resources to perform such sertiemselves, we believe that our technical kndgdeand quality of workmanship prov
a competitive advantage. We compete in this segorettte basis of quality, service, and price.

The backlog of Metal Treatment as of December 8052 was $1.9 million, all of which is expectedh®e recognized in the first quarter
2006, compared with $1.9 million as of December Z104. Due to the nature of our metal treatmentices, we operate with a very limit
backlog of orders and services that are providé@daily on newly manufactured parts. Thus, the baglof this segment is not indicative
our future sales, and as a result, this segreesatfes and profitability are closely aligned wgéneral industrial economic conditions anc
particular, the commercial aerospace market.

The business of this segment is not seasonal. Raerials are generally available in adequate gtiesifrom a number of suppliers, and we
not materially dependent upon any single sourceugiply in this segment. We have no significant wagkcapital requirements outside
normal industry accounts receivable and inventamdver. Our largest customer in this segment atealufor 10%, 8%, and 8% of Me
Treatment sales during 2005, 2004, and 2003, résplc Although the active customer base is inesecof 5,000, the loss of this custo
would have a material adverse effect on Metal Treat.

OTHER INFORMATION

Certain Financial Information

For information regarding sales by geographic negéee Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Stamésncontained in Part Il, Item 8, of 1
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In 2005, 2004, and 2003, our foreign operationsegeted 35%, 33%, and 20%, respectively, of ourtaxesarnings. We do not regard the r
associated with these foreign operations to be niafljegreater than those applicable to our U.Sibesses.

Government Sales

Our direct sales to the U.S. Government and sale8/fS. Government and foreign government end apeesented 48%, 47%, and 469
consolidated revenue during 2005, 2004, and 208gectively. U.S. Government sales, both directiaddect, are generally made un
standard types of government contracts, includixepfprice and fixed price-redeterminable.

In accordance with normal practice in the case &.Government business, contracts and ordersuajecs to partial or complete terminat
at any time, at the option of the customer. Ingkient of a termination for convenience by the goreInt, there generally are provisions
recovery by us of our allowable incurred costs argtoportionate share of the profit or fee on tlwekncompleted, consistent with regulati
of the U.S. Government. Contracts for naval nucpgagrams usually provide that we absorb most gfast overrun. In the event that ther
a cost underrun, the customer recoups a portigheofinderrun based upon a formula in which theotost's portion increases as the unde
exceeds certain established levels.

Generally, longerm contracts with the U.S. Government requiréousvest in and carry significant levels of inveriable costs. However, \
utilize progress payments and other interim billipgctices on nearly all of these contracts, theducing the overall working capi
requirements. It is our policy to seek customarggpess payments on certain of our contracts. Wherebtain such payments under |
Government prime contracts or subcontracts, the Gdvernment has either title to, or a securedéstein, the materials and work in proc
allocable or chargeable to the respective contré8tse Notes 1.F, 3, and 4 to the ConsolidatednEiahStatements, contained in Part I, |
8, of this Annual Report on Form XJ) In the case of most motion control and flow toh products for U.S. Government end use,
contracts typically provide for the retention byethustomer of stipulated percentages of the cdanpiace, pending completion of contr
closeout conditions.
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Patents

We own and are licensed under a number of UnitateStand foreign patents and patent applicatiohighahave been obtained or filed ov
period of years. We also license intellectual propt and from third parties. Specifically, theSJ Government has licenses in our patent:
are developed in performance of government corgractd it may use or authorize others to use theniions covered by such patents
government purposes. Additionally, unpatented mesealevelopment, and engineering skills, some ity has been acquired by us thrc
business acquisitions, make an important contdoutd our business. While our intellectual propeitgyts in the aggregate are important tc
operation of our business, we do not consider tleeessful conduct of our business or business sagn® be materially dependent upon
protection of any one of the patents, patent apptios, or patent license agreements under whichomeoperate.

Research and Development

We conduct research and development activities ruadsgtomerfunded contracts and with our own independent rekeand developme
funds. Customer sponsored research and developroststare charged to costs of goods sold whensweimted revenue has been recogr
while corporationsponsored research and development costs are dh&wgexpense when incurred. Customer sponsoredardsean:
development activity amounted to $28.3 million, #fillion, and $31.2 million, in 2005, 2004, and03, respectively, and were attribute
customers within our Flow Control and Motion Cohegments. Research and development expensesciddy the Corporation amountet
$39.7 million in 2005 as compared with $33.8 millio 2004 and $22.1 million in 2003.

Environmental Protection

We are subject to federal, state, local and foréagvs, regulations, and ordinances that goverrvidies or operations that may have adv
environmental effects, such as discharges to alrveater. These laws, regulations, and ordinances ate apply to handling and dispc
practices for solid and hazardous waste and impab#ity for the costs of cleaning up, and for tzn damages resulting from, sites or
spills, disposals, or other releases of hazardolistances.

At various times we have been identified as a pa@tty responsible party pursuant to the ComprehengEnvironmental Respon:
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLAphdaanalogous state environmental laws, for thenclpaof contamination resulting frc
past disposals of hazardous wastes at certaintsit®hich we, among others, sent wastes in the G&RCLA requires potentially responsi
persons to pay for cleanup of sites from whicheheasis been a release or threatened release oflbagasubstances. Courts have interp
CERCLA to impose strict joint and several liabiliy all persons liable for cleanup costs. As atprakmatter, however, at sites where tl
are multiple potentially responsible persons, thsts of cleanup typically are allocated among theigs according to a volumetric or ot
standard.

Information concerning our specific environmentalbllities is described in Notes 1.M and 13 to fhensolidated Financial Stateme
contained in Part Il, Item 8, of this Annual RepantForm 10-K.

Executive Officers

Martin R. Benante, age 53, has served as the Chaaiohthe Board of Directors and Chief Executivdi@f of the Corporation since Ag
2000; President and Chief Operating Officer of @wrporation from April 1999 to April 2000; Vice Rident of the Corporation from Ag
1996 to April 1999; and President of Curtidsight Flow Control Corporation from March 1995 Agril 1999. He has been a Director of
Corporation since 1999.

George J. Yohrling, age 65, has served as Executne President of the Corporation since May 20®Esident, Curtis®¥right Controls, Inc
from April 1998 to June 2005; Executive Vice Presitfor Aerospace Operations of Curtissight Controls from April 1997 to April 199
Senior Vice President from July 1996 to April 196f Curtiss-Wright Controls; Vice President and GahéManager of CurtissVright
Controls/Shelby, Inc. since 1985.

B. Parker Miller 1ll, age 60, has served as SeNioe President-Government Relations of the Corporation since R085 and was elected
officer of the Corporation in February 2006; Diecof Strategic Development, Northrop Grumman fréemuary 2005 to June 2005; Dire
of Business and Strategic Development, Unmannete@ygsGroup, Integrated Systems Sector, Northropm@ran from June 2003 to Janu
2005; Manager, Legislative Affairs, Northrop Grummfeom January 1997 to June 2003. In February 1884t 25 years of service Mr. Mill
retired from the Marine Corps with the rank of Gudt
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Edward Bloom, age 64, has served as Vice Presafehe Corporation and President of Metal Improvetr@ompany, LLC since June 20
Executive Vice President of Metal Improvement Compdnc. from December 1995 to June 2002.

David J. Linton, age 50, has served as Vice Prasioiethe Corporation and President of Curilggght Flow Control Corporation since M
2004; Vice President of Program Management, Raythdetwork Centric Systems from November 2003 toilAp@04; Chief Executiv
Officer, Cordiem, Inc. from April 2001 to March 2P0Vice President and General Manager of Electyst&ns, Hamilton Sundstra
Corporation, June 1998 to April 2001.

David C. Adams, age 51, has served as Vice Preasafahe Corporation and President of Curigsight Controls since June, 2005; Se
Vice President, Electronic Systems of Curtiss-WriGlontrols since 2002; Vice President, Businesselimment of Curtis®¥/right Control:
since 2001; and Director, Business Developmentwfig€s-Wright Controls since 2000.

Glenn E. Tynan, age 47, has served as Vice Prdasidéfinance and Chief Financial Officer of the @aration since June 2002; Controlle
the Corporation from June 2000 to May 2002; Vicesitent and Corporate Controller of the Movado @rérom 1999 to 2000; Corpor:
Controller of Dexter Corporation from 1998 to 19%¥¢e President Finance and Controller of Lightofrem 1995 to 1998.

Michael J. Denton, age 50, has served as Vice daeti Secretary and General Counsel of the Coiiparaince August 2001; Corpor
Counsel of Honeywell International, Inc. (formeAiliedSignal Inc.) from 1993 to 2001.

Kevin McClurg, age 42, has served as the CorpdZatatroller since September 2002; Assistant Comrdtlom February 2002 to Septem
2002; Director of Accounting of Toys R Us, Inc. idainuary 2002; Director of International Repagtiof Random House from January 199
May 2001.

Harry Jakubowitz, age 53, has served as TreasfittiecCorporation since September 2005; Directof ates of the Corporation from Ju
2002 to September 2005; Vice President, Taxes asgistant Secretary of General Semiconductor, Irmn 1997 to 2002, and also
Treasurer from 2000 to 2002.

Employees

At the end of 2005 we had 5,892 employees, appratdiyn 15% of which were represented by labor uniand are covered by collect
bargaining agreements.

Available information

We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly mépmn Form 10-Q, current reports on FornK,8and proxy statements for our anr
shareholders’ meetings, as well as any amendmeriteose reports, with the Securities and Exchangrmar@ission (“SEC”).The public ma
read and copy any of our materials filed with tHeCSat the SEGQ Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NWshifegton, DC 2054
The public may obtain information on the operatafnthe Public Reference Room by calling the SEQ-800-SEC0330. The SEC al:
maintains an Internet site at www.sec.gov thataostreports, proxy and information statements, @thdr information regarding issuers -
file electronically with the SEC, including our ifigs. These reports are also available free of gehathrough our web site
www.curtisswright.com as soon as reasonably praickicafter we electronically file that material kyibr furnish it to, the SEC.
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| tem 1A. Risk Factors.

You should carefully consider the risks describetbw and other information in this Annual Report Borm 10K. Our business, financ
condition, and results of operations could be nigtgrand adversely impacted if any of these riskaterialize. The trading price of «
common stock may also decline as a result of thisks.

A substantial portion of our revenues and earniagependent upon the continued willingness ofuitf®. government and our other custor
in the defense industry to buy our products andices.

In 2005, approximately 50% of our revenues werévddrfrom or related to defense programs, with apipnately 24% attributable to U
Navy procurements. The loss of a significant dedgm®gram or customer could have a material adwdfeet on our operating results. Tk
can be no assurance that our significant customidrsontinue to buy our products and serviceswatent or increased levels.

Our business with the U.S. government and defenséractors is subject to risks including: termioati reduction, or modification of c
contracts, subcontracts, and backlog in the evémhanges in the U.S. government’s requirementsndipg priorities, or defengelatec
budgets; when we are a subcontractor, the failaieability of the prime contractor to perform fsime contract; in some contracts the 1
price per unit may be deferred; adjustment of @utcosts and fees as a result of government atiditfrequent need to bid on program
advance of design completion that may result irore¥een technological difficulties and cost ovesrwour contracts are for varying fixed te
that may not be renewed or followed by follow-omtacts upon expiration; and cancellation of tHéo%e-on production phase of contract
program requirements are not met in the developiplease.

Reductions in defense industry spending may or nziyhave an adverse effect on programs for whiclpregide products and services. In
event expenditures are reduced for products we faetwie or services we provide and are not offsetdvenues from foreign sales, r
programs, or products or services that we currentiypufacture or provide, we may experience a rémudh our revenues and earnings a
material adverse effect on our business, finar@atlition, and results of operations.

Our operating results are subject to fluctuations.

Defense industry procurement involves seasonatiteeconomic cycles and as a result our annual aacdeagly operating results may fluctui
It is possible that our operating results for atipatar quarter may not meet the expectations cfisges analysts or investors. Simila
securities analysts may issue reports downgradimgcommon stock. These events could cause the inprice of our common stock
decline.

Future terror attacks, war, or other evesusld adversely impact our commercial aerospaceoéimetr businesses.

Terrorist attacks, war, or other events such asestiby a significant customerivorkforce could adversely impact demand for codpcts. Fc
example, the terrorist attacks of September 1112061 subsequent terrorist attacks worldwide cadsedeased demand in the comme
aerospace market for our products and commerceghawul and repair services. During 2005, approxégat7% of our business was relate
commercial aerospace. The commercial aerospacstipda cyclical and subject to factors beyond comtrol. A number of commercial airli
carriers have recently experienced large lossediudfor bankruptcy. Financial difficulties of owustomers and decreased demand for
aircraft and continued use of existing aircraftldoadversely affect our operating results and fanamposition.

The success of our growth strategy is dependent appability to complete acquisitions and integratquired businesses.

Our strategy includes growth through acquisitioAs. a result, our future growth depends in larget par our ability to implement o
acquisition strategy and successfully integratausied businesses into our existing operations.dfake unable to identify suitable candidz
negotiate appropriate acquisition terms, obtaiarfging, and successfully integrate acquired buseaemto our existing operations, our fu
growth and operating results could be adverselyaited.
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We operate in highly competitive markets.

We compete against companies that often have grsates volumes and financial, research, and madkeesources than we have. |
management believes that the principal points ehpetition in our markets are product quality, pridesign and engineering capabilit
product development, conformity to customer speaifons, quality of postale support, timeliness of delivery, and effeatass of th
distribution organization. If we are unable to catg successfully with existing or new competitorstiese areas, our business, final
condition, and results of operations could be nitgrand adversely impacted.

Our future growth and continued success is depdng®Em our key personnel.

Our success is dependent upon the efforts of mibisenanagement personnel. The loss of membersiosenior management group cc
have a material and adverse effect on our busihessldition, competition for qualified technicadngonnel in our industries is intense, ant
believe that our future growth and success willedebupon our ability to attract, train, and retstich personnel.

Our international operations are subject to risi wolatility in foreign currency exchange rates.

During 2005, approximately 24% of our consolidatedenue was from customers outside of the UnitateSt and we have operating facili
in foreign countries. Doing business in foreign mnies is subject to numerous risks including: §icdi and economic instability, restrict
trade policies, and complying with foreign regutgt@nd tax requirements that are subject to chamgethe extent that foreign sales
transacted in foreign currencies and we do notrénte currency hedge transactions, we are exptsetsk of losses due to fluctuations
foreign currency exchange rates, particularly fer €anadian dollar, the euro, and the British po@ighificant fluctuations in the value of
currencies of the countries in which we do busiesgd have an adverse effect on our results ofatioms.

We may be unable to protect the value of our iat#llal property.

Our success depends in part on obtaining and enfpouir intellectual property rights and avoidimdringing on the intellectual property rig
of others. When others infringe our intellectuadperty rights, the value of our products is dinfieid, and we may incur substantial litiga
costs to enforce our rights. Similarly, we may insubstantial litigation costs and the obligationpay royalties if others claim we infring
their intellectual property rights. When we develofellectual property and technologies in conrattivith U.S. government contracts,
government has the royalty-free right to use thmaperty.

Our business is subject to substantial regulation.

We are subject to numerous regulations includingeirelating to federal government contracting exyubrt compliance. Our failure to com
with these and other laws could result in conttaomination and debarment, civil fines and damagasd, criminal prosecution and penalf
any of which could have a material adverse effacbar business and operating results.

We are subiject to liability under environmental $aw

Our business and facilities are subject to numefedsral, state, local, and foreign laws and retpra relating to the use, manufact
storage, handling, and disposal of hazardous nadgeaind other waste products. Environmental lameiggdly impose liability for investigatio
remediation, and removal of hazardous materialsodiner waste products on property owners and tivbsedispose of materials at waste ¢
whether or not the waste was disposed of legalthi@atime in question. We have been named as afgte responsible party along with otl
organizations in a number of environmental clegrsites and may be named in connection with fudites. We are required to contribute tc
costs of the investigation and remediation andatee treserves in our financial statements for futtosts deemed probable and estim
Although we have estimated and reserved for fuimdaronmental remediation costs, the final resolutbf these liabilities may significan
vary from our estimates and could potentially hameadverse effect on our results of operationfiaadcial position.
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Our current debt, and debt we may incur in theritaould adversely affect our business and firsmmsition.

As of December 31, 2005, we had $364.9 million etftdoutstanding, of which $364.0 million is lotegm debt. Our debt consists primarily
principal payable under our fixed rate senior no@gr level of debt could have significant consetés for our business including: requil
us to use our cash flow to pay principal and irgeom our debt, reducing funds available for adtjaiss and other investments in our busin
making us vulnerable to economic downturns anceiases in interest rates; limiting us from obtairadgitional debt; and impacting our abi
to pay dividends.

A percentage of our workforce is employed undelective bargaining agreements.

Approximately 15% of our workforce is employed undellective bargaining agreements, which from timeime are subject to renewal i
negotiation. Although we have generally enjoyeddyoeations with both our unionized and namionized employees, if we are subject to i
actions, we may experience an adverse impact opprrating results.

We rely on certain suppliers as a sole source wipoments for some of our products.

Our manufacturing processes for our products aftersist of the assembly of purchased componentsitbayenerally available from a num
of different suppliers, though several suppliers @aur sole source of certain components. If a solece supplier should cease or otherwis
unable to deliver such components, our operatiaglt®could be adversely impacted.

There are risks associated with owning our comntocks

Like any equity security, our common stock is sabje a number of risks that may adversely impactshare price including: there is a limi
trading market in our common stock; we may notie future be able to pay dividends on our commoaokstwe may issue common stock
acquisitions or other purposes that could be d#utd current stockholders; and we have varioustakeover defenses such as our rights
and our ability to issue preferred stock that magalrage a potential acquirer.

| tem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
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| tem 2. Properties.

At December 31, 2005, we had 116 facilities worldisyiincluding manufacturing, metal treatment sexyvierospace component overt
engineering, selling, and other facilities and austiative offices. Of these, we owned 38 locatiand leased the remaining 78 facilities.

Our principal physical properties as of December28D5, are described below:

Location Description Segment Total Sq. Ft. Owned®
Cheswick, Manufacturing Flow Control 630,000
Pennsylvanii
East Farmingdale Manufacturing Flow Control 260,000
New York @

Mississauga, Ontari Manufacturing Motion Control 200,000
Canads

Chester, Wale Metal Treatment Service- Shot Metal Treatmen 200,000
United Kingdom Peening and Wing Formir

Shelby, Manufacturing Motion Control 168,000

North Caroling

The aggregate remaining properties leased and gwyezhch business segment, are as follows:

Segment Description Total Sq. Ft. Owned® Total Sq. Ft. Leased?)
Metal Treatmen Metal treatment service and ot 777,000 858,000
facilities and administrative office
Motion Control Manufacturing, aerospa 139,000 596,000

component overhaul, engineeri
and other facilitie:

Flow Control Manufacturing, engineering, a 190,000 521,000
other facilities

(1) Sizes are approximate. Unless otherwise indicaidwned properties are owned in fee, are notestltip any major encumbrance,
are occupied primarily by factory and/or warehoogerations

(2) In February 2003, we entered into a non-traditiocsele —leaseback transaction in form only with the TownBafbylon Industric
Development Agency for our property located in Brringdale, New York. Pursuant to the terms ofltbase, we are obligated
make lease payments through 2011 to the Agendgunolf paying real estate taxes on said propeitg. dease is subject to cancella
without penalty on 90 days notice, and title revdsdck to us upon the repayment of any tax saviegjized by us

The Corporation also leases 25,700 square fedfioé @pace for its corporate headquarters locetétbseland, New Jersey.

None of the properties listed above are individuatlaterial to our business. The buildings on thepprties referred to in this Item are v
maintained, in good condition, and are suitable adelquate for the uses presently being made of.tManagement believes the produc
capacity of our properties is adequate to meetaticipated volume for the foreseeable future.

On March 17, 2005, we completed the sale of ourfiEll, New Jersey property, a former operatingpenty, for $10.5 million. The prope
encompasses approximately 39 acres and was forraarlyperating facility for our Motion Control segmtenow located in Shelby, No
Carolina.
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| tem 3. Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, we and ouridigvges are subject to various pending claims slaite, and contingent liabilities. We do
believe that the disposition of any of these maftérdividually or in the aggregate, will have ateral adverse effect on our consolid:
financial position or results of operations.

We have been named in approximately 100 lawsuéts diege injury from exposure to asbestos. To,daéehave secured dismissal witk
prejudice in approximately 60 lawsuits, are cufseint discussions for similar dismissal in sevestilers, and have not been found liable or
any material sum of money in settlement in any céée believe that the minimal use of asbestos inpast and current operations and
relatively nonfriable condition of asbestos in our products makeasnlikely that we will face material liabilityni any asbestos litigatic
whether individually or in the aggregate. We do miein insurance coverage for these lawsuits anig\mehdequate coverage exists to ¢
any unanticipated asbestos liability.

| tem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of SecungtHolders.
Not applicable
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PARTII
| tem 5. Market for the Registrant’'s Common Equity And Related Stockholder Matters.

MARKET INFORMATION

Our Common stock is listed and traded on the NewkY8tock Exchange under the symbol CW. On May 22052 we completed
recapitalization that resulted in the combinatidmur two classes of common stock into a single n&gs by converting all outstanding sh
of Common stock and Class B common stock into glsinew class of common stock. The recapitalizatias accomplished through a me
with a wholly owned subsidiary, in which the outslang shares of Common stock and Class B commatk stere exchanged for shares of
single class of Common stock. The ownership of b class of Common stock was the same immediaiér the merger as it w
immediately prior. Prior to May 24, 2005, Class &ronon stock was listed and traded on the New YadckKSExchange under the sym
CW.B.

2005 2004

Stock Price Range High Low High Low

Common

First Quartel $ 50.8¢: $ 48.81 $ 48.7C % 44.2(

Second Quarte 62.617 50.1¢ 56.1¢ 45.7¢

Third Quartel 67.4( 52.3¢ 58.2¢ 51.1(

Fourth Quarte 63.8¢ 54.1¢ 60.0C 52.6¢
High Low High Low

Class B®

First Quarte! $ 58.6t $ 48.2: % 4750 $ 43.0(

Second Quarte 62.2: 53.41 53.7i 43.5(

Third Quartel N/A N/A 54.9¢ 49.2¢

Fourth Quarte N/A N/A 58.32 50.0(

(@ Class B shares were converted to Common sharesagr2i| 2005.
We had approximately 7,100 holders of record of @am stock, $1.00 par value, as of January 31, 2006.
DIVIDENDS

In the fourth quarter of 2005, we increased ourrtguly dividend payment to $0.12 per share, a 3B88tciase over the prior dividend of $C
per share and the third increase in the dividendes2000.

2005 2004
Common

First Quarte! $ 0.0¢ % 0.0¢
Second Quarte 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Third Quartel 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Fourth Quarte 0.12 0.0¢
Class B®

First Quartel $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Second Quarte 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Third Quartel N/A 0.0¢
Fourth Quarte N/A 0.0¢

(@ Class B shares were converted to Common sharesagr2i| 2005.

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY CGMENSATION PLANS

Information required by Item 201(d) of RegulatiorKSs included in the Proxy Statement under thetioap“Equity Compensation Pl
Information” and is incorporated by reference iis tieport.
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| tem 6. Selected Financial Date

CONSOLIDATED SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(In thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

Net sales $ 1,130,92! $ 955,03¢ $ 746,07 $ 513,27¢ $ 343,16°
Net earning: 75,28( 65,06¢ 52,26¢ 45,13¢ 62,88(
Total asset 1,400,28! 1,278,441 973,66! 810,10: 500,42¢
Long-term debt 364,01 340,86( 224,15: 119,04: 21,36
Basic earnings per she $ 348 % 307 $ 25 % 221 % 3.12
Diluted earnings per sha $ 3.44 % 3.0z % 25C % 21 % 3.07
Cash dividends per she $ 03¢ $ 03¢ $ 03z $ 03C $ 0.27

All per share amounts have been adjusted to reflect-for-1 stock split on December 17, 2003.
See notes to the consolidated financial statenfenesdditional financial information.

| tem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Rancial Condition and Results of Operations.

COMPANY ORGANIZATION

Our Managemen$' Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiord d&Results of Operations begins with an overviewoof compan)
followed by economic and industiyide factors impacting our company and the marketsserve, a discussion of the overall resul
operations, and finally a more detailed discussibinose results within each of our reportable afierg segments.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation is a diversified, mulitronal provider of highly engineered, technolofiicadvanced, valuedded products a
services to a broad range of industries in the anotiontrol, flow control, and metal treatment mask&Ve are positioned as a market le
across a diversified array of niche markets throemgineering and technological leadership, precisi@nufacturing, and strong relations|
with our customers. We provide products and sesvicea humber of global markets, such as defermamercial aerospace, commer
power, oil and gas, automotive, and general inéhistwwe have achieved balanced growth through treeessful application of our cc
competencies in engineering and precision manufiagtuadapting these competencies to new marketsigh internal product developm
and a disciplined program of strategic acquisitiddsr overall strategy is to be a balanced andrsiified company, less vulnerable to cycle
downturns in any one business sector, and to ésttaslrong positions in profitable niche marketppfoximately 50% of our revenues
generated from defense-related markets.

We manage and evaluate our operations based grdtacts and services we offer and the differedtigtries and markets we serve. Base
this approach, we have three reportable segmelots: €ontrol, Motion Control, and Metal TreatmentrRurther information on our produ
and services and the major markets served by oee tegments, see Item 1 above. The following slapresent our sales by market for 2
and 2004:

2005 Sales by Marke' 2004 Sales by Marke
Defense Defense
Aerospace
15%

14% Other

i Defense Ground
o 8% Power
" Generatio
o 11%

Defense Ground
9%

Oil & Gas Defense Navy

Oil & Gas. Defense Navy
10% 24% 9% 2204
Commercial Commercial
Aerospace Aerospace
17% 17%
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Economic and Industry-wide Factors

Overall, 2005 was a good year for Curti&sight. Many of the key drivers of our business;isas the U.S. economy and the global commi
aerospace industry, improved. In addition, U.Sitary spending levels remained steady and our cawialemarkets strengthened. Look
forward, however, many factors could impact ouufatperformance, including future defense spendingpe U.S., changes in global gr
domestic product, volatility of the geopoliticahldscape, and the pace of global economic activity.

General Economy

Many of our industrial businesses are driven igdgpart by growth of the U.S. Gross Domestic Pro¢i@DP”). Based upon certain econotl
reports, the U.S. econonsy'output (real GDP) is expected to grow at a modatst of approximately 3.3% in 2006, lower than #%
experienced in 2005. GDP is expected to grow &3drbthe first half and 3.1% in the second hal0D6. This forecast is predicated on
assumption that oil prices stabilize in 2006. Oa plositive side, inflation is expected to moderat2006. The consumer price index (a bi
indicator of inflation) is expected to be approxteig 2.3% in 2006, down from 3.5% in 2005. If thesmditions were to occur, it may pror
the U.S. Federal Reserve to curtail its currengm of raising interest rates in 2006. Accordiagsgdme economic reports, interest rate:
expected to rise slightly in the beginning of 2@0®I then stabilize. Stabilized interest rates shtadd to increased spending and investme
the business sector. Unemployment is expecteddp slightly and remain below 5% in 2006, as theifess sector expands after a peric
underinvestment in both human and industrial capitso, global GDP growth is expected to slow doimr2006, decreasing from 4.4%
2005 to approximately 4% in 2006, primarily duehtgher energy prices and tighter monetary polieBgher energy costs in 2005 affectec
of our operating segments, but they were more figmit within our Metal Treatment segment.

Approximately 25% of our business is outside th8.land subject to currency fluctuations in botmsegctions in foreign currencies as we
translation from local country currencies to th&ldollar. Although we seek to mitigate these flations through hedging programs, the
no guarantee that our hedging efforts will off$et possible adverse impacts of the currency fltictos

It appears that, at least in the U.S., 2006 is etgoeto mark the fifth consecutive year of econoemwpansion, fueled primarily by strc
spending in the business sector; however, we repaitiously optimistic that this expansion will ¢ioie in the near term. To the extent th
does, our businesses that are largely economiemriand serve the commercial aerospace, oil and ayas general industrial marke
particularly our Metal Treatment segment, are welitioned to benefit from increased economic sfiten

Defense

Approximately 50% of our business is in the militarector, predominantly in the U.S., characteribgdongterm programs and contra
driven primarily by the U.S. Department of Defeif4@oD”) budget. We also participate in several ndrs. military programs which, althou
not as significant as our domestic military busieme subject to the uncertainty resulting from ¢hanging geopolitical climate around
world.

The DoD budget reflects growing cost pressure fupstt the global war on terrorism, including sugpay the current military operations
both Iraq and Afghanistan, and initiatives aimedramsforming and modernizing its current militgghatforms and capabilities. The war ef
has benefited us again in 2005 with higher spaaéssgo the U.S. Army. The fiscal 2006 DoD procueemmbudget reflects a 4.8% ove
increase over fiscal 2005. The 2006 budget incledesinued investment funding for key programs suipipe of transformation initiatives, t
it is balanced with increased spending for modation and upgrading of existing equipment in supmdrcurrent global operations &
requirements. We anticipate future DoD spendingrtmuce increased investment specifically for unneanvehicles, to provide stability to
shipbuilding industry while transforming the U.Sawy fleet, and for electronics for military hardwarecessary to upgrade existing platfc
and facilitate “network centric warfare” systemd, & part of the militarys transformation plans. Military transformationtiaiives ar
providing funding for advanced technologies to suppew and enhanced military platforms. We areined in several major developmel
contracts for our advanced technologies, which sttgmtential future military programs.
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Our Flow Control and Motion Control segments ardl wesitioned on many high performance defensefqiats, including the CVN-21 next-
generation aircraft carrier, the Virginia Class leac submarine program, the DD(X) Destroyer, the2i-the V22, the JSF and Unmant
Aerial Vehicle programs, such as the Global Hawks&l on our reputation and past performance, wéngotved in many of the futu
military systems that are currently in developmdrbwever, continued cost concerns could lead teresite review of critical defen
programs, which may have an impact on DoD budgetisegoing forward, as could many other factordhsag overall budget deficit levels ¢
geopolitical uncertainty.

There is the possibility that defense spending hegrease in the future, which could adversely affec operations and financial conditi
While DoD funding fluctuates year-by-year and peogrbyprogram, the primary risk facing us would be thenieation of a major prograi
Other than the possible reduction in th@ZFprogram, which is not considered material tcasisa whole, we are not aware of any pote
material program termination for which we have emtIf a material program were to be terminathd,termination process takes several y
to wind down, which may provide us ample time tacatebefore any potential impact occurs. Although menitor the budget process a
relates to programs in which we patrticipate, we mainpredict the ultimate impact of future DoD batigon us. In addition, there are other |
associated with our defense businesses, such lasefaif a prime contractor customer to perform orcetract, pricing and/or desi
specifications that may not always be finalizedhat time the contract is bid, and the failure andability of certain sole source supplier:
provide us product, any of which could have an askvémpact on our financial performance. Whileralt¢ives could be identified to replac
sole source supplier, a transition could resulh@meased costs and manufacturing delays.

Our outlook for our defense business remains pesitir the near to intermediate term.
Commercial Aerospace

Approximately 17% of our business serves the glamamhmercial aerospace industry. Global airlinefizat one of the primary drivers 1
longterm growth in the commercial aerospace industng, @conomic growth is one of the primary driversgtifbal airline traffic deman
Based on industry reports, global passenger trgfiiav approximately 7% in 2005 and is expectedrawgess than 5% in 2006. High fi
costs, security concerns, and stiff competitiopeesally from loweost airlines, have continued to place profitapititessure on airlines, whi
continues to slow procurement of new aircraft axigred maintenance schedules. Fuel prices are eegexstabilize in 2006, which, combir
with continued global economic growth, should stiame procurement of new aircraft, a key driver af commercial aerospace busines:
fact, the two major global aircraft manufacturexperienced record order and backlog levels in 28@% are projecting a healthy 20% incre
in deliveries in 2006. The impact to our commereiatospace business is determined by productiaislevhich, based upon the above
other market data, should be healthy in 2006. Oatidth Control segment is a provider of OEM aerogpa@mponents and systems, and rt
and overhaul services, while our Metal Treatmegisnt provides services to aircraft manufacturBoth segments experienced solid s
growth in 2005 to this market. While the emergeat&w cost carriers and improved economic condgitvave contributed to this indusgy’
recovery, concerns still exist regarding the finaheveakness of many airlines, continued high foetes, and the threat of another m
terrorist attack, any of which could have an adeéngpact on this industry and our operating resatis financial position.

We anticipate continued improvement in the comna¢raerospace market in 2006. We are well positiooeda number of commerc
aerospace platforms and should benefit from imprer in this industry, which is expected to occuerahe next couple of years.

Power Generatiol

There are several factors that might precipitateegpansion in commercial nuclear power, includingréasing attention to environmel
issues, a prowclear U.S. political leadership, and continuedwgh in global demand for power. Nuclear power hasimal impact on th
environment, is one of the most economical formgeferating electricity, and decreases dependemod and gas imports. The U.S. depe
on foreign sources for about half of its total gyeneeds. Because of increased demand for ancetinsiipply of energy in the U.S.,
anticipate that the nuclear power industry will tone to expand in the coming years.
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The U.S. nuclear power industry is expected to goawmarily because most of the 103 existing nucfgawer plants have applied for or will
applying for plant life extensions, as requireddoyrent regulations. As of December 31, 2005, axprately 39 plants have received 20 )
life extensions, applications from 10 additionargk have been submitted and are pending appraweélletters of intent to apply have b
received from 27 more plants. In addition, Duke fggeand Progress Energy each announced in 2005héatintend to apply to the Nucl
Regulatory Commission for a combined constructiod eperating license (COL) for new nuclear powarggation in the U.S. Both compar
have selected the Westinghouse AP1000 reactor rddsigtheir new power plant construction. Curti§fsight, through its Flow Contr
segment, has significant content on the AP1000teeal approved, construction could begin as eady2010. Internationally, China intend
expand its nuclear power capabilities significartttyough the construction of new nuclear power tslaover the next several years. |
currently in the process of selecting a reactoigiesvhich has been narrowed down to the WestingadAP1000 and Areva EPR design:
decision is expected in 2006. These developmentabmed with new plant construction in other partsAsia and rest of the world, ¢
expected to drive expansion in this industry.

Our Flow Control segment is well positioned to takkyantage of this expansion. The recent histoplanft life extension approvals in the U
and continued strong build programs in Asia areoareging. However, there is no guarantee that tledear alternative will continue to

fully endorsed in the U.S. and other parts of thaley or that the Nuclear Regulatory Commissionl wilthorize the construction of n
facilities in the U.S. In addition, the geopoliticiimate is volatile and could impact future nuai@lant construction levels around the world.

Oil and Gas

The most prevalent drivers that impact this markelude capital spending for new construction apdrades to comply with environmer
regulations and maintenance spending to retrofistiey facilities with improved equipment and teologies to increase plant flexibili
reliability, production, safety, and profitabilibtAdditionally, increased demand for oil and natuyak, both domestically and internation
from emerging economies, and increased demand ffermaarket services may also positively impact thisrket going forward. W
experienced strong sales growth to this marketedrmainly by record orders for our coker valvedurct.

The current outlook for the petroleum markets mpgered. According to market data, the recent stéachease in crude oil and petrole
product prices is expected to slow and possibljigeslightly. Many of the same factors that draverld oil markets in 2005, such as |
production capacity and rapid demand growth, ameeted to continue to affect markets in 2006. Ofhetors, such as the frequency
intensity of hurricanes, other extreme weather, gewpolitical instability may also continue to affehis market. Global demand is expecte
increase in 2006, primarily due to an increasénéW.S. from a net decline in 2005 as well as egoogrowth in developing Asian countri
Global production capacity is expected to incraas2006 and 2007, which should moderate the globairice increases experienced over
past two years. U.S. production in 2005 was dowa tduthe impact of the severe hurricane seasorniRgfmargins have remained relativ
high despite higher crude oil prices, which comdiméth increased global petrochemical productiod aantinued global economic grow
should lead to increased investment and capitaldipg by the refineries in 2006 and beyond.

Based upon market data, capital expenditures irptheessing industries are expected to increase tbeenext few years. Longrm globa
forecasts project a solid increase in sales of ffowtrol products (valves, pumps, motors) to trecpssing industries. As the world continue
depend on natural resources, oil exploration degpamd transport requirements widen, we anticipditional opportunities to provide «
flow control products to meet these challenges. fiteposed and enacted environmental regulatiotiseir.S. and other developed coun
could drive increased demand for flow control pretdlby as much as 8 to 10% over the next few yébraiever, we cannot predict whet
certain economic recoveries can be sustained, whethticipated future environmental regulatory demwill be enacted, or how si
regulatory changes may impact this industry.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Analytical definitions

Throughout management’s discussion and analydigaricial condition and results of operations, tbiens “incremental” and “baselre use
to explain changes from period to period. For yalar reporting purposes, acquisitions remain segeegfor two calendar years. The remai
businesses are referred to as the “base” businessggrowth in these base businesses is refegrad torganic.”An acquisition is consider
base when the reporting year includes fully comiplaraurrent and prioyear data. Therefore, for the year ended Decembgf@05, oL
organic growth of the base businesses excludeacgllisitions since January 1, 2004. The term “imenetal” is used to highlight the imps
acquisitions had on the current year results, foictvthere was no comparable prior-year period.

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared with Yeaedb@cember 31, 2004

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recoralesbtidated net sales of $1,130.9 million and rehi@gs of $75.3 million, or $3.44 |
diluted share. Sales for 2005 increased 18% ove4 2ales of $955.0 million. Net earnings for 200&r¢ased 16% from 2004 net earning
$65.1 million, or $3.02 per diluted share.

The increase in revenues was mainly driven by apbet® year of revenues generated from our 2004isitigus, primarily Dy 4 Systerr
Primagraphics, Nova Machine, Trentec, Groquip, Eyyneand EPD, and the 2005 acquisition of Indaé Nete 2 to the Consolidated Finan
Statements for further information regarding acigjoiss. These acquisitions contributed $100.5 wnillin incremental sales in 2005 (or 579
the total sales increase from 2004). Our base bssés experienced organic sales growth of 8% i6,488 by the Metal Treatment segm
which grew organically by 11%. Our Flow Control aMbtion Control segments experienced solid orgasates growth of 8% and 7
respectively.

In our base businesses, our coker valve productinee to gain customer acceptance, which has mitive Flow Control organic sales incre
of $22.6 million to the oil and gas market. The MatControl segment experienced higher sales ofai&¥ and spares products and repair
overhaul services to the commercial aerospace mafl&l6.1 million, mainly due to the increasedduotion requirements and the contin
improvement in the commercial aerospace marketaMegatment sales of our global shot peening sesvincreased $13.5 million, prima
in the commercial aerospace and automotive markets,mainly to the continuing recovery of the globeonomy and customer produci
requirements. In addition, we experienced orgamaevth in our defense markets in both our Motion alnand Flow Control segments, wh
increased 2005 sales by $7.4 million and $3.6 omlirespectively, over 2004. Foreign currency tietie had a favorable impact on sale
$1.2 million in 2005 as compared to 2004.

Operating income for 2005 totaled $138.0 million, iacrease of 25% from operating income of $110iBian in 2004. The increase
primarily attributed to higher sales volume, favmeamix, and previously implemented cost reduciinitiatives. Operating income in 20
experienced organic growth of 21% and was drivendryMetal Treatment and Motion Control segmentsictv experienced organic growtt
21% and 14%, respectively, from the prior year. al@reatmens organic operating income growth was mainly theilteof higher volum
while Motion Controls organic growth was due to higher volume, favagaddles mix from commercial aerospace spares aadmeafrke
services, and implemented cost control initiativ@sganic operating income growth in our Flow Cohsegment was 10% in 2005, due¢
higher volume. The contributions of the 2004 an®3@&cquisitions amounted to $0.6 million in increnad operating income in 20
compared to 2004, keeping the overall operatingneeg margin flat in 2005 compared to 2004. The ailirey margin of our segments h
been somewhat lower than historical levels in regears, principally related to the large numbeadduisitions made since 2002. Although
new acquisitions continue to have a positive effattoperating income, the operating margin of thierall Corporation is lower since 1
margin level of the newly acquired companies alevbe¢hose of our base businesses. We considetdlie a temporary issue that shouli
more than offset by the benefits of diversificafidghe implementation of cost control measures, mudeased future profitability. Tl
integration of our acquisitions continues to praegras planned. In addition to having improved dpeganargins for almost all of our rec
acquisitions, we have initiated programs to cnossket products and share technologies acrossusimdsses. Foreign currency translation
a favorable impact on operating income of $0.2iamlfor 2005 as compared to 2004.
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In addition to the strong organic growth of theraegts, we experienced favorable results in 2005pewed to 2004 from lower environmet
remediation costs, which declined $4.5 million,aangon the sale of property for $2.8 million, anever costs associated with Sarba@edey
Section 404 compliance of $1.2 million. These fade impacts were offset by higher research ancldpment, selling, general, ¢
administrative expenses, mainly due to the 2004 20@b acquisitions. In addition, we incurred adudfitil infrastructure costs to support
business growth and higher pension expense.

We incurred higher interest expense due to highterést rates, which accounted for approximateft ®4 the increase, and higher debt le
associated with the funding of our acquisition pamg. Net earnings in 2004 included certain tmee tax benefits of $3.4 million, whi
primarily resulted from the change in legal struetaf one of our subsidiaries and a favorable IRPpe&als settlement.

Backlog at December 31, 2005 was $805.6 million pared with $627.7 million at December 31, 2004 &605.5 million at December
2003. Acquisitions made during 2005 represented35iillion of the backlog at December 31, 2005. Nenders received in 2005 tota
$1,261.2 million, which represents a 26% increager @004 new orders of $998.9 million and a 70%dase over new orders receive
2003. Acquisitions made during 2004 and 2005 cbuated $115.0 million in incremental new orders ireee in 2005. Record orders for
flow control coker valve and strong orders for ouotion control electronic and mechanical products/d the new order improvement. (
metal treatment services, repair and overhaul cesyiand aftemarket sales, which represent approximately 25%uototal sales for 2005, ¢
sold with very modest lead times. Accordingly, tiecklog for these businesses is less of an indicatf future sales than the backlog of
majority of the products and services of our Mot@ontrol and Flow Control segments, in which a digant portion of sales is derived fr
long-term contracts.

Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared with Yeaedb@cember 31, 2003

We recorded consolidated net sales of $955.0 mibind net earnings of $65.1 million, or $3.02 parted share, for the year ended Decer
31, 2004. Sales for 2004 increased 28% over 20@3 s$746.1 million. Net earnings for 2004 in@ead 24% from 2003 net earnings of $!
million, or $2.50 per diluted share.

The increase in revenues was mainly driven by apbetm year of revenues generated from our 2003 isittiqus of Systrai
Novatronics/Pickering, E/M Engineered Coatings 8ohs, Advanced Materials Process, and Collins Meldgy and contributions from ¢
2004 acquisitions, primarily Dy 4 Systems, Primadiias, Nova Machine, Trentec, Groquip, Synergy, BR®D. See Note 2 to the Consolid:
Financial Statements for further information redlagdacquisitions. These acquisitions made in 206d 2003 contributed $154.2 million
incremental sales in 2004 (or 74% of the totalsalerease from 2003). Our remaining base busineis experienced organic sales growt
7% in 2004, led by the Metal Treatment segmentctvigirew organically by 21%. The Flow Control andtion Control segments experien
solid organic sales growth of 5% and 4%, respelstivkhe organic growth in the Flow Control segmeats achieved in 2004 despite a decr
in overall revenue from the U.S. Navy of approxietat$9 million.

In our base businesses, higher Metal Treatmens séleur global shot peening, laser peening, atd theating services of $21.8 million, hig
sales of certain Flow Control products to the pogemeration market of $15.0 million, the oil and gadustry of $6.4 million, and the defe
electronics markets of $5.7 million, and higheresabf our Motion Control products to the militargraspace market of $14.7 million ¢
commercial aerospace aftermarket services of $5l@mall contributed to the organic sales growfhr 2004 compared to 2003. Th
increases in our base businesses were partialbetolfy lower sales of certain Flow Control produtsthe U.S. Navy due to timing
contractual revenues, a decrease of $14.5 miliod,lower sales of motion control electronic pradwf $10.6 million for use in global grou
defense markets because of the wind down on ceptathuction projects. Favorable foreign curreneystation had a favorable impact on s
of $15.8 million for 2004 compared to 2003.

Operating income for 2004 totaled $110.3 million,iacrease of 24% from operating income of $89.Maniin 2003. The increase is primal
attributed to higher sales volume, favorable mid areviously implemented cost reduction initiativ&he contributions of our 2003 and 2
acquisitions amounted to $11.0 million in increnardperating income in 2004 compared to 2003. Iditaxh to the contribution of the
acquisitions, 2004 operating income benefited framganic growth in our remaining base businesses;hwimproved 13% overall and w
driven by strong organic growth in our Metal Treatrh and Motion Control segments of 55% and 22%peetively, from 2003. Tt
improvement in Metal Treatment’s base businesggstaiing income
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was the result of higher volume and favorable salesdue to the higher laser peening sales. Thedmgnent in the Motion Contrad’bas
businessesbperating income came from higher volume, redustion certain reserve requirements, favorable salesfrom commercie
aerospace aftermarket services and spares, andnmapted cost control initiative®@perating income from the base businesses withirtmw
Control segment increased 9% in 2004 over 2003,tdudegher volume, contract cost overruns and itmgnwrite-offs in 2003 that did n
reoccur in 2004, and a stronger sales mix for @uwgr generation products. The increase was pagrtffiset by the lower overall volume to-
U.S. Navy, driven by the profit impact related ke ttwo large higher margin contracts in 2003 thdtrat reoccur in 2004. Additionally, \
increased our reserves for environmental remediadioring 2004, resulting in a $3.9 million increaseenvironmental remediation &
administrative expenses over 2003. Foreign currdrenyslation had a favorable impact on operatingpime of $2.9 million for 2004
compared to 2003.

Overall consolidated operating margins were dowghdl in 2004 compared to 2003. Strong marginshimitour business segments w
achieved despite the absorption of $5.3 millioneaironmental costs, $2.5 million in costs asseciaivith Sarbane®xley Section 4C
compliance, and lower pension income of $2.1 millia 2004, due to additional costs resulting frdme tcquisitions and slightly low
investment returns.

The increase in net earnings for 2004 comparedd@82s mainly due to higher segment operating ireoithe improvement in operat
income in 2004 was partially offset by higher ietsr expense caused by higher debt levels associatiedhe funding of our acquisitit
program, which accounted for approximately 60%hef increase, and higher interest rates. Net eariorg2004 included certain otiere tay
benefits of $3.4 million. The tax benefits primgrikesulted from the change in legal structure of ofi our subsidiaries and a favorable
appeals settlement relating to the 1993 tax year.

Segment Performance

We operate in three principal operating segmentshenbasis of products and services offered anketarserved: Flow Control, Moti
Control, and Metal Treatment. See Note 16 to thesOlidated Financial Statements for further segnfieancial information. The followin
table sets forth revenues, operating income, opegratargin, and the percentage changes on thass,iter 2005 as compared with the p
year periods, by operating segme

Year Ended December 31 Percent Changes
2005 2004
(In thousands, except percentages) 2005 2004 2003 vs. 2004 vs. 2003

Sales:

Flow Control $ 466,54t $ 388,13¢ $ 341,27: 20.2% 13.7%
Motion Control 465,45 388,57¢ 265,90 19.8% 46.1%
Metal Treatmen 198,93: 178,32 138,89! 11.€% 28.2%
Total Curtiss-Wright $ 1,130,92 $ 955,03¢ $ 746,07: 18.4% 28.(%

Operating Income:

Flow Control $ 5450¢ $ 44,457 $ 39,98( 22.€% 11.2%
Motion Control 50,48t 44,89: 30,32 12.5% 48.1%
Metal Treatmen 34,47( 28,111 18,74: 22.€% 50.(%
Total Segment 139,46 117,45! 89,04: 18.7% 31.%
Corporate & Othe (1,482) (7,119 (72 -79.2% N/A

Total Curtiss-Wright $ 137,98. $ 110,34. $ 88,97: 25.1% 24.(%

Operating Margins:

Flow Control 11.7% 11.5% 11.7%

Motion Control 10.8% 11.€% 11.%%

Metal Treatmen 17.2% 15.&% 13.5%

Total Segment 12.2% 12.2% 11.%

Total Curtiss-Wright 12.2% 11.€% 11.9%
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Flow Control

Our Flow Control segment reported sales of $466Ikom for 2005, a 20% increase over 2004 sale$388.1 million. The sales increase
achieved through organic sales growth of 8% anidyRar sales contribution of our 2004 acquisitiohdNova Machine, Trentec, Groquip, &
EPD, which contributed $49.0 million in incrementatenue. The organic growth in sales was drivehibker sales to the oil and gas indu
of $22.6 million and higher product sales and depwient work to the defense market of $3.6 milliGoker valve products accounted
approximately 80% of the increased oil and gas etaskles due to greater customer acceptance argased installations, while our other
and gas valve and field service revenues were higgause of increased maintenance expendituresfingries worldwide. Higher valve sa
to the U.S. Navy of $8.3 million were driven byostg demand for our JP-5 jet fuel transfer valves laall valves used on Nimitzlass aircra
carriers and Virginiazlass submarines, respectively. Electronic instntateon and digital signal processing card salesnawal platform
increased $7.4 million as compared to the prior.y€Ehese increased sales to the U.S. Navy wer@famffset by anticipated lower reven
from electromechanical products because of timihgajor programs. Revenues from pump productionetsed $26.3 million comparec
the prior year due to completion of Los Angeles ¥ir@inia-class submarine production pump contracts and dprregnt prototype progran
such as for the CVN-21 aircraft carrier, and weagiplly offset by sales for development work oe th.S. Armys electromagnetic gun, whi
increased $10.7 million, and sales of generatorstwimcreased $4.8 million. In addition, foreignr@ncy translation favorably impacted 1
segment’s sales by $1.2 million in 2005 compare2i0@4.

Operating income for 2005 was $54.5 million, arréase of 23% over 2004 operating income of $4416omi The base business opera
income grew 10% organically for the full year endgdecember 31, 2005, while the 2004 acquisitiondrdmrted an additional $3.4 million
incremental operating income in 2005. The improvetniie operating income of base businesses wasrdpvienarily by higher sales volun
Factors impacting the comparison of the base bssa®eto the prior year include increased salesrardins from our oil and gas produ
notably record orders for our coker valves andhigger margin field service and repairs businessaddition, the operating income ber
from the higher overall volume to the U.S. Navy wamstially offset by unfavorable mix within our eteonic products and lower mar
development work performed in anticipation of fell@n production orders with the U.S. Army. Higher renaterial costs, such as the co:s
steel, and higher administrative infrastructuretedsve adversely impacted our operating margmsaddition, foreign currency translat
favorably impacted operating income by $0.2 millior2005 as compared to 2004.

Backlog at December 31, 2005 is $429.3 million careg with $396.3 million at December 31, 2004 a8#i7$8 million at December 31, 20
New orders received in 2005 totaled $500.1 milliaich represents a 15% increase over 2004 newomfe$436.7 million and a 41
increase over new orders received in 2003. Thease is mainly due to our new acquisitions, whitoanted for $64.0 million in incremer
new orders during 2005. Record new orders for olkecvalve products to the oil and gas industryenaffset by lower funding received fr
the U.S. Navy for our electromechanical product20A5 compared to 2004.

Our Flow Control segment reported sales of $388llom for 2004, a 14% increase over 2003 sale$3%1.3 million. The higher sales w
primarily due to the contributions of our 2004 aisitions of Nova Machine, Trentec, Groquip, and EFBe 2004 incremental sales from tt
acquisitions amounted to $30.7 million. The remagnbusiness units of this segment produced orgsaiés growth of 5%. The solid orge
growth was lead by stronger sales of valves, puimib€r electranechanical products, and field services to the p@eeeration market, whi
increased $15.0 million due to additional ordemyieaming arrangements, and expedited plant osey&e requirements. Increased den
helped drive record new orders of our coker vafeeshe oil and gas industry, which positively ingped sales by $9.2 million, and higher s
of our electronic products to the U.S. Navy, whictreased $5.7 million and also contributed todhganic growth. This increase was parti
offset by lower sales of flow control products ke tU.S. Navy of $14.5 million due to the timing antractual revenues. In 2003, the F
Control segment completed the shipment of two lgnggects to the U.S. Navy, which generated appnaxeély $25 million in sales. We w
able to partially offset the impact of these corgrlenaval projects with higher sales of pumps ath@rogenerators for aircraft carriers

submarines and increased demand for themumtear ball valves to the U.S. Navy. Sales ofrreaining valve product lines to the oil and
industry were down in 2004 compared to the pricaryén addition, foreign currency translation faafoly impacted sales by $2.3 million
2004 compared to 2003.
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Operating income in 2004 increased by 11% over 2088 increase was mainly due to solid organic ¢inas¥ 9% and the contributions fr
the 2004 acquisitions, which generated operatiogrite of $1.0 million in 2004. The increase in oligasperating income was mainly due
contract cost overruns on a safety relief valvggmtoand inventory writeffs of approximately $2.9 million in 2003 that didt reoccur i
2004, higher volume and a stronger sales mix withinpower generation products, and higher oveiimes for our valve products to the
and gas industry and electronic products to the N&y. The increase was partially offset by th@dovolume to the U.S. Navy, driven by
profit impact related to the two large higher margontracts in 2003 that did not reoccur in 2004ede projects contributed approximately
million in operating income in 2003. Foreign cumgrtranslation had a $0.2 million positive impact 2004 operating income comparet
2003.

Motion Control

Our Motion Control segment reported sales of $466ilion for 2005, a 20% increase over 2004 sale$388.6 million. The higher sal
largely reflect the contributions of our 2005 aaifinn of Indal, and the full year contributions air 2004 acquisitions of Dy 4, Synergy,
Primagraphics. The 2005 incremental sales assdoveith these acquisitions amounted to $49.9 milli@nganic sales increased 7%. Sale
the base business were driven by several factochyding a $7.4 million increase in commercial apace OEM market sales. Commel
aerospace OEM sales were driven largely by inctedsenand for our actuation systems content on tredrig 737 platform and increased s
of sensors and components. Commercial aerosparenaftket sales increased $8.8 million during théode with $4.3 million of that increa
in our repair and overhaul business, driven by owjrg conditions in the commercial airline industryhile spares sales contributed
additional $4.0 million. The remaining change im oammercial markets was highlighted by $3.4 milliaf higher controller product sales
use in general industrial applications, which wastiplly offset by the expiration of a tilting traidrive systems project in Europe, wt
contributed $3.7 million in sales in 2004. We akxperienced a $3.2 million sales increase in thferde aerospace market, driver
production work on the new AMPR39 radar warning system for use on various bpter programs, along with strong sales increas
ruggedized embedded computing. Remaining saldsetonilitary aerospace market were essentiallyafaincreased ship set production of
actuation systems on the F-22 aircraft were offiselower sales of B-6 spares. Sales to the ground defense marketwpe$d.6 million, a
higher turret drive stabilization systems and mobilin systems sales were largely offset by lowarespsales for the Bradley Fighting Vehi
In addition, foreign currency translation negatywiehpacted sales by $0.1 million in 2005 as comg&oe2004.

Operating income for 2005 increased $5.6 million12% over 2004. Operating income in our base lass@s increased 14% driven prime
by higher sales volume and related improvementgdass margin. The operating margins in 2005 deerk89 basis points to 10.8%. Fac
impacting the comparison of the base businessésetprior year include increased sales and marfgams commercial aerospace progra
notably the Boeing 737 and 747 programs, and fédleradustry trends in the markets for commercitdranarket services and spares lea
to higher sales and margins, and cost reductidiativies. Offsetting these increases are the caiopl®f a tilting train drive systems projec
Europe and lower B6 spares orders, both high margin products thatriboited favorably in the prior year, continuingegration efforts in tt
embedded computing business, and lower marginsiassd with development work performed in anticipatof follow-on production order
the bulk of which related to cost overruns on &diyrice contract for the 767 tanker refueling paoy

The 2005 operating margin associated with busiseasquired in 2004 and 2005 was 6.1%, significaldilyer than the base busines
however, we expect our integration efforts will impe these margins in the future. In the currerdry®ur newly acquired businesses’
operating income was impacted by the delay of erflarour naval systems products, which was ardteigh to be realized in 2005, the ongt
integration efforts in the embedded computing bessn and margin erosion from changes in foreighaxge rates on certain foreign curre
denominated contracts for similar products.

Backlog at December 31, 2005 was $374.5 million parad with $229.6 million at December 31, 2004 $m86.3 million at December
2003. Acquisitions made during 2005 represent $5iil®n of the backlog at December 31, 2005. Neweos received in 2005 totaled $5¢
million, which represents a 47% increase over 2084 orders of $383.5 million and a 125% increaser oew orders received in 2003.
increase is mainly due to strong orders for our lmeial actuator and embedded computing produdis. Segmeng 2005 and 20(
acquisitions accounted for $49.4 million in increrted new orders in 2005 versus 2004,
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Motion Control segment sales in 2004 were $388l6anj a 46% increase over 2003 sales of $265.9anil The higher sales largely refl
the contributions of our 2004 acquisitions of Dy Rrimagraphics, and Synergy, and the full year rimutions of our December 20
acquisitions of Systran, Novatronics, and Pickerifige 2004 incremental sales associated with thegeisitions amounted to $110.8 milli
Sales from the remaining base businesses grew 4f#nioally. Improvement in commercial aerospacerafdeket sales contributed $
million to the growth, $2.8 million of which cameofn our repair and overhaul business, with the nedea attributable mainly to increas
sensors and controls sales. Drive system saldget&uiropean ground defense market declined by ili®n as expedited customer deliv
requirements shifted production from the beginnifi@004 into 2003. Domestic electnoechanical systems production experienced a
increase in domestic military aerospace sales, g2 production and spares revenue replacid® Bpares sales, which had ramped up
end of 2003. The base embedded computing businessesessentially flat, with increased sales todbmestic military aerospace marke
$10.1 million driven by new contract wins includitfte start of full scale production of radar wamsystems for the U.S. Armg’helicopte
programs and the design, development, and integrafi the actuators for the 767 refueling prograimese wins were offset by declines to
domestic ground defense market of $10.6 millionjnigafrom scheduled production declines on the Asatank and the Bradley Fight
Vehicle, while Bradley spares revenue remainecdhgttbrough 2004 due to the support of the Iraqi eféort. Additionally, foreign currenc
translation favorably impacted sales in 2004 by $iillion compared to 2003.

Operating income for this segment in 2004 increa&®¥ over 2003. Acquisitions made in 2003 and 2§éderated incremental operai
income of $8.9 million, while the base businessesdased 22%. The improvement was driven by thieenigales volume, favorable sales
from commercial aerospace aftermarket servicesspades, and implemented cost control initiativéfsed by lower margin development wi
performed in anticipation of follow on productiorders. The segment benefited from reductions iervesrequirements at its European ser
business totaling $1.7 million during 2004, resigtin a $2.5 million variance in a year over yeamparison, since the majority of the rese
were recorded in 2003. Foreign currency translétime a $1.2 million positive impact on 2004 opergincome compared to 2003.

Metal Treatmen

Our Metal Treatment segment reported sales of $188llion in 2005, an increase of 12% over 200&salf $178.3 million. Organic sa
growth of 11% contributed $18.2 million to the iaase. The organic growth was due to solid perfocmam our global shot peening servir
which contributed $13.5 million of additional salesinly in the European commercial aerospace aolaglautomotive markets. Increase
shot peen forming services, primarily on wing comgrats on the Airbus family of aircraft includingetth380, and shot peening service:
aircraft engines were both driven by customer petida requirements. Sales of shot peening senfimethe automotive industry increaset
both Europe and North America by $2.7 million arddi$million, respectively, due to favorable overtd#pexisting and new programs in the 1
half of the year, partially offset by decreasedwots from General Motors and Ford in the seconiddfighe year. Sale of our heat treating
coatings divisions were up $2.1 million and $1.9iom, respectively, over the prior year period.€Tincreases were derived primarily from
commercial aerospace market, as customer demardefee services on aircraft component parts ineteadth the continuing recovery of |
aerospace market. In 2005, laser peening sales essentially flat compared to 2004, as we contittudevelop applications for this n
technology to be used on highly stressed critioahgonents in the turbine engine, aircraft structuneedical implant, and oil and gas mar}
The remaining sales increase was due to contrimsitilom our 2004 acquisitions, which contributed7$tillion of incremental sales duri
2005. Foreign currency translation had a nominaltp@ impact on sales in 2005 compared to 2004.

Operating income for 2005 increased 23% to $341somifrom $28.1 million during 2004, mainly due kigher sales volume. Gross mart
improved slightly on the higher sales volume, g@dltioffset by higher energy costs of $2.3 millignjmarily in our heat treating divisic
However, the impact of the greater sales volumefelasnost significantly on operating income, whithd margins of 17.3% in 2005 compe
to 15.8% in 2004. Selling, general, and administeatosts, which are generally fixed in natureyéased only 4% over the prior year per
contributing to the higher operating income marnggncentage. Foreign currency translation had a malmiegative impact on operating incc
in 2005 compared to 2004.
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Backlog at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $1.9omitompared with $1.4 million at December 31, 2088w orders received in 20
totaled $199.0 million, which represents an 11%edase from 2004 new orders of $178.7 million a#8% increase over new orders rece
in 2003. The increase is mainly due to the improsenin the global economy, which positively impattke core shot peening business an
segment’s recent acquisitions.

Metal Treatment sales were $178.3 million in 2084,increase of 28% over 2003 sales of $138.9 mill@rganic sales growth of 2:
contributed $24.7 million to the increase. The oigarowth was due to strong sales growth from mew laser peening technology, wt
contributed $4.8 million in incremental sales, aalvas solid growth in our global shot peening s®rs, which contributed $14.2 million
incremental sales mainly in the German automotiueppean commercial aerospace, and North Amerioamtercial and military aerosps
markets. Sales from our heat treating division wgreb2.8 million over the prior year period maimlye to overflow from a competitor anc
the segmen$ new aluminum treatment capabilities for the gesos industry. The remaining sales increase caore @ur 2003 and 20!
acquisitions, which contributed $12.7 million otiemental sales during 2004. The main contribuddhis increase was our E/M Enginee
Coatings Solutions businesses, which were acquirégpril 2003. In addition, foreign currency traasbn favorably impacted sales by §
million compared to 2003.

Operating income for 2004 increased 50% to $28Miomifrom $18.7 million during 2003. Margin imprement was due to higher st
volume, favorable sales mix due to higher lasenpepsales, and implemented cost reduction inigsti Offsetting our margin improveme
were increased medical costs and higher energyp @sstompared to the prior year period. Foreigmeagy translation had a $1.5 mill
positive impact on 2004 operating income as congpare003.

Corporate and Other Expenses

Non-segment operating costs consist mainly of envirartedeéemediation and administrative expenses, paresxpense/income associated '
the CurtissWright pension plan, and other income and expenselinectly associated with the ongoing performaotéhe segments. We t
nonsegment operating costs of $1.5 million, $7.1 wrilliand $0.1 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, reipely. Environmental remediatit
and administration costs represented $0.8 mil&n3 million, and $1.4 million in 2005, 2004, an@d3, respectively. The increase in 2004
due to a $4.4 million increase in remediation reseequirements related to the Caldwell Truckingdfdl superfund site. Pension expe
associated with the Curtis§right Pension Plan was $2.0 million and $0.5 millin 2005 and 2004, respectively, while 2003 egpeec
income of $1.6 million. The increase in pensionenge is due to increased service costs and lowanseon plan assets. We also realiz
gain of $2.8 million during 2005 on the sale ofoanfier operating property located in Fairfield, Néersey. Higher consulting fees associ
with Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 compliance in 28052004 accounted for the remaining differenceocaspared to 2003.

Interest Expens

Interest expense increased $8.0 million in 2005pamed to 2004. Higher interest rates accounte@pproximately 54% of the increase,
the remaining increase was due to higher debt deasbociated with the funding of our acquisitidngerest expense in 2004 increased
million from 2003, with higher debt levels assoethtwith the funding of our acquisitions accountfog 60% of the increase. The remair
increase in 2004 versus 2003 was caused by higtesest rates.

Provision for Income Taxe

Our effective tax rates for 2005, 2004, and 20@836.4%, 34.1%, and 37.8%, respectively. Our 2Gftve tax rate included a charge
$0.3 million from the repatriation of foreign eamgs under the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004r D04 effective tax rate incluc
nonrecurring benefits totaling $3.4 million resndfiprimarily from the change in legal structureook of our subsidiaries and a favorable
appeals settlement. Our 2003 effective tax ratieidted the benefit of the restructuring of some wf Buropean operations.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources and Uses of Cash

We derive the majority of our operating cash infltl@m receipts on the sale of goods and servicéscash outflow for the procurement
materials and labor and cash flow is therefore exttbjo market fluctuations and conditions. A subsh portion of our business is in -
defense sector, which is characterized by long-teomtracts. Most of our lontgrm contracts allow for several billing points ggress ¢
milestone) that provide us with cash receipts atscare incurred throughout the project rather tihi@om contract completion, thereby redu
working capital requirements. In some cases, thageents can exceed the costs incurred on a project

Operating Activities

Our working capital was $269.0 million at DecemBg&r 2005, an increase of $56.8 million from the kirng capital at December 31, 200¢
$212.2 million. Our ratio of current assets to eutrliabilities was 2.2 to 1 at December 31, 2@@Bnpared with a ratio of 2.1 to 1 at Decen
31, 2004. Cash and cash equivalents totaled $8%Kei aggregate at December 31, 2005, up from $#ilion at December 31, 2004. T
increase is primarily due to an increase in cagshash equivalents following the 2005 Senior Ndferimg and subsequent pay down of
outstanding debt under our revolving credit faigitit Excluding the impact on cash, working capitateased $38.8 million partially due to
Indal acquisition made in the first quarter of 2006e remainder of the increase was driven maiglynbreases in inventory of $26.9 milli
and accounts receivables of $21.6 million. Inventealances rose primarily as a result of build apexpected increases in sales in 200¢
strategic initiatives to lower turaround time for deliveries. Accounts receivabled@ased due to the timing of contractual billingd ardustn
cycles, partially offset by collection of receivablfrom certain large projects outstanding at Déxar31, 2004. Unbilled receivables incret
substantially due to funding and other operatiatedys by certain customers as well as increasettazds for which progress billings do
apply. Partially offsetting these increases in vimgkcapital requirements was an increase in aceopgyable and accrued expenses asso
with the build up of inventories and higher accreedpensation.

Our short-term debt was $0.9 million at DecemberZD5 and $1.6 million at December 31, 2004. @ugkerm debt was $364.0 million
December 31, 2005, an increase of $23.2 milliomftbe balance at December 31, 2004. The increakmdgiterm debt is primarily due
funds borrowed to purchase Indal offset by castegdion during 2005. Days sales outstanding at Dbee 31, 2005 decreased to 43 «
from 47 days at December 31, 2004 while inventarpdver decreased to 5.6 turns at December 31, @0@bmpared to 5.8 turns at Decer
31, 2004.

Our balance of cash and cash equivalents totaléd$4illion at December 31, 2004, down from $98.iliom at December 31, 2003. T
decrease was primarily due to the use of availeddd to fund our acquisition of Dy 4 Systems, brcJanuary 31, 2004. Excluding the im|
on cash, working capital increased $33.1 millioe ¢l our acquiring eleven businesses in 2004. ditiad to the impact of these acquisitic
working capital changes were highlighted by an ease in receivables of $39.9 million and an in@easaccounts payable and acci
expenses of $19.8 million. Unbilled receivableséased substantially due to funding and other diper@ delays by certain customers as
as increased contracts for which progress billidgsiot apply. The increase in accounts payableaandied expenses is due to the timin
yea-end payments and higher accrued compensationsi@utierm debt was $1.6 million at December 31, 2004%h6 million at Decemb
31, 2003. Our longerm debt was $340.9 million at December 31, 2@increase of $116.7 million from the balance at&nber 31, 200
The increase in lonterm debt was the result of additional funds boedwio acquire eleven businesses in 2004. Days satstanding
December 31, 2004 decreased to 47 days from 56atayecember 31, 2003 while inventory turnover éased to 5.8 turns at Decembet
2004 as compared to 5.5 turns at December 31, 2003.

Investing Activities

We have acquired twenty-five businesses since 20@lexpect to continue to seek acquisitions thatcansistent with our lontgrm growtt
strategy. A combination of cash resources, funddl@ve under our credit agreement, and proceexats &ur Senior Notes were utilized to fi
our acquisitions, which totaled $73.1 million an24%.4 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively. Adigated in Note 2 to the Consolida
Financial Statements, some of our acquisition agesgs contain purchase price adjustments, suclbtastal earrsut payments and worki
capital adjustments. During 2005, we made approtatye$8.6 million in such payments relative to priperiod acquisitions. Addition
acquisitions will depend, in part, on the availéypibf financial resources at a cost of capitalt theets our stringent criteria. As such, fu
acquisitions, if any, may be funded through theafseur cash and cash
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equivalents, through additional financing availalteler the credit agreement, or through new firaneiternatives.

Our capital expenditures were $42.4 million in 20882.5 million in 2004, and $33.3 million in 2008. 2005 and 2004, principal cap
expenditures included a move to a new flow corfaollity, new and replacement machinery and equiptméthin the business segments
for the expansion of new product lines and fae#itiOur capital expenditures in 2003 included ngdexpansions, a new laser peening fac
and associated laser machinery, and various othehimery and equipment.

Financing Activities

On December 1, 2005, we issued $150.0 million 51% Senior Series Notes (the “2005 Note®Yr 2005 Notes mature on December 1, .
and are senior unsecured obligations, equal irt G§payment to our existing senior indebtedness, 8 our option, can prepay at any timi
or any part of our 2005 Notes, subject to a makele payment in accordance with the terms of théeNPurchase Agreement. In connec
with our 2005 Notes, we paid customary fees thaehzeen deferred and will be amortized over then tef our 2005 Notes. We are requi
under the Note Purchase Agreement to maintainioditeancial ratios, the most restrictive of whicha debt to capitalization limit of 60%, ¢
a cross default provision with our other seniomibiggdness. As of December 31, 2005, we were in kange with all covenants.

In November 2005, we unwound our interest rate ssgapements with notional amounts of $20 milliod &0 million which were original
put in place to convert a portion of our fixed iatet on the $75 million 5.13% Senior Notes and $h#lBon 5.74% Senior Notes, respectiv
to variable rates based on specified spreads axenenth LIBOR. The unwinding of these swap agreemesssilted in a net loss of $
million, which has been deferred and is being aimedtover the remaining term of the underlying debt

At December 31, 2005, we had a $400 million revajveredit agreement (the “Agreement/ith a group of ten banks. The agreement ex
in 2009. Borrowings under the Agreement bear istea¢ a floating rate based on market conditiomsaddition, our interest rate and leve
facility fees are dependent on certain financidlordevels, as defined in the Agreement. We arejesiibto annual facility fees on t
commitments under the Agreement. In connection thighAgreement, we paid customary transaction tfeggshave been deferred and are kb
amortized over the term of the Agreement. We agaired under the Agreement to maintain certainrfaia ratios and meet certain finan
tests, the most restrictive of which is a debtapitalization limit of 55% and a cross default gsban with our other senior indebtedness.
Agreement does not contain any subjective acc@éaratauses. As of December 31, 2005, we were mpdiance with all covenants and |
the flexibility to issue additional debt of apprmately $400 million without exceeding the coveniémit defined in the Agreement. We wo
consider other financing alternatives to maintapital structure balance and ensure compliance alittiebt covenants. We did not have
cash borrowings outstanding (excluding letters r&dit) under the Agreement at December 31, 2005peoed to $124.5 million of ca
borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2004. Theseuh credit available under the agreement at Deee&ih 2005 was $367.9 million.

On September 25, 2003 we issued $200.0 millionemic® Notes (the “2003 Notes"yhe 2003 Notes consist of $75.0 million of 5.13%i6k
Notes that mature on September 25, 2010 and $12#i06n of 5.74% Senior Notes that mature on Seften5, 2013. Our 2003 Notes
senior unsecured obligations and are equal in Bgpayment to our existing senior indebtedness, &/eur option, can prepay at any time
or any part of our 2003 Notes, subject to a makele payment in accordance with the terms of tioé¢eNPurchase Agreement. In connec
with our 2003 Notes, we paid customary fees thathzeen deferred and will be amortized over thenseof the 2003 Notes. We are requ
under the Note Purchase Agreement to maintainioditencial ratios, the most restrictive of whiisha debt to capitalization limit of 60% ¢
a cross default provision with our other senioribiiédness. As of December 31, 2005, we were in kange with all covenants.

Our industrial revenue bonds, which are collateealiby real estate, were $14.2 million at Decenier2005 and $14.3 million at Decem
31, 2004. The loans outstanding under the 2003280&% Notes, Interest Rate Swaps, Revolving Credite@ment, and Industrial Reve!
Bonds had variable interest rates averaging 4.6#92005 and 3.65% for 2004.
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Future Commitment

Cash generated from operations is considered atietjueneet our operating cash requirements fougm®ming year, including planned cag
expenditures of approximately $50 million, interpatyments of approximately $20 million to $22 naifli estimated income tax payment
approximately $40 million to $50 million, dividend$ approximately $11 million, pension funding gfpoximately $7 million, and additior
working capital requirements. We have approximag3ymillion in short-term environmental liabilitieshich is managemerst’estimation ¢
cash requirements for 2006. Additionally, we arenoutted to potential earaut payments on seven of our acquisitions datirgk tba 2001
which are estimated to be between approximatelgn#8n to $11 million in 2006. There can be noassice, however, that we will contir
to generate cash flow at the current level. If cgeherated from operations is not sufficient topsup these requirements and inves
activities, we may be required to reduce capitpeexitures, refinance a portion of our existingtdebobtain additional financing.

In 2006, our capital expenditures are expectedetagproximately $50 million due to the constructidmew facilities, expansion of facilities
accommodate new product lines, and new machinahegqoipment, such as additional investment in aset peening technology.

The following table quantifies our significant fuéucontractual obligations and commercial committaes of December 31, 2005:

(In thousands) Total 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter
Debt Principal Repayments $ 365,060 $ 88t % 506 $ 62 $ 64 $ 125,06¢ $ 233,92
Interest Payments on Fixi
Rate Deb 172,15¢ 19,28¢ 19,28¢ 19,28¢ 19,28¢ 18,25« 76,75:
Operating Lease 71,33¢ 15,47 13,60( 11,42¢ 8,67¢ 5,76: 16,40:
Total $ 608,56 $ 35,64« $ 3794 $ 30,777 $ 28,03 $ 149,08 $ 327,08

(mAmounts exclude a $0.2 million adjustment to theJalue of lon-term debt relating to the Corporation's interett savap agreements tt
were settled in cash during 20(

We do not have material purchase obligations. Mbstur raw material purchase commitments are magetty pursuant to specific contr
requirements.

We enter into standby letters of credit agreemeiits financial institutions and customers primarniglating to guarantees of repayment or
Industrial Revenue Bonds, future performance otagercontracts to provide products and serviced,tarsecure advance payments we
received from certain international customers. Agc®mber 31, 2005, we had contingent liabilitiesootstanding letters of credit due
follows:

(In thousands) Total 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter

Letters of Credi $ 3228 % 7,56¢  $ 7,25¢ $ 16,05 $ 24 3% — 3 1,38

Critical Accounting Policies

Our consolidated financial statements and acconipgmpotes are prepared in accordance with geneaaltgpted accounting principles in
United States of America. Preparing consolidatedrfcial statements requires us to make estimatkassumptions that affect the repo
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and esgeIThese estimates and assumptions are affecthd bpplication of our accounting polic
Critical accounting policies are those that reqaipplication of managemeastmost difficult, subjective, or complex judgmerdfien as a rest
of the need to make estimates about the effectsadters that are inherently uncertain and may ohamgubsequent periods. We believe
the following are some of the more critical judgmareas in the application of our accounting peBcihat affect our financial condition ¢
results of operations:
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Revenue Recognitic

The realization of revenue refers to the timingtsfrecognition in our accounts and is generallgsidered realized or realizable and ea
when the earnings process is substantially compledeall of the following criteria are met: 1) paaisive evidence of an arrangement exist
delivery has occurred or services have been redfd8)eour price to our customer is fixed or deterafile; and 4) collectibility is reasona
assured.

We record sales and related profits on productimhservice type contracts as units are shippedi@dnd risk of loss have transferred o
services are rendered. This method is used in @talMreatment segment and in some of the busimeiss within the Motion Control ai
Flow Control segments that serve non-military megke

For certain contracts in our Flow Control and MatiGontrol segments that require performance oveexanded period before delivel
begin, sales and estimated profits are recordeappyying the percentage-of-completion method obaating. The percentage-obmpletior
method of accounting is used primarily for our ehsfe contracts and certain lotegm commercial contracts. This method recognizesmu
and profit as the contracts progress towards caiopleFor certain contracts that contain a sigaificnumber of performance milestones
defined by the customer, sales are recorded bgsmu achievement of these performance milestones p&hformance milestone method i
output measure of progress towards completion nraderms of results achieved. For certain fixecc@rcontracts, where none or a lim
number of milestones exist, the cost-to-cost metbagsed, which is an input measure of progresatdwompletion. Under the cost-tos
input method, sales and profits are recorded basdtie ratio of costs incurred to an estimate stat completion. Under our percentage-of-
completion methods of accounting, a single estichatéal profit margin is used to recognize proéit £ach contract over its entire perio
performance.

Application of percentage-afempletion methods of revenue recognition requihesuse of reasonable and dependable estimatés dfiture
material, labor, and overhead costs that will bruired and a disciplined cost estimating systerwliich all functions of the business
integrally involved. These estimates are determibased upon industry knowledge and experience pfengineers, project managers,
financial staff. These estimates are significard egflect changes in cost and operating performamarighout the contract and could ha
significant impact on our operating performancejustiments to original estimates for contract reerastimated costs at completion, anc
estimated total profit are often required as worigpesses throughout the contract and as expergmtenore information is obtained, e
though the scope of work under the contract maychahge. These changes are recorded on a cumudasigin the period they are determ
to be necessary.

Under the percentage-abmpletion method of accounting, provisions forireated losses on uncompleted contracts are recegriie th
period in which the likelihood of such losses aetedmined. Amounts representing contract changersrdre included in revenue only w
they can be estimated reliably and their realizattoreasonably assured. Certain contracts coptaivisions for the redetermination of pi
and, as such, management defers a portion of temue from those contracts until such time as tfe thas been finalized.

Some of our customers withhold certain amounts fileenbillings they receive. These retainages anegdly not due until the project has b
completed and accepted by the customer.

Inventory

Inventory costs include materials, direct laboid amnufacturing overhead costs, which are statélgeabwer of cost or market, where ma
is limited to the net realizable value. We estinthenet realizable value of our inventories ardl#ish reserves to reduce the carrying arr
of these inventories to net realizable value, aesgary. We continually evaluate the adequacyeofrtentory reserves by reviewing histor
scrap rates, ohand quantities, as compared with historical amjegted usage levels and other anticipated conahotquirements. The sta
inventory costs are also reflective of the estimaiged in applying the percentage-of-completioemere recognition method.

We purchase materials for the manufacture of cormptsnfor sale. The decision to purchase a set tyafita particular item is influenced
several factors including: current and projectddeprfuture estimated availability, existing anajpcted contracts to produce certain items
the estimated needs for our businesses.
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For certain of our longerm contracts, we utilize progress billings, whiefpresent amounts billed to customers prior todiévery of good
and services and are recorded as a reduction emtosy and receivables. Progress billings are gdlgelbased on costs incurred, incluc
direct costs, overhead, and general and admirnistredsts.

Pension and other postretirement bene

We, in consultation with our actuaries, determiine appropriate assumptions for use in determittiegliability for future pension and ott
postretirement benefits. The most significant afst assumptions include the number of employeeswilhoeceive benefits along with t
tenure and salary level of those employees, theagd return on plan assets, the discount ratas$ tasdetermine plan obligations, and
trends in the costs of medical and other health banefits in the case of the postretirement beabfigations. Changes in these assumptio
significant in future years, may have an effectoam pension and postretirement expense, assogesion and postretirement assets
liabilities, and our annual cash requirements talfthese plans.

The discount rate used to determine the benefigatibns of the plans as of December 31, 2005 hedahnual periodic costs for 2006
lowered in 2005 to 5.75% for both the EMD and G&tVright Pension Plans and the EMD PostretiremeneBeRlan to better reflect curre
economic conditions. The rate was based on cugaedtfuture economic indicators. The reduction ia discount rate increased the bel
obligation of the plans. A quarter of one perceatpgint decrease in the discount rate would hageeffect of increasing the annual pen
expense by $0.5 million and the pension benefiigatibn by $8.1 million. We also updated the maiyatables for the pension a
postretirement benefit plans to the RP 2000 Mdytdlable to better reflect the general improvementmortality experienced over the
years. This change caused an additional increathe toenefit obligatior

The overall expected return on assets assumptibased on a combination of historical performanicthe pension fund and expectation
future performance. The historical returns are meiiged using the marketelated value of assets, which is the same valael us th
calculation of annual net periodic benefit coste Tharketrelated value of assets includes the recognitiorealfized and unrealized gains
losses over a five-year period, which effectivelgrages the volatility associated with the actwafgrmance of the plag’assets from year
year. Although over the last ten years the mamdeted value of assets had an average annualofidld.6%, the actual returns averaged 1:
during the same period. We have consistently usedt5% rate as a lortgrm overall average return. Given the uncertasntiethe currel
economic and geopolitical landscapes, we conslueiBt5% rate to be a reasonable assumption ofutheeflongterm investment returns.
guarter of one percentage point decrease in thecteqh return on assets would have the effect oéasing our annual pension expense by
million.

The longterm medical trend assumptions start with a curratd that is in line with expectations for the midure, and then grades the ri
down over time until it reaches an ultimate ratat tis close to expectations for growth in GDP. Téasoning is that medical trends cal
continue to be higher than the rate of GDP growthhie long term. Any change in the expectationhee rates to return to a normal i
should have an impact on the amount of expenseoagnize.

The timing and amount of future pension incomexgrease to be recognized each year is dependeheatetmographics and expected earr
of the plan participants, the expected interegtsrét effect in future years, and the actual aruketed investment returns of the assets i
pension trust.

See Note 14 for further information on our pensiod postretirement plans, including an estimatetoire cash contributions.
Environmental reserve

We provide for environmental reserves on a sitsiteybasis when, in conjunction with internal amteenal legal counsel, it is determined
a liability is both probable and estimable. In ma&ages, the liability is not fixed or capped whenfikst record a liability for a particular sité
only a range of potential liability can be estinthéand no amount within the range is more probdide tinother, a reserve will be establish
the low end of that range. At sites involving npiki parties, we accrue environmental liabilitiesdzhupon our expected share of the liab
taking into account the financial viability of oather jointly liable partners. Judgment is requivdten we make assumptions and estimate
expected to be incurred for environmental remeaiiatictivities due to, among other factors, difficd in assessing the extent and typ
environmental remediation to be performed, the itchpa
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of complex environmental regulations and remediaterhnologies, and agreements between potentédfyonsible parties to share in the
of remediation. In estimating the future liabilayd continually evaluating the sufficiency of suiebilities, we weigh certain factors includi
our participation percentage due to a settlemembrblyankruptcy of other potentially responsibletigar a change in the environmental |
requiring more stringent requirements, an increasdecrease in the estimated time required to reateeda change in the estimate of fu
costs that will be incurred to remediate the sitegd changes in technology related to environmeamtalediation. We do not believe t
continued compliance with environmental laws aggille to our operations will have a material advesect on our financial condition
results of operation. However, given the level wdgment and estimation used in the recording ofrenmental reserves, it is reason
possible that materially different amounts couldrbeorded if different assumptions were used anrfumstances were to change, suc
environmental regulations or remediation solutiemedies.

As of December 31, 2005, our environmental resetotded $25.3 million, the majority of which isngterm. Approximately 80% of ti
environmental reserves represent the current \&loer anticipated remediation costs and are rexdalinted primarily due to the uncertaint
timing of expenditures. The remaining environmenéskerves are discounted to reflect the time vafuaoney since the amount and timiny
cash payments for the liability are reasonably meitgable. We use a discount rate of 4%, which axiprates an amount at which
environmental liability could be settled in an asméngth transaction with a third party. All enviroental reserves exclude any pote
recovery from insurance carriers or third-partyalegctions.

Purchase accountin

We apply the purchase method of accounting to oguiaitions. Under this method, the purchase piieauding any capitalized acquisiti
costs, is allocated to the underlying tangible em@ngible assets acquired and liabilities assubsexkd on their respective fair market val
with any excess recorded as goodwill. We deterntiieefair values of such assets and liabilities,egelty in consultation with thirgharty
valuation advisors. The fair value of assets aegu{net of cash) and liabilities assumed of our 20@5 acquisition were estimated to be $
million and $23.9 million, respectively. The initii@ir value assigned to this acquisition is prefiary and may be revised prior to finalizati
which is to be completed within a reasonable pereaherally within one year of acquisition.

Goodwill

We have $388.2 million in goodwill as of Decembér 2005. The recoverability of goodwill is subjéatan annual impairment test bases
the estimated fair value of the underlying busires#\dditionally, goodwill is tested for impairmemhen an event occurs or if circumstar
change that would more likely than not reduce tievalue of a reporting unit below its carrying@mt. These estimated fair values are b
on estimates of future cash flows of the businedsastors affecting these future cash flows incltlte continued market acceptance of
products and services offered by the businessesgelielopment of new products and services by tisnbsses and the underlying cos
development, the future cost structure of the essias, and future technological changes. Estimaag¢eslso used for the Corporatisrcost @
capital in discounting the projected future casiw8. If it has been determined that impairmentd@=urred, we may be required to recog
an impairment of our asset, which would be limitedhe difference between the book value of thetamsd its fair value. Any such impairm
would be recognized in full in the reporting periadvhich it has been identified.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets are generally the resubiogfuisitions and consist primarily of purchasecht®logy, customer related intangib
trademarks and service marks, and technology leznitangible assets are recorded at their fdiregaas determined through purct
accounting. Definite lived intangible assets ar@dired ratably to match their cash flow streamerdheir estimated useful lives, which ra
from 1 to 20 years, while indefinite lived intanibassets are not amortized. Indefinite lived igihle assets are reviewed for impairn
annually based on the discounted future cash fléwdslitionally, we review the recoverability of atitangible assets, including the rele
useful lives, whenever events or changes in cirtaneges indicate that the carrying amount mightbwtecoverable. We would record
impairment in the reporting period in which it Hzeen identified.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standard

In June 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “ActiognChanges and Error CorrectionsA-Replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 ¢
FASB Statement No. 3" (“FAS 154"This Statement requires that a voluntary changeaounting principle be applied retrospectivelytvatl
prior period financial statements presented onlthsis of the new accounting principle, unless itmgracticable to do so. FAS 154 ¢
provides that (1) a change in method of depregatinamortizing a londived nonfinancial asset be accounted for as a gdan estimai
(prospectively) that was effected by a change itoanting principle, and (2) correction of errorsgreviously issued financial stateme
should be termed a “restatementtie new standard is effective for accounting charaged correction of errors made in fiscal yeardrivegg
after December 15, 2005. Early adoption of thisid#ad is permitted for accounting changes and ctiore of errors made in fiscal ye
beginning after June 1, 2005. We do not anticiplaa® the adoption of this statement will have aariat impact on our results of operatior
financial condition.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123idgelv2004), “Accounting for Stock-Based CompensdtiFAS 123(R)"). This
Statement requires a public entity to measure dsé af employee services received in exchangerfaveard of equity instruments based or
grantdate fair value of the award (with limited excepsd That cost will be recognized over the periadrdy which an employee is requi
to provide service in exchange for the awatte—requisite service period (usually the vestiegqu). No compensation cost is recognizet
equity instruments for which employees do not rerttie requisite service. Employee share purchaasesplill not result in recognition
compensation cost if certain conditions are meis¢hconditions are much the same as the relateditioos in FAS 123. This Statemen
effective as of the beginning of the first inteimannual reporting period that begins after JUBme005. On April 14, 2005 the SEC annour
a deferral of the effective date of FAS 123(R) datendar year companies until January 1, 2006. ¥pect the adoption of this statemer
have a pre-tax expense of approximately $5 milinroperating income in 2006.

In March of 2005, the FASB issued FIN No. 47, “Aoating for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligatiensn interpretation of FAS
Statement No. 143" (“FAS 143"). This Interpretatictarifies that the term “conditional asset retieh obligation”as used in FAS 14
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligationsgfers to a legal obligation to perform an assgtenment activity in which the timing and (
method of settlement are conditional on a futurenéthat may or may not be within the control ¢f éntity. The obligation to perform the a:
retirement activity is unconditional even thouglcerainty exists about the timing and (or) methdédettlement. Thus, the timing and |
method of settlement may be conditional on a futwent. Accordingly, an entity is required to recizg a liability for the fair value of
conditional asset retirement obligation if the fedtue of the liability can be reasonably estimafitk fair value of a liability for the conditiot
asset retirement obligation should be recognizednwhcurred—generally upon acquisition, construction, or depeient and (or) through t
normal operation of the asset. Uncertainty aboaittithing and (or) method of settlement of a coodiil asset retirement obligation shoul
factored into the measurement of the liability whaufficient information exists. FAS 143 acknowledgihat in some cases, suffici
information may not be available to reasonablynesté the fair value of an asset retirement obligafThis Interpretation also clarifies wher
entity would have sufficient information to reasbhyaestimate the fair value of an asset retiremelligation. The adoption of tt
interpretation did not have a material impact onresults of operation or financial condition.

Recent Development

On February 7, 2006, the Board of Directors deda@-ford stock split in the form of a 100% stock divideitie split, in the form of 1 she
of Common stock for each share of Common stocktauttng, is payable on April 7, 2006. As the marniete of the shares does not ref
the stock split at the time of the filing of thimmAual Report on Form 10-K, all references througttbis Annual Report on Form 1K-to
number of shares, per share amounts, stock opdimtas and market prices of the CorporattoBommon stock have not been adjusted to
the effect of this stock split.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk.

We are exposed to certain market risks from chang#gerest rates and foreign currency exchantgsras a result of our global operating
financing activities. We seek to minimize any mierisks from foreign currency exchange rate fiattions through our normal operating
financing activities and, when deemed appropriitegugh the use of derivative financial instrumeme do not use such instruments
trading or other speculative purposes. We useddstaate swaps and forward foreign currency cotgréo manage our interest rate
currency rate exposures during the year ended Dmeelil, 2005. We unwound our interest rate swapllamember 2005. Informatic
regarding our accounting policy on financial ingtents is contained in Note 1-K to the Consolid&edncial Statements.

The market risk for a change in interest rategeslarimarily to our debt obligations. We shiftad terest rate exposure from 65% variab
December 31, 2004 to 96% fixed at December 31, 2008 net proceeds of the new $150 million 2005eNaiffering principally contribute
to our ability to pay down our outstanding debt eindur revolving credit facility at December 31,080 The variable rates on the Indus
Revenue Bonds are based on market rates. A changaerest rates of 1% would have an impact on alfsed interest expense
approximately $0.1 million. Information regardingiro2005 and 2003 Notes, Revolving Credit Agreement Interest Rates Swap:
contained in Note 10 to the Consolidated Finarstatements.

Financial instruments expose us to counter-paritrisk for nonperformance and to market risk for changes in @steand foreign curren
rates. We manage exposure to counter-party crekitthrough specific minimum credit standards, déifecation of counteparties, an
procedures to monitor concentrations of credit.idle monitor the impact of market risk on the fatue and cash flows of our investment:
investing primarily in investment grade interesatieg securities, which have shéerm maturities. We attempt to minimize possiblaraye
in interest and currency exchange rates to amdhatsare not material to our consolidated resultsperations and cash flows.

Our acquisitions of Indal, Dy 4 and Novatronics éavcreased our exposure to foreign currency exgdaate fluctuations related primarily
the Canadian dollar. We currently have a hedgingam in place to mitigate the Canadian dollarifpreeurrency risk. Although the major
of our sales, expenses, and cash flows are traatsactU.S. dollars, we do have some market riskosupe to changes in foreign curre
exchange rates, primarily as it relates to theevaliithe U.S. dollar versus the Canadian dollar,Bhtish pound, the euro, and the Swiss ft
Any significant change in the value of the currescof those countries in which we do business ag#ire U.S. dollar could have an adv
effect on our business, financial condition, ansutes of operations. We seek to minimize the risdaf these foreign currency fluctuatis
principally through invoicing our customers in tkame currency as the functional currency of themae producing entity. However, 1
efforts to minimize these risks may not be sucegsHfforeign exchange rates were to collectivelgaken or strengthen against the dolle
10%, net earnings would have been reduced or isetkaespectively, by approximately $3 million exelates exclusively to foreign curret
exchange rate exposures.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datz

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the years ended December 31, (In thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003
Net sales $ 1,130,920 $ 955,03¢ $ 746,07:
Cost of sale: 740,41¢ 624,53t 505,15:
Gross profil 390,51: 330,50: 240,91¢
Research and development cc (39,68)) (33,829 (22,11)
Selling expense (69,687) (61,64¢) (38,81¢)
General and administrative expen (144,98) (118,270) (89,239
Environmental remediation and administrative expe (819 (5,28%) (1,427
Gain (loss) on sale of real estate and fixed a: 2,63¢ (1,139 (359)
Operating incomi 137,98: 110,34: 88,97:
Interest expens (19,989 (12,03)) (5,667)
Other income, ne 29¢ 44 74¢
Earnings before income tax 118,29¢ 98,75 84,05¢
Provision for income taxe (43,019 (33,68)) (31,789

Net earning: $ 75,28( $ 65,066 $ 52,26¢
Net earnings per shat

Basic earnings per she $ 34¢ % 3.07 % 2.5¢

Diluted earnings per sha $ 344 $ 3.0 $ 2.5C

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31, (In thousands) 2005 2004
Assets:
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 59,02 $ 41,03¢
Receivables, ne 244,68 214,08
Inventories, ne 146,29 115,97¢
Deferred tax assets, r 28,84+ 25,69:
Other current asse 11,61¢ 12,46(
Total current asse 490,46t 409,25:¢
Property, plant, and equipment, | 274,82: 265,24
Prepaid pension cos 76,00: 77,80z
Goodwill 388,15¢ 364,31!
Other intangible assets, r 158,26° 140,36¢
Other asset 12,57: 21,45¢
Total asset $ 1,400,28 $ 1,278,441
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Shor-term debt $ 88t $ 1,63(
Accounts payabl 80,46( 65,36¢
Accrued expense 74,25: 63,41
Income taxes payab 22,85¢ 13,89t
Other current liabilitie: 43,05: 52,79
Total current liabilities 221,50: 197,09¢
Long-term debi 364,01 340,86(
Deferred tax liabilities, ne 53,57( 40,04:
Accrued pension and other postretirement beneits 74,99¢ 80,61-
Long-term portion of environmental resen 22,64 23,35¢
Other liabilities 25,33: 20,86(
Total liabilities 762,06! 702,82¢
Contingencies and Commitments (Notes 10, 13, 157§
Stockholder Equity:
Preferred stock, $1 par value, 650,000 shares am¢ll none issue — —
Common stock, $1 par value, 100,000,000 and 33)?B80shares authorized at December 31, 200.
2004, respectively; 25,493,442 and 16,646,359 sh#sued at December 31, 2005 and 2
respectively; outstanding shares were 21,746,362eaember 31, 2005 and 12,673,912 at Dece
31, 2004 25,49 16,64¢
Class B common stock, $1 par value, 11,250,000eshauthorized, 8,764,800 shares issued
8,764,246 shares outstanding at December 31, — 8,76¢
Additional paic-in capital 59,80¢ 55,88¢
Retained earning 667,89: 601,07(
Unearned portion of restricted stc (12 (39
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 20,65¢ 36,791
773,83 719,12¢
Less: Common treasury stock, at cost (3,747,086eshat December 31, 2005 and 3,973,001 share
December 31, 200 (135,61, (143,519
Total stockholder equity 638,22( 575,61«
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 1,400,28] $ 1,278,441

See notes to consolidated financial stateme
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31, (In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net earning: $ 75,28( $ 65,066 $ 52,26¢
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cashiiged by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic 47,85 40,74 31,321
Net (gain) loss on sales and disposals of reateeatad equipmer (2,63¢) 1,13¢ 35¢
Deferred income taxe 141 (3,500 6,03t
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nbusfnesses acquire
Increase in receivable (21,559 (39,879 (5,95¢)
(Increase) decrease in inventot (26,909 7,57¢ 1,89¢
Increase (decrease) in progress paym 9,81t (4,33¢) 1,967
Increase in accounts payable and accrued exp 22,97¢ 19,78t 9,34:
(Decrease) increase in deferred reve (8,049 4,84¢ (10,070
Increase in income taxes paya 11,26¢ 8,40: 3,24(
(Decrease) increase in net pension and postretivelm®ilities (3,819 5,05¢ (5,8772)
Increase in other current and I-term asset (912 (2,830 (963)
Increase (decrease) in other current and-term liabilities 1,72 2,27¢ (45)
Total adjustment 29,89¢ 40,28: 31,25¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 105,17¢ 105,34 83,52«
Cash flows from investing activitie
Proceeds from sales and disposals of real estdtecuipmen 11,26¢ 1,192 1,132
Acquisition of intangible asse (5,08¢) (2,100 (1,57%)
Additions to property, plant, and equipm (42,44 (32,457 (33,329
Acquisition of new businesses, net of cash acqt (73,11) (247,407 (69,799
Net cash used for investing activiti (109,379 (280,767) (103,56%)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings of deb 655,00( 624,10t 384,71.
Principal payments on de (630,32) (508,02 (314,20
Proceeds from exercise of stock optii 8,49: 7,45¢ 3,86¢
Dividends paic (8,459 (7,66€) (6,520)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 24,707 115,87: 67,85¢
Effect of exchanc-rate changes on ca (2,529 1,90¢ 3,14(
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 17,98: (57,639 50,95¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 41,03¢ 98,67: 47,717
Cash and cash equivalents at end of- $ 59,02 $ 41,03t $ 98,67:
Supplemental disclosure of r-cash investing activitie:
Fair value of assets acquired from current yeauiadipns $ 88,57¢ $ 303,04. $ 78,23!
Additional consideration on prior year acquisitic 8,61¢ 3,027 3,147
Fair Value of Common stock issued as considerdtioacquisitions — (14,000 —
Liabilities assumed from current year acquisiti (23,869) (42,33) (20,750
Cash acquire: (222 (2,335 (835)
Acquisition of new businesses, net of cash acqt $ 73,111 $ 247,40. $ 69,79:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(In thousands)

Common
Stock

ClassB
Common

Stock

Additional
Paidin
Capital

Unearned
Portion of
Restricted
Stock
Awards

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (L oss)

Comprehensive
Income

Treasury
Stock

January 1, 2003

$ 10,61¢

$ 4,38

$ 52,20(

$

508,29¢ $ (60)

$ 6,482

$ (170,69

Comprehensive incom
Net earning

Translation adjustments, r

52,26¢ —

16,15:

$

52,26¢ —

16,15z —

Total comprehensive income

68,42(

Dividends paic
Stock options exercised, r
Other

Two-for-one common stock split effectec
the form of a 100% stock divider

5,99¢

4,38:¢

741

57

(6,520 —

(10,376 —

4,817

13¢

December 31, 200:

$ 16,61:

$ 8,76¢

$ 52,99¢

$

54367C $ (55

$ 22,63«

$  (165,74)

Comprehensive incom
Net earning:

Translation adjustments, r

65,06¢ —

14,16

65,06¢ —

14,16: —

Total comprehensive income

79,22¢

Dividends paic

Stock options exercised, r

Stock issued under employee stock
purchase plan, ni

Equity issued in connection with
acquisitions

Other

(1,749

1,35¢
3,25¢

18

(7,666 =

11,34¢

10,74:

141

December 31, 2004

$ 16,64¢

$ 8,76¢

$ 55,88t

$

601,07 $ (34)

$ (143,519

Comprehensive incom
Net earnings

Translation adjustments, r

75,28( —

(16,149

75,28( —

(16,147 —

Total comprehensive income

59,13¢

Dividends paic
Stock options exercised, r

Stock issued under employee stock
purchase plan, ni

Recapitalizatior

Other

82

8,76¢

42

3,86:

16

(8,45¢) —

7,721

18C

December 31, 2005

$ 25,49¢

$ 59,80¢

$

667,89 $ (12

$ 20,65¢

$ (135,619

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT?¢
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Curtiss-Wright Corporation and its subsidiariese(tfCorporation”)is a diversified multinational manufacturing andvése company th
designs, manufactures, and overhauls precision opergs and systems and provides highly engineetlpts and services to the aerosy
defense, automotive, shipbuilding, processing,patrochemical, agricultural equipment, railroaoiwpr generation, security, and metalworl
industries. Operations are conducted through 33ufaaturing facilities, 56 metal treatment servieeilities, and 2 aerospace compol
overhaul and repair locations.

A. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include #mants of Curtiss-Wright and its majoribyvned subsidiaries. All material intercomp
transactions and accounts have been eliminatetaiG@rior year information has been reclassifieddanform to current presentation.

B. Use of Estimates

The financial statements of the Corporation havenlqgepared in conformity with accounting princgptgenerally accepted in the United St
of America, which requires management to make edsémand judgments that affect the reported amoluatsets, liabilities, revenue, :
expenses and disclosure of contingent assets abitities in the accompanying financial statemeiitse most significant of these estim:
include the estimate of costs to complete long-teomtracts under the percentagecofapletion accounting methods, the estimate oful
lives for property, plant, and equipment, cash flestimates used for testing the recoverability $dess, pension plan and postretirer
obligation assumptions, estimates for inventoryotdscence, estimates for the valuation and usie®s bf intangible assets, warranty resel
and the estimate of future environmental costsu&latesults may differ from these estimates.

C. Revenue Recognition

The realization of revenue refers to the timingitefrecognition in the accounts of the Corporatiord is generally considered realize:
realizable and earned when the earnings procesgantially complete and all of the followingteria are met: 1) persuasive evidence ¢
arrangement exists; 2) delivery has occurred origes have been rendered; 3) the Corporagiqnice to its customer is fixed or determing
and 4) collectibility is reasonably assured.

The Corporation records sales and related profitproduction and service type contracts as unéssaipped and title and risk of loss h
transferred or as services are rendered, netiofisgstd returns and allowances. Sales and estinpatditis under certain lonterm contracts a
recognized under the percentagecofpletion methods of accounting, whereby profits iecorded pro rata, based upon current estinod
direct and indirect costs to complete such corgrdet addition, the Corporation also records sateder certain longerm government fixe
price contracts upon achievement of performancestthes as specified in the related contracts.€lsosa contracts are provided for in
period in which the losses become determinableidiens in profit estimates are reflected on a cativk basis in the period in which the b
for such revision becomes known. Deferred reveremesents the excess of the billings over cost estunated earnings on longrr
contracts.

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of money market fundscangimercial paper that are readily convertible iwash, all with original maturity dates
three months or less.

E. Inventory

Inventories are stated at lower of production ¢psincipally average cost) or market. Productiostscare comprised of direct material
labor and applicable manufacturing overhead.
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F. Progress Payments

Certain longterm contracts provide for the interim billings @ssts are incurred on the respective contractsudat to contract provisiol
agencies of the U.S. government and other custoarergranted title or a secured interest in thédlleabcosts included in unbilled receivat
and materials and work-iprocess included in inventory to the extent of pesg payments. Accordingly, these progress paymeogsved hay
been reported as a reduction of unbilled receisabiel inventories, as presented in Notes 3 and 4.

G. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are carried at tesd accumulated depreciation. Major renewals agttedments are capitalized, wt
maintenance and repairs that do not improve omelxtiee life of the asset are expensed in the péhiey are incurred. Depreciation is compi
using the straight-line method based upon the astichuseful lives of the respective assets.

Average useful lives for property, plant and equéptrare as follows:

Buildings and improvemen 5 to 40 year:
Machinery, equipment, and ot 3 to 15 year

H. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are generally the result of atfipms and consist primarily of purchased techgg)@ustomer related intangibles, tradem
and service marks, and technology licenses. Defiied intangible assets are amortized ratablyn&dch their cash flow streams over t
estimated useful lives, which range from 1 to 2@rge while indefinite lived intangible assets aoé amortized. Indefinite lived intangit
assets are reviewed for impairment annually basethe discounted future cash flows. See Note #udher information on other intangit
assets.

I. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Corporation reviews the recoverability of adingterm assets, including the related useful livesemdver events or changes
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouna dbngilived asset might not be recoverable. If requirdi, Corporation compares
estimated undiscounted future net cash flows todlsted asset’carrying value to determine whether there has heampairment. If an as:
is considered impaired, the asset is written dawfair value, which is based either on discountashcflows or appraised values in the pe
the impairment becomes known. There were no suitk-@owns in 2005, 2004, or 2003.

J. Goodwill

Goodwill results from business acquisitions. Thegooation accounts for business acquisitions hycaling the purchase price to tangible
intangible assets and liabilities. Assets acquéned liabilities assumed are recorded at theinalnes, and the excess of the purchase price
the amounts allocated is recorded as goodwill. FEm@verability of goodwill is subject to an annulpairment test, or whenever an e\
occurs or circumstances change that would moréyltken not result in an impairment. The impairmest is based on the estimated fair v
of the underlying businesses. See Note 6 for fuiitifermation on goodwill.

K. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS No. 107, “Disclosure About Fair Value of Fioeh Instruments,’requires certain disclosures regarding the faiueabdf financie
instruments. Due to the short maturities of cash@ash equivalents, accounts receivable, accoaythte, and accrued expenses, the net
value of these financial instruments are deemexppwoximate fair value.

The estimated fair values of the Corporat®fixed rate debt instruments at December 31, 2ififfegated $357.9 million compared -
carrying value of $349.8 million. The carrying amowf the variable interest rate debt approximéiddérsvalue because the interest rates
reset periodically to reflect current market cordis. Fair values for the Corporation’s fixed rdébt were estimated by management.

Page 43




The fair values described above may not be indieadf net realizable value or reflective of futfia& values. Furthermore, the use of diffe
methodologies to determine the fair value of carfaiancial instruments could result in a differestimate of fair value at the reporting date.

L. Research and Development

The Corporation funds research and developmentr@neg for commercial products and independent reBeand development and bid
proposal work related to government contracts. graent costs include engineering and field supportnew customer requiremer
Corporation-sponsored research and developmerg aosexpensed as incurred.

Research and development costs associated witbhncessponsored programs are charged to inventory anteaceded in cost of sales wt
products are delivered or services performed.

M. Environmental Costs

The Corporation establishes a reserve for a peatestivironmental remediation liability on a site biye basis when it concludes th:
determination of legal liability is probable andethmount of the liability can be reasonably estadabased on current law and exis
technologies. Such amounts, if quantifiable, reftee Corporatiors estimate of the amount of that liability. If ordyrange of potential liabili
can be estimated and no amount within the rangeoi® probable than another, a reserve will be &skedal at the low end of that range.
sites involving multiple parties, the Corporatioccales environmental liabilities based upon itseetpd share of the liability, taking it
account the financial viability of other jointlyalble partners. Such reserves, which are reviewediteyly, are adjusted as assessmen
remediation efforts progress or as additional im@ation becomes available. Approximately 80% of@uweporations environmental reserves
of December 31, 2005 represent the current valugnti€ipated remediation costs and are not disemuptimarily due to the uncertainty
timing of expenditures. The remaining environmengslerves are discounted to reflect the time vafuaoney since the amount and timing
cash payments for the liability are reliably deterable. All environmental reserves exclude any ptigt recovery from insurance carriers
third-party legal actions.

N. Accounting for Stoc-Based Compensation

In accordance with SFAS No. 123, “Accounting foo-Based Compensation” (“FAS 123"), the Corpomatidected to account for its stock-
based compensation using the intrinsic value metimtker Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 2Bccounting for Stock Issued
Employees”. As such, the Corporation does not neizegcompensation expense on mualified stock options granted to employees urtile
Corporation’s 1995 or 2005 Long-Term Incentive Rigoe “1995 LTI Plan” or the “2005 LTI Planm&spectively), when the exercise price of
options is equal to the market price of the undegystock on the date of the grant, or on wmomdified stock options granted under
Corporation’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPIR"December 2004, the FASB issued FAS 123 (revi2@04) (“FAS 123R")unde
which, the Corporation will begin to expense stagkion grants beginning in the first quarter 20Ptease se®ecently Issued Account
Standarddor further information on this standard.

Pro forma information regarding net earnings anthiegs per share is required by FAS 123 and has betermined as if the Corporation

accounted for its employee stock option grants utftefair value method prescribed by that Statemeformation with regard to the num|
of options granted, market price of the grantstingsequirements, and the maximum term of theasgtigranted appears by plan type in |
12. The fair value of the LTI Plan options was restied at the date of grant using a Bl&wtoles option pricing model with the follow
weighted-average assumptions:

2005 2004 2003
Risk-free interest rat 4.52% 3.8% 3.68%
Expected volatility 23.21% 31.3% 31.6¢%
Expected dividend yiel 0.8€6% 0.6%% 0.94%
Weightec-average option lifi 7 year: 7 year: 7 year
Weightec-average gra-date fair value of optior $18.1: $21.4: $13.97
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The fair value of the ESPP options was estimatdtieatlate of grant using a Black-Scholes optionipgi model with the following weighted-
average assumptions:

2005 2004
Risk-free interest rat 2.86% 1.33%
Expected volatility 30.98¥% 23.99¥%
Expected dividend yiel 0.33% 0.35%
Weightec-average option lifi 0.5 year 0.5 year
Weightec-average gra-date fair value of optior $13.3¢ $11.2:

The Corporation’s pro forma information for the y@anded December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 idlaw/$o

(In thousands, except per share data) 2005 2004 2003
Net earnings: As reporte $ 75280 $ 65066 $ 52,26¢
Deduct: Total stoc-based employee compensation expense determined fairdealue
based method for all awards, net of related teects (2,56%) (1,862) (1,267
Pro forma $ 72,71 $ 63200 $ 51,00

Net earnings per shar
As reported

Basic $ 34¢ % 307 % 2.5

Diluted $ 3.44 $ 3.02 $ 2.5C
Pro forma:

Basic $ 33 % 29¢ % 2.47

Diluted $ 332 $ 29 % 2.4¢

The Corporation receives tax deductions relatetiecexercise of nogualified LTI Plan options and disqualifying disftams of stock grante
under the ESPP, the offset of which is recordeeljmity. The tax benefit of these deductions tot&@8@ million, $3.5 million, and $1.7 millic
in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

O. Capital Stock

On May 24, 2005, the Corporation completed a realipétion that resulted in the combination of tBerporations two classes of comm
stock into a single new class by converting allstaniding shares of Common stock and Class B conmstaok into a single new class
common stock. The recapitalization was accomplistedugh a merger of a wholly owned subsidiary ittie Corporation, in which t|
outstanding shares of Common stock and Class B aonstock were exchanged for shares of the singlesabf Common stock. The rela
ownership of the Corporation’s new class of Comrstmtk was the same immediately after the mergéneass immediately prior.

In addition to the recapitalization, in May 2006aseholders approved a proposal to increase thdeushares of Common stock authorize:
issuance from 45 million shares to 100 million isar

On May 23, 2003, the stockholders approved an &s&ren the number of authorized shares of the Catipo’s Common stock fro
11,250,000 to 33,750,000. On November 18, 2003Btherrd of Directors declared a 2-fbrstock split in the form of a 100% stock divide
The split, in the form of 1 share of Common stogkdach share of Common stock outstanding and e sifaClass B common stock for e
share of Class B common stock outstanding, washpaym December 17, 2003. To effectuate the stplik the Corporation issued 5,993,¢
original shares of Common stock and 4,382,400 maigshares of Class B common stock, at $1.00 plaevisom capital surplus, with
corresponding reduction in retained earnings of.4Xillion. Accordingly, all references throughatiis Annual Report on Form 1K-to
number of shares, per share amounts, stock opdiatas and market prices of the Corporatsomo classes of common stock have been ad;
to reflect the effect of the stock split for allripels presented, where applicable. On Februaryp@6 2the Board of Directors declared a 2-for-
stock split in the form of a 100% stock dividendrtRer information of the Corporation's recentlypannced stock split is disclosed in Note 19.
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The Corporation is authorized to repurchase 900920es under its existing stock repurchase progPanchases are authorized to be r
from time to time in the open market or privatelygotiated transactions, depending on market angr @bnditions, whenever managen
believes that the market price of the stock dogsadequately reflect the true value of the Corporaand, therefore, represented an attra
investment opportunity. The shares are held at @odtreissuance is recorded at the weightestage cost. Through December 31, 200=
Corporation had repurchased 210,930 shares undgsrtigram. There was no stock repurchased duf0§,2004, and 2003.

P. Earnings Per Share

The Corporation is required to report both basimiegs per share (“EPS”), based on the weiglaesFage number of Common and Cla:
shares outstanding, and diluted earnings per shased on the basic EPS adjusted for all poteytiilitive shares issuable. The calculatio
EPS is disclosed in Note 11.

Q. Income Taxes

The Corporation applies SFAS No. 109, “Accounting lihcome Taxes.Under the asset and liability method of SFAS N®, ldeferred ta
assets and liabilities are recognized for futuredansequences attributable to differences betwhrerinancial statement carrying amount
existing assets and liabilities and their respectax bases. The effect on deferred tax assethadnilities of a change in tax laws is recogni
in the results of operations in the period the iems are enacted. A valuation allowance is recotdeeduce the carrying amounts of defe
tax assets unless it is more likely than not thahsassets will be realized.

R. Foreign Currency Translation

For operations outside the United States of Amdtied prepare financial statements in currencidgrothan the U.S. dollar, the Corpora
translates assets and liabilities at period-ench&xge rates and income statement amounts usinghtedi@verage exchange rates for
period. The cumulative effect of translation adjushts is presented as a component of accumulatert obmprehensive income wit
stockholdersequity. This balance is affected by foreign curgeegchange rate fluctuations and by the acquisiioforeign entities. Gains a
losses from foreign currency transactions are oheadlin results of operations.

S. Derivatives

The Corporation has used interest rate swaps amaid foreign currency contracts to manage its sypoto fluctuations in interest rates «
portion of its fixed rate debt instruments and fgnecurrency rates at its foreign subsidiaries. Tdreign currency contracts are marke
market with changes in the fair value reportechitcome in the period of change. The interest ratgpsagreements have been accounted -
fair value hedges. The interest rate swaps werarded at fair value on the balance sheet withiotioneurrent assets with changes in
value recorded currently in earnings. Additionatlye carrying amount of the associated debt wasstatj through earnings for changes in
value due to change in interest rates. Ineffecéigsris recognized to the extent that these twesadgnts do not offset. The interest rate ¢
agreements were assumed to be perfectly effectideruthe ‘short cut methodf SFAS 133. The differential to be paid or recdivmsed ¢
changes in interest rates was recorded as an adjosto interest expense in the statement of egsniddditional information on these sv
agreements is presented in Note 10.

T. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123ideelv2004), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatidhis Statement requires
public entity to measure the cost of employee ses/received in exchange for an award of equityungents based on the gratdte fair valu
of the award (with limited exceptions). That costl e recognized over the period during which ampéoyee is required to provide servic
exchange for the awardthe requisite service period (usually the vestiagqa). No compensation cost is recognized for tggostruments fc
which employees do not render the requisite serogployee share purchase plans will not resule@ognition of compensation cost if cer
conditions are met; those conditions are much #mesas the related conditions in Statement 123 Bté@tement is effective as of
beginning of the first interim or annual reportipgriod that begins after June 15, 2005. The Cotjpora&xpects the adoption of this staten
to have a pre-tax expense of approximately $5 onilbn operating income in 2006.
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In June 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “ActiognChanges and Error CorrectionsA-Replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 ¢
FASB Statement No. 3” (“FAS 154"This Statement requires that a voluntary changeaounting principle be applied retrospectivelyrwvatl
prior period financial statements presented onlhsis of the new accounting principle, unless itmgracticable to do so. FAS 154 ¢
provides that (1) a change in method of depre@atinamortizing a londived nonfinancial asset be accounted for as a gdan estimal
(prospectively) that was effected by a change itoanting principle, and (2) correction of errorspreviously issued financial stateme
should be termed a “restatemerniftie new standard is effective for accounting charaged correction of errors made in fiscal yeardrireqg
after December 15, 2005. Early adoption of this:dtad is permitted for accounting changes and ctiore of errors made in fiscal ye
beginning after June 1, 2005. The Corporation dustsanticipate that the adoption of this statemeitit have a material impact on t
Corporation’s results of operation or financial diion.

In March of 2005, the FASB issued FIN No. 47, “Aoating for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligatienan interpretation of FAS
Statement No. 143.” This Interpretation clarifibattthe term “conditional asset retirement obligiaitias used in FASB Statement No.
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligationséfers to a legal obligation to perform an assgtement activity in which the timing and (
method of settlement are conditional on a futurenéthat may or may not be within the control af #ntity. The obligation to perform the a:
retirement activity is unconditional even thougtcerainty exists about the timing and (or) methdédeattlement. Thus, the timing and |
method of settlement may be conditional on a fuewent. Accordingly, an entity is required to reciag a liability for the fair value of
conditional asset retirement obligation if the fedtue of the liability can be reasonably estimafite fair value of a liability for the conditiot
asset retirement obligation should be recognizednwihcurred—generally upon acquisition, construction, or depeient and (or) through t
normal operation of the asset. Uncertainty aboeittitning and (or) method of settlement of a coodiil asset retirement obligation shoul
factored into the measurement of the liability wheifficient information exists. Statement 143 acklealges that in some cases, suffic
information may not be available to reasonablyneste the fair value of an asset retirement obligafThis Interpretation also clarifies wher
entity would have sufficient information to reasblyaestimate the fair value of an asset retiremelpligation. The adoption of tt
interpretation did not have a material impact an@orporation’s results of operation or financiahdition.

2. ACQUISITIONS

The Corporation acquired one business in 2005¢essribed below. In addition, the Corporation pusatheleven businesses in 2004 and ¢
businesses in 2003. The 2003 purchases, as wellnasof the 2004 purchases, are described in metaildoelow. The remaining tv
businesses acquired in 2004 had an aggregate gergrice of $1.1 million and are not consideredemiatt All acquisitions have be
accounted for as purchases with the excess ofut@hase price over the estimated fair value ofriétetangible and intangible assets acqt
recorded as goodwill. The Corporation makes prelani estimates of the purchase price allocationsluding the value of identifiak
intangibles with a finite life, and records amaatipn based upon the estimated useful life of thotmgible assets identified. The Corpora
will adjust these estimates based upon analysthiaf party appraisals, when deemed appropriaté,the determination of fair value, wt
finalized, within twelve months from acquisition.

The following unaudited pro forma financial infortitan shows the results of operations for the yesmded December 31, 2005 and 200
though the 2005 and 2004 acquisitions had occwnedanuary 1, 2004. The unaudited pro forma pratientreflects adjustments for (i)
amortization of acquired intangible assets, (iipr@eiation of fixed assets at their acquired fatues, (iii) additional interest expense
acquisitionrelated borrowings, (iv) the issuance of stock assideration, and (v) the income tax effect on gghe forma adjustments, usi
local statutory rates. The pro forma adjustmenitsted to certain acquisitions are based on prelnyipurchase price allocations. Differer
between the preliminary and final purchase pridecations could have a significant impact on thaudited pro forma financial informati
presented. The unaudited pro forma financial intion below is presented for illustrative purposely and is not necessarily indicative of
operating results that would have been achievedtidcquisition been completed as of the date#@ted above or the results that ma
obtained in the future.
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Unaudited (In thousands) 2005 2004

Revenue $ 1,135370 $ 1,060,78!
Net earning: $ 74,82 % 68,28
Diluted earnings per sha $ 341 % 3.1¢F

The results of each acquired business have be&mettin the consolidated financial results of @@ poration from the date of acquisitior
the segment indicated as follows:

FLOW CONTROL
Engineered Pump Division

On November 10, 2004, the Corporation acquiredacerssets of the Government Marine Business Uwisidn of Flowserve Corporatic
subsequently renamed the Engineered Pump DiviSEiR{"). The effective date of the acquisition was Novenihet004. The purchase pri
subject to customary adjustments provided for i &sset Purchase Agreement, was $28.1 million shand the assumption of cer
liabilities. The purchase price was funded fromddravailable under the Corporati@ntevolving credit facilities. The excess of theghas:
price over the fair value of the net assets acduse7.6 million at December 31, 2005. Revenugb®fpurchased business were $26.4 m
for the year ended December 31, 2003.

EPD is a leading designer and manufacturer of fighigineered, critical function pumps for the UN&vy nuclear submarine and airc
carrier programs and nanclear surface ships. EPD is the sole source mupgdlmain and auxiliary seawater, fresh wated aooling pump:
coolant purification pumps, injection, chilled wgtand other critical pumps. Approximately 85% bistbusiness supports nuclear progr:
and 15% supports namiclear naval surface programs. EPD has a strodggeswing aftermarket business for repairs, refhbients, ar
parts, which constitutes approximately 45% of tstes. EPD’s operations are located in Phillipgbdew Jersey.

Groquip

On July 12, 2004, the Corporation acquired the tanting stock of Groth Equipment Corporation of istana (“Groquip”).The purchas
price, subject to customary adjustments providedrnféhe Stock Purchase Agreement, was $4.5 mifbayable in approximately 18,000 shi
of the Corporatiors restricted Common stock valued at $1.0 milliod eash of $3.5 million, and the assumption of déediabilities. The cas
portion of the purchase price was funded from ¢rediilable under the Corporatienrevolving credit facilities. The purchase p
approximated the fair value of the net assets aedus of December 31, 2005.

Groquip is a market leader in the hydrocarbon drehical processing industries. Groquip providesipots and services for various pressure-
related processes that ensure safe operation guthtery compliance. Groquip is a manufactusesales representative for rupture d
conservation vents, fire and gas detectors, ansspre relief valves. They also provide field andhop service and repairs for pressure 1
valves and a variety of specialty valves. Grogsipnéadquartered in Geismar, Louisiana and hasea aal service center located in Sulg
Louisiana. Revenues of the acquired business wid $nillion for the twelve months ended June IM4A

NOVA

On May 24, 2004, the Corporation acquired certasets of NOVA Machine Products Corporation (“NOVAThe purchase price was $2
million in cash and the assumption of certain litibs. The purchase price was funded from creditilable under the Corporatianievolving
credit facilities. There are provisions in the agnent for additional payments upon the achieverérertain financial performance crite
through 2009 up to a maximum additional paymen$@® million. Through December 31, 2005, the Coaion has made no payment:
additional consideration under these provisiong &kcess of the purchase price over the fair valube net assets acquired is $5.0 millic
December 31, 2005.

NOVA is one of the largest suppliers of sa-related fasteners to the U.S. nuclear power indumtd the Department of Energy and
provides a wide range of manufactured and distithyroducts and related services. NOVA is headgreattin Middleburg Heights, Ohio, w
distribution centers in Glendale Heights, Illino&g)d Decatur, Alabama, and five sales offices thinout the U.S. Revenues of the acqt
business were $17.1 million for the year ended e 31, 2003.
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On September 1, 2005, NOVA acquired the HydraNatlpct line and related intellectual property of Aieafast International, a wholly owr
subsidiary of Tech Novus Pty. Ltd of Brisbane, Aaka (“Technofast”).The acquisition of this product line replaced a&tising agreeme
between NOVA and Technofast, which was part ofabguired assets of the Corporation’s acquisitioNOWVA in 2004.

The purchase price of $8.0 million included aniahitash payment of $4.5 million and will requiraagterly cash payments calculated
percentage of sales of the product line, not teedc$3.5 million over an eight year period. Any a@mng purchase price unpaid at the er
eight years will expire unpaid. The Corporatiorireates this liability will be paid down within fivgears.

The acquisition of this technology was accountedafan acquisition of intangible assets. As stieh Corporation has estimated the fair v
of the future payments as of September 1, 200% 30 million and has recorded a liability. Theangible asset was capitalized as devel
technology in the amount of $7.5 million and wi Bmortized over its 20 year useful life.

The HydraNut fastener provides simple and accueatsioning in safety risk situations and hard toess areas for customers in nuclear p
generation, industrial, and other energy markets.

Trentec

On May 24, 2004, the Corporation acquired certaisets of Trentec, Inc. (“Trentec”Jhe purchase price, subject to customary adjust
provided for in the Asset Purchase Agreement, w3 million, payable in approximately 280,000 &saof the Corporatior’ restricte
Common stock valued at $13.0 million, cash of $@iBion, and the assumption of certain liabiliti@$he excess of the purchase price ove
fair value of the net assets acquired is $5.3 omilikit December 31, 2005.

In August 2005, the Corporation completed negatietiwith the sellers of Trentec regarding a mbssing dispute. The settlement resulte
$0.9 million of recovery, which is included in oping income for 2005, and $0.1 million of additbrconsideration paid under the work
capital adjustment, which increased the purchasee pf the acquired business. The effect of thdleseent was treated as a noast
transaction for purposes of preparing the staterobnash flows as the net settlement of $0.8 mmilleas effectuated through the forfeitur
the cash holdback in the same amount.

Trentec’s services include specialty equipmenti¢altion, diamond wiresaw cutting, nuclear powemplequipment qualification, and third-
party dedication and supply of nuclear componéhisntecs operations are located in Cincinnati, Ohio. Reresrof the acquired business v
$13.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.

MOTION CONTROL
Indal Technologies, Inc.

On March 1, 2005, the Corporation acquired thetanting stock of the parent corporation of IndatAmlogies, Inc. (“Indal”)The purchas
price was 80.3 million Canadian dollars ($64.7 imil) in cash and was funded from credit availabidar the Corporatios’revolving cred
facilities.

The purchase price of the acquisition has beeringirerily allocated to the net tangible and intdigiassets acquired, with the remai
recorded as goodwill, on the basis of estimatadvidues as of December 31, 2005, as follows:

(In thousands)

Net working capita $ 16,21¢
Property, plant, and equipme 11,324
Intangible asset 21,45¢
Deferred income tax liabilitie (11,319
Net tangible and intangible ass 37,68!
Purchase price, including capitalized acquisitioats 64,71t
Goodwill $ 27,03
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The estimated excess of the purchase price ovdaithealue of the net assets acquired is $28.8aniht December 31, 2005, including fore
currency translation adjustment gains of $1.8 omlliThe fair value of the net assets acquired vaagd on current estimates. The Corpor:
may adjust these estimates based upon analydig@arty appraisals and the final determinatibfao value.

Indal provides shipboard helicopter handling systdéomn naval applications with a global installegs®an over 200 ships, including more 1
100 systems deployed in the U.S. Navy. Irsl&ighly engineered, proprietary products enabliedygters to land aboard naval vessels in r
sea conditions. Indal also designs and manufactpesialized telescopic hangars that provide ptiotedor helicopters aboard ships and c
handling systems for naval sonar applications. lliml&eadquartered near Toronto, Ontario, CanagaeRues of the acquired business 1
49.4 million Canadian dollars ($38.2 million) fdwetyear ended December 31, 2004.

Synergy

On August 31, 2004, the Corporation acquired thistanding stock of Synergy Microsystems, Inc (“Sgy&). The purchase price was $4
million in cash and was funded from credit avaiéabhder the Corporatias’revolving credit facilities. Under the terms bétagreement, t
Corporation deposited $2.5 million into escrow eswsity for potential indemnification claims agditise seller. Any escrow remaining a
claims for indemnification have been settled wélaid to the seller 18 months from the acquisitlate by the escrow agent. The excess ¢
purchase price over the fair value of the net asmsequired is $31.3 million at December 31, 2005.

Synergy specializes in the design, manufacture iatelgration of single- and multi-processor, singterd computers for VME a
CompactPCI systems to meet the needs of demaneijme applications in military, aerospace, industsiad commercial markets. Syne
is headquartered in San Diego, California and hfidity in Tucson, Arizona. Revenues of the acgdibusiness were $17.5 million for
year ended December 31, 20

Primagraphics

On May 28, 2004, the Corporation acquired the aatding stock of Primagraphics Holdings Limited {fRagraphics”).The purchase pric
subject to customary adjustments provided for @ $tock Purchase Agreement, wd®.5 million ($22.4 million) in cash. The purchgsice
was funded from credit available under the Corponrds revolving credit facilities. The estimated exce$she purchase price over the
value of the net assets acquired is $13.7 millioDexember 31, 2005, including foreign currencystation adjustment losses of $0.6 million.

Primagraphics is a market leader in the developrokradar processing and graphic display systered ttgoughout the world for military a
commercial applications, such as ship and airbcomemand and control consoles, vessel trackingyaffic control, and air defense syste
Primagraphics’products include graphics and imaging technologigtgo and sensor processing hardware, and softthatecan be readi
engineered to provide vital components for a widdety of systems. Primagraphics is headquarteead @ambridge in the United Kingdc
with an additional facility in Charlottesville, \gimia, and a worldwide network of dealers and dhstors. Revenues of the acquired busi
were £6.8 million ($10.9 million) for the fiscal geended June 30, 2003.
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Dy 4

On January 31, 2004, the Corporation acquired tistanding stock of Dy 4 Systems, Inc. and Dy 4S(JInc. (collectively “Dy 4”).The
purchase price was $110.4 million in cash and gsamption of certain liabilities. Management fundlee purchase price with cash on F
and from the Corporatioga’revolving credit facilities. The purchase pri@sibeen allocated to the net tangible and intaagibkets acquire
with the remainder recorded as goodwill, on thasakfair values as of December 31, 2005, as ¥aito

(In thousands)

Net working capita $ 10,66¢
Property, plant, and equipme 6,23¢
Deferred tax liabilitie: (9,840
Intangible asset 40,54¢
Net tangible and intangible ass 47,61:
Purchase price, including capitalized acquisitioats 110,37¢
Goodwill $ 62,76

Dy 4 is considered a market leader in ruggedizebesided computing solutions for the defense andspaoe industries. Using stand.
commercially available computing technologies, nefé to as commercial-off-thghelf, Dy 4 customizes the products to performatdyi ir
rugged conditions, such as extreme temperaturesinerand speed. The acquisition was made primaoilgomplement the Corporati@n
existing businesses that serve the embedded camputirket. Based in Ottawa, Canada, Dy 4 also Hasility in Virginia and a sales offi
in the United Kingdom. Revenues of the purchaseinass for the fiscal year ending August 29, 20@8ev$72.4 million.

Novatronics/Pickering

On December 4, 2003, the Corporation acquired fathe outstanding stock of Novatronics Inc. (“Nawatics”) and Pickering Controls Ir
(“Pickering”). The purchase price was $13.6 million in cash amdasumption of certain liabilities and was funeéth proceeds from tt
Senior Notes issued in September 2003. The exdéebe purchase price over the fair value of theassiets acquired as of December 31,
is $6.4 million, including foreign currency transtan adjustment gains of $0.3 million.

Novatronics and Pickering design and manufactuzeteét motors and position sensors (both linear raary) for the commercial aerospe
military aerospace, and industrial markets. Novat® has operating facilities located in Stratfd@ohtario, Canada, while Pickering is loce
in Plainview, NY. Revenues of the purchased busimesre $12.0 million for the year ended Decembe2802.

Systran Corporation

On December 1, 2003, the Corporation acquiredfate outstanding shares of Systran Corporatioggtian”). The purchase price was $1
million in cash and the assumption of certain liibs and was funded with proceeds from the SeNiotes issued in September 2003.
excess of the purchase price over the fair valubehet assets acquired as of December 31, 2@®agmillion.

Systran is a leading supplier of highly specializeih performance data communications productsrdattime systems, primarily for tl
aerospace and defense, industrial automation, adical imaging markets. Key applications includedation, process control, advan
digital signal processing, data acquisition, imggecessing, and test and measurement. Systi@gmérations are located in Dayton, C
Revenues of the purchased business were $15.bmiidi the year ended September 30, 2003.
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Peritek Corporation

On August 1, 2003, the Corporation acquired thetasand certain liabilities of Peritek CorporatigReritek”). The purchase price was $
million in cash and the assumption of certain liibs. The purchase price of the acquisition agpnates the fair value of the net as
acquired as of December 31, 2005, which includesldped technology of approximately $2.6 million.

Peritek is a leading supplier of video and graptigplay boards for the embedded computing induatrg supplies a variety of industt
including aviation, defense, and medical. In additiPeritek supplies products for bomb detectindystrial automation, and medical imag
applications. Peritek’ operations are located in Oakland, CaliforniavéRees of the purchased business for the fiscal greding March 3:
2003 were $2.7 million.

Collins Technologies

On February 28, 2003, the Corporation acquiredaigets of Collins Technologies (“CollinsThe purchase price was $11.8 million in ¢
and the assumption of certain liabilities. Managenfended the purchase price from credit availailder the Corporation’s Shoferm Credi
Agreement. The excess of the purchase price oedathvalue of the net assets acquired as of Dbeeil, 2005 is $6.2 million.

Collins designs and manufactures linear variablpldcement transducers (“LVDTs}rimarily for aerospace flight and engine cor
applications. Industrial LVDTs are used mostly maustrial automation and test applications. Cdllimgerations are located in Long Be
California. Revenues of the purchased business $&@million for the year ended March 31, 2002.

METAL TREATMENT
Everlube

On April 2, 2004, the Corporation purchased thewssf the Everlube Products division (“Everlubef)Morgan Advanced Ceramics, Inc. -
purchase price was $6.5 million in cash and therapsion of certain liabilities. The purchase pngas funded from credit available under
Corporations revolving credit facilities. The estimated excekthe purchase price over the fair value of theassets acquired is $3.3 mill
at December 31, 2005.

Everlube is a pioneer and leader in manufacturoigl ilm lubricant (“SFL") and other specialty engineered coatings with mbaa t18I
formulations available. Everlubgengineered coatings improve the functional peréorce of metal components in lubrication, tempeeatan:
corrosion resistance. Everlube is located in Peaehtity, Georgia. Revenues of the acquired busimese $3.9 million for the year enc
December 31, 2003.

Evesham

On February 24, 2004, the Corporation purchaseddkets of the Evesham coatings business locatkd idnited Kingdom (“Eveshamfjom
Morgan Advanced Ceramics, Ltd. The purchase prias 8.5 million ($6.5 million) in cash and the assuroptiof certain liabilities. Tt
purchase price was funded from credit availablesutide Corporatios revolving credit facilities. The excess of theghase price over the f
value of the net assets acquired is $2.0 milliobetember 31, 2005, including foreign currencydfation adjustment losses of $0.2 million.

Evesham manufactures and applies an extensive rahdg&L coatings, which provide lubrication, coiioss resistance, and enhan
engineering performance. Revenues of the acquinsthéss were £2.6 million ($4.2 million) for theayeended December 31, 2003.

E/M Engineered Coatings Solutions

On April 2, 2003, the Corporation purchased setketesets of E/M Engineered Coatings Solutions (“EXd&tings”).The purchase price w
$16.8 million in cash and the assumption of certihilities. The purchase price was funded froradirr available under the Corporatien’
Short-Term Credit Agreement. The excess of the purchase pver the fair value of the net assets acquaedf December 31, 2005 is ¢
million.
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The Corporation acquired six E/M Coatings facifitieperating in Chicago, lllinois; Detroit, MichigaMinneapolis, Minnesota; Hartfo
Connecticut; and North Hollywood and ChatsworthlifGania. Combined, these facilities are one of thading providers of SFL coatings
the United States. The E/M Coatings facilities héwe capability of applying over 1,100 differentatiogs to impart lubrication, corrosi
resistance, and certain cosmetic and dielectripgrtes to selected components. Revenues of ttehased business were approximately
million for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Advanced Material Process

On March 11, 2003, the Corporation acquired setectet assets of Advanced Material Process CorpMPA, a private company wi
operations located in Wayne, Michigan. The purchasee was $6.0nillion in cash and the assumption of certain liibs. There ar
provisions in the agreement for additional paymeren the achievement of certain financial perfaragacriteria through 2008 up t
maximum additional payment of $1.0 million. As oé&@mber 31, 2005, the Corporation has paid $0.liomih such additional consideratis
Management funded the purchase from credit availabter the Corporation’s Sharerm Credit Agreement. The excess of the purchese
over the fair value of the net assets acquired &eoember 31, 2005 is $1.4 million.

AMP is a supplier of commercial shot peening sawiprimarily to the automotive market in the Ddtaiea. Revenues of the purche
business were $5.1 million for the year ended Déxar1, 2002.

3. RECEIVABLES

Receivables include current notes, amounts bilkedustomers, claims and other receivables, andledhievenue on longerm contract:
consisting of amounts recognized as sales butiletl bSubstantially all amounts of unbilled recaives are expected to be billed and colle
in the subsequent year.

Credit risk is generally diversified due to theglarnumber of entities comprising the Corporationustomer base and their geogra
dispersion. The Corporation is either a prime awttr or subcontractor of various agencies of tte Government. Revenues derived dire
and indirectly from government sources (primariig J.S. Government) were 48%, 47%, and 46% of diladed revenues in 2005, 2004,
2003, respectively. As of December 31, 2005 and42@e&counts receivable due directly or indirecttgni these government sour
represented 52% and 42% of net receivables, régplyctSales to one customer through which the @@ton is a subcontractor to the L
Government were 10% of consolidated revenues ib 208% in 2004, and 16% in 2003. No single custoaveounted for more than 10%
the Corporation’s net receivables as of Decembge305 and 2004.

The Corporation performs ongoing credit evaluatiohgs customers and establishes appropriate aloes for doubtful accounts based
factors surrounding the credit risk of specifictomsers, historical trends, and other information.

The composition of receivables is as follows:

(In thousands) December 31 2005 2004

Billed receivables

Trade and other receivabl $ 171,200 $ 156,89:
Less: Allowance for doubtful accour (5,457 (4,01])
Net billed receivable 165,75( 152,88

Unbilled receivables

Recoverable costs and estimated earnings not | 107,61¢ 79,15¢

Less: Progress payments app! (28,679 (17,957
Net unbilled receivable 78,93¢ 61,20«
Receivables, ne $ 244,68¢ $ 214,08

The net receivable balance at December 31, 2005ded $18.4 million related to the Corporation’93@cquisition.

Page 53



4. INVENTORIES

In accordance with industry practice, inventoriezste contain amounts relating to lotgm contracts and programs with long produc
cycles, a portion of which will not be realized kit one year. Inventories are valued at the lowerost (principally average cost) or mar

The composition of inventories is as follows:

(In thousands) December 31,

2005 2004
Raw materia $ 59,33 $ 49,61¢
Work-in-proces: 43,09¢ 35,157
Finshed goods and component p. 52,82¢ 50,11%
Inventoried costs related to U.S. Government ahdrdbn¢-term contract: 27,53 19,39¢
Gross inventorie 182,79: 154,28t
Less: Inventory reserve (25,37 (26,27¢)
Progress payments applied, principally relatesta-term contract: (11,119 (22,03)
Inventories, ne $ 146,290 $ 115,97

The net inventory balance at December 31, 2005idted $5.0 million related to the Corporation’s 2@@guisition.

5. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

The composition of property, plant, and equipmeras follows:

(In thousands) December 31,

2005 2004

Land $ 16,828 $ 12,56:
Buildings and improvemen 111,40¢ 101,47¢
Machinery, equipment, and otk 362,01¢ 340,36
Property, plant, and equipment, at ¢ 490,25: 454,40:.
Less: Accumulated depreciati (215,43) (189,159
Property, plant, and equipment, | $ 274,82: $ 265,24

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenihex0®5, 2004, and 2003 was $36.0 million, $32.Hioni and $27.7 million, respective

The net property, plant, and equipment balancesaeber 31, 2005 included $11.6 million relatetheCorporation’s 2005 acquisition.

Page 54




6. GOODWILL
Goodwill consists primarily of the excess purchpsee of acquisitions over the fair value of the agsets acquired.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwillZ605 and 2004 are as follows:

Flow Motion Metal

(In thousands) Control Control Treatment Consolidated

December 31, 200 $ 9341t $ 11085( $ 1579C $ 220,05¢
Goodwill from 2004 acquisition 17,07( 109,20° 5,411 131,68¢
Change in estimate to fair value of net assetsiesdjin prior year: (2,260 34 (872) (3,09%)
Additional consideration of prior ye¢ acquisitions 5,771 4,02 20 9,821
Foreign currency translation adjustm 1,19 4,464 182 5,84:
December 31, 200 $ 115,20 $ 22857¢ $ 2053 % 364,31
Goodwill from 2005 acquisition — 27,03 — 27,03
Change in estimate to fair value of net assetsiegdjin prior year: 1,07¢ (53€) — 534
Additional consideration of prior ye¢ acquisitions 1,241 62¢ 60 1,93(
Foreign currency translation adjustm (344) (4,810 (499) (5,657%)
December 31, 200 $ 117,16¢ $ 250,89¢ $ 20,09 $ 388,15t

Additional consideration of prior yearatquisitions includes accruals of $0.4 million &&I5 million for the years ended December 31, :
and 2004, respectively, related to earn out andratbquired contractual payments. These amountslassified in other current liabilities
additional amounts due to sellers.

During 2005, the Corporation finalized the allooatbf the purchase price for all businesses acgjyirer to 2005. None of the goodwill on
2005 acquisition is deductible for tax purposesilevapproximately $29 million of the goodwill onasitions made during 2004 is deduct
for tax purposes.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Corporatiomgleted its annual impairment test of goodwill iB08 and concluded there was
impairment of goodwill.

7. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Intangible assets are generally the result of atfipms and consist primarily of purchased techgg)@ustomer related intangibles, tradem
and service marks, and technology licenses. Indmgissets are amortized over useful lives thagedetween 1 and 20 years.

The following table summarizes the intangible assetquired (including their weightedrerage useful lives) by the Corporation durings
and 2004. Indefinite lived intangible assets ofo$&illion are excluded from the data in the 200dleaNo indefinite lived intangible ass
were purchased in 2005.

(I'n thousands, except years data) 2005 2004
Amount Years Amount Years
Developed technolog $ 17,89 20.C $ 46,85¢ 17.€
Customer related intangibl 11,107 17.7 39,96: 18.7
Other intangible asse 81¢ 135¢ 1,391 8.2
Total $ 29,817 19.C  $ 882U 17.¢
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The following tables present the cumulative comgasiof the Corporation’s acquired intangible asset of December 31:

(In thousands) Accumulated

2005 Gross Amortization Net
Developed technolog $ 9258 $ (13,510 $ 79,07(
Customer related intangibl 74,06: (8,960) 65,10:
Other intangible asse 16,69’ (2,609 14,09
Total $ 183,34 $ (25,07) $ 158,26°
(In thousands) Accumulated

2004 Gross Amortization Net
Developed technolog $ 7597 $ (7,430 $ 68,53¢
Customer related intangibl 62,04¢ (4,2872) 57,76%
Other intangible asse 15,95: (1,889 14,06¢
Total $ 153,97 $ (13,609 $ 140,36¢

The following table presents the changes in théaktnce of other intangibles assets during 2005:

Customer Other
Developed Related Intangible
(In thousands) Technology Intangibles Assets Total
December 31, 200 $ 6853: $ 57,760 $ 14,066 $ 140,36¢
Acquired during 200! 17,89: 11,107 81¢ 29,81%
Amortization expens (6,475) (4,682) (72€) (11,889
Net foreign currency translation adjustm (881) 911 (66) (36)
Total $ 79,07( $ 65,10¢ $ 14,09: $ 158,26

Included in other intangible assets at December2BD5 and 2004 are $9.9 million of intangible assett subject to amortization.
accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Corporation cetepl its annual test of impairment of indefiniteeli intangible assets, and conclu
there was no impairment of value.

Amortization expense for the years ended DecembeP304 and 2003 was $8.3 million and $3.6 millimspectively. The estimated fut
amortization expense of purchased intangible assess follows:

(In thousands)

2006 $ 10,98¢
2007 10,98¢
2008 10,93t
2009 9,84¢
2010 9,342

8. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

(In thousands) December 31, 2005 2004

Accrued compensatic $ 4527C $ 36,52
Accrued commission 5,81¢ 3,851
Accrued taxes other than income ta 4,04¢ 3,64z
Accrued insuranc 4,05 3,17¢
Accrued interes 3,84: 3,17(
Other 11,22( 13,04¢

Total accrued expens $ 7425. $ 63,41




Page 56



Other current liabilities consist of the following:

(In thousands) December 31, 2005 2004

Deferred revenu $ 2163: $ 26,57
Warranty reserve 9,85( 9,667
Additional amounts due to sellers on acquisiti 3,27¢ 10,89¢
Current portion of environmental resen 2,67 1,84:
Other 5,61¢ 3,80¢
Total other current liabilitie $ 43,05 $ 52,79

The accrued expenses and other current liabilgteBecember 31, 2005 included $2.1 million and $&iBion, respectively, related to t
Corporation’s 2005 acquisition.

The Corporation provides its customers with waiiggndn certain commercial and governmental prodismated warranty costs are chal
to expense in the period the related revenue iegrézed based on the terms of the product warrahty,related estimated costs,
guantitative historical claims experience. Thedameges are adjusted in the period in which actesililts are finalized or additional informat
is obtained. The following table presents the clearig the Corporation’s warranty reserves:

(In thousands) 2005 2004

Warranty reserves at January $ 9661 $ 10,01
Provision for current year sal 3,18¢ 3,27¢
Current year claim (2,539 (2,339
Change in estimates to |-existing warrantie (2,700 (2,856
Increase due to acquisitio 1,61¢ 1,13¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm (389) 43€
Warranty reserves at December $ 985 $ 9,661

9. INCOME TAXES

Earnings before income taxes for the years endeember 31 consist of:

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Domestic $ 7744C $ 6596 $ 67,42¢
Foreign 40,85¢ 32,79( 16,62°
Total $ 118,29¢ $ 98,75: $ 84,05¢

The provision for income taxes for the years endedember 31 consist of:

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Current:
Federal $ 2536: $ 21,15¢ $ 17,01¢
State 6,02¢ 5,481 4,10z
Foreign 12,79! 10,54¢ 5,05(C
44,18! 37,18 26,17:
Deferred:
Federal (674 (879 5,032
State 472 (1,969 42€
Foreign (961) (65%) 15¢
(1,169 (3,500 5,617

Provision for income taxe $ 43,01¢ $ 3368 $ 31,78¢
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The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory tax rate for the years ended Decembgpraicipally

2005 2004 2003
U.S. Federal statutory tax re 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Add (deduct).

State and local taxes, net of federal ber 34 1.€ 35
All other, net (2.0 (2.5) (0.7
Effective tax rate 36.4% 34.1% 37.€%

The 2004 effective tax rate included nonrecurriegddits totaling $3.4 million, primarily resultifgom the change in legal structure of on
our subsidiaries and a favorable IRS appeals settie

The components of the Corporation’s deferred taet@sand liabilities at December 31 are as follows:

(In thousands) 2005 2004

Deferred tax asset

Environmental reserve $ 994¢ $ 9,141
Inventories 8,35: 10,73(
Postretirement/postemployment bene 16,45 16,20«
Incentive compensatic 9,20¢ 7,08¢
Accrued vacation pa 4,57( 4,22¢
Warranty reserv 2,36¢ 1,95(
Other 7,607 5,16¢
Total deferred tax asse 58,49t 54,50

Deferred tax liabilities

Retirement plan 10,37¢ 9,44
Depreciatior 21,05« 17,607
Goodwill amortizatior 19,04+ 20,97
Other intangible amortizatic 28,33: 19,07¢
Other 4,41¢ 1,74¢
Total deferred tax liabilitie 83,22: 68,85«
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (24,72) $ (14,350

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflectedhe Corporation’s consolidated balance sheetaeber 31 as follows:

(In thousands) 2005 2004

Current deferred tax asst $ 28,84 $ 25,69
Noncurrent deferred tax liabilitie (53,570 (40,049
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (24,72) $ (14,350

As of December 31, 2005, the Corporation had saat foreign net operating loss carryforwards ob3@illion, after tax. The state r
operating loss carryforwards expire through the g823. The foreign net operating loss carryforvgdrdve no expiration date.

Income tax payments of $32.3 million were made(f8%, $28.8 million in 2004, and $22.8 million inGX)

No provision has been made for U.S. federal orifloréaxes on that portion of certain foreign sulasids’ undistributed earnings considere:
be permanently reinvested, which at December 305 2@as $28.0 million. It is not practicable to esite the amount of tax that would
payable if these amounts were repatriated to ti;Uowever, it is expected there would be minimaho additional tax because of
availability of foreign tax credits.

On October 22, 2004 the American Jobs CreationofA2004 (the “ACT")was signed into law. The ACT includes a one timpasfunity for
deduction of 85% of certain foreign dividends theg repatriated, as defined in the ACT. Pursuatftisoprovision of the ACT, the Corporat
has repatriated $9.3 million in the fourth quad&R005 with a tax cost of $0.3 million. This taast was net of foreign tax credits which w
not previously provided. The Corporation shoulccbasidered to have satisfied the Section “safe harbc” contained in Notice 20(-10
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since 100% of the required investments pursuatite@ection 965 dividend reinvestment plan have lboezde by the end of the 2005 tax year.
10. DEBT

Debt consists of the following:

(In thousands) December 31, 2005 2004

Industrial Revenue Bonds, due from 2007 througts: $ 1423¢ $ 14,29¢
Revolving Credit Agreement, due 20 — 124,50(
5.13% Senior Notes due 20 74,72¢ 75,32¢
5.74% Senior Notes due 20 125,10¢ 126,79:
5.51% Senior Notes due 20 150,00( —
Other deb 82¢ 1,572
Total debi 364,90: 342,49(
Less: Sho-term debi 88t 1,63(
Total Lon¢-term debt $ 364,01° $ 340,86(

The weighted-average interest rate of the Corpmmailndustrial Revenue Bonds was 2.54% and 1.39%0@% 2nd 2004, respectively. 1
weighted-average interest rate of the Corporati®&golving Credit Agreement was 3.97% and 2.562005 and 2004, respectively.

The carrying amount of the Industrial Revenue Boapproximates fair value as the interest rates anmmable debt are reset periodically
reflect market conditions and rates. Fair valuegtie Corporatiors fixed rate debt totaled $357.9 million and $20%iBion at December 3
2005 and 2004, respectively. These fair values wstignated by management. The fair values descabese may not be indicative of
realizable value or reflective of future fair vasu€urthermore, the use of different methodolotpedetermine the fair value of certain finan
instruments could result in a different estimatéadf value at the reporting date.

Aggregate maturities of debt are as folldis

(In thousands)

2006 $ 88t
2007 5,06(
2008 62
2009 64
2010 125,06¢
Thereaftel 233,92¢
Total $ 365,06!

(1) Amounts exclude a $0.2 million adjustment to thie ¥alue of long-term debt relating to the Corpaats interest rate swap agreements
were settled in cash during 2005.

Interest payments of $18.3 million, $12.1 milli@md $2.6 million were made in 2005, 2004, and 288 ectively.

On December 1, 2005, the Corporation issued $15dlidn of 5.51% Senior Notes (the “2005 NotesThe 2005 Notes mature on Decen
1, 2017. The Notes are senior unsecured obliga@iosare equal in right of payment to the Corporési existing senior indebtedness.

Corporation, at its option, can prepay at any tather any part of the 2005 Notes, subject to aenskole amount in accordance with the te
of the Note Purchase Agreement. In connection With Notes, the Corporation paid customary fees hiaae been deferred and will
amortized over the terms of the Notes. The Corjpmrds required under the Note Purchase Agreeneentdintain certain financial ratios, -
most restrictive of which is a debt to capitaliratiimit of 60% and a cross default provision witle Corporatiors other senior indebtedne
As of December 31, 2005, the Corporation was ing@nce with all covenants.
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In November 2005, the Corporation unwound its iderate swap agreements with notional amount206friillion and $60 million whic
were originally put in place to convert a portiohtlee fixed interest on the $75 million 5.13% Seniotes and $125 million 5.74% Ser
Notes, respectively, to variable rates based onifspe spreads over s-month LIBOR. The unwind of these swap agreemersslted in a ne
loss of $0.2 million, which has been deferred anldding amortized over the remaining term of theenlying debt.

On July 23, 2004, the Corporation amended its iexgjstredit facility, increasing the available liné credit from $225 million to $400 millic
with a group of ten banks. The Corporation plansge the credit line for working capital purpodaggrnal growth initiatives, funding of fut.
acquisitions, and other general corporate purpoBes.credit agreement expires in 2009. Borrowingden the agreement bear interest
floating rate based on market conditions. In additithe Corporatios’ interest rate and level of facility fees dependnmaintaining certa
financial ratios defined in the agreement. The Gmfon is subject to annual facility fees on tleenenitments under the Revolving Cre
Agreement. In connection with the Revolving Cresiifreement, the Corporation paid customary transadies that have been deferred
are being amortized over the term of the agreenidrg. Corporation is required under the agreememhdmtain certain financial ratios
meet certain financial tests as detailed in the@gent, of which the Corporation is in compliant®acember 31, 2005. The unused ci
available under the Revolving Credit Agreement at&@nber 31, 2005 and 2004 was $367.9 million ai® $2million, respectively.

On September 25, 2003, the Corporation issued 82@0lion of Senior Notes (the “2003 NotesThe 2003 Notes consist of $75.0 millior
5.13% Senior Notes that mature on September 28 20d $125.0 million of 5.74% Senior Notes thaturabn September 25, 2013. The Z
Notes are senior unsecured obligations and arel egught of payment to the Corporati's existing senior indebtedness. The Corporatic
its option, can prepay at any time all or any pdrthe 2003 Notes, subject to a maikele amount in accordance with the Note Purc
Agreement. The Corporation paid customary fees tizate been deferred and will be amortized overtémms of the 2003 Notes. T
Corporation is required under the Note Purchaseedment to maintain certain financial ratios, thestn@strictive of which is a debt
capitalization limit of 60% and a cross default pston with the Corporatiols’ other senior indebtedness. As of December 315,20
Corporation was in compliance with all covenants.

At December 31, 2005, substantially all of the isttiial revenue bond issues are collateralized blyastate, machinery, and equipment. Ce
of these issues are supported by letters of crethiich total $13.7 million. The Corporation had ieais other letters of credit totaling $1
million. Substantially all letters of credit arecladed under the Revolving Credit Agreement.

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Corporation is required to report both basimiegs per share (“EPS”), based on the weiglaesFage number of Common and Cla:
common shares outstanding, and diluted earningshme, based on the basic EPS adjusted for ahpally dilutive shares issuable. St
and per share amounts presented below have bagsteatipn a pro forma basis for the December 173 3@dxk split. See Note @-for furthe
information regarding the stock split.
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The Corporation had no antidilutive options outdtag at December 31, 2005 or December 31, 200Dé&kember 31, 2003, the Corpora
had stock options outstanding of 148,052 sharesvwikee not included in the computation of diluteeS because to do so would have |
antidilutive. Earnings per share calculations far years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 26G&dollows:

Weighted-Average Earnings

(In thousands, except per share data) Net Income Shares Outstanding Per Share
2005:
Basic earnings per she $ 75,28( 21,63¢ $ 3.4¢
Effect of dilutive securities

Stock options 25C

Deferred stock compensati 29
Diluted earnings per sha $ 75,28( 21,91« $ 3.44
2004:
Basic earnings per she $ 65,06¢ 21,19¢ $ 3.07
Effect of dilutive securities

Stock options 324

Deferred stock compensati 27
Diluted earnings per sha $ 65,06¢ 21,547 $ 3.0z
2003:
Basic earnings per she $ 52,26¢ 20,64( $ 258
Effect of dilutive securities

Stock options 222

Deferred stock compensati 25
Diluted earnings per sha $ 52,26¢ 20,88" $ 2.5C

12. STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

2005 Long-Term Incentive Platnder the 2005 LTI Plan approved by stockholder20A5 and effective as of May 19, 2005, an agge

total of 2,500,000 shares of Common stock werervesiefor issuance. The Common stock to be usedtisfis employee option exercises

be from the Corporation’treasury stock. The Corporation does not expecepurchase any shares in 2006 to replenish measock fo

issuances made to satisfy stock option exerciseanbire than 200,000 shares of Common stock or 000sBares of restricted stock may

awarded in any year to any one participant in tB@52LTI Plan. Awards under the 2005 LTI Plan cutiseconsist of three components
performance units (cash), non-qualified stock omtj@nd contingent restricted stock.

Under the 2005 LTI Plan, the Corporation awardedopsmance units of 8.0 million in 2005 to certaiaykemployees. The performance u
are denominated in dollars and are contingent tipersatisfaction of performance objectives keyeddiuieving profitable growth over a per
of three fiscal years commencing with the fiscary®llowing such awards. The anticipated costuahsawards is expensed over the thyea-
performance period, which for the 2005 awards beiyin in 2006. The actual cost of the performanmitsumay vary from the total value of -
awards depending upon the degree to which the &dpnmance objectives are met.

Under the 2005 LTI Plan, the Corporation has gramengqualified stock options in 2005 to key employeegr®s under the 2005 LTI PI
were made in the fourth quarter. Stock options giminder the 2005 LTI Plan expire ten years dfterdate of the grant and are gene
exercisable as follows: up to one-third of the graditer one year, up to twihrirds of the grant after two years, and in fulleth years from tt
date of grant.

Under the 2005 LTI Plan, the Corporation has gihi4,336 contingent restricted stock units in 2@®8ertain of the Corporatiosi'officers
The contingent restricted stock granted underltfiisPlan are denominated in shares based on thenfaiket value of the Corporatianstocl
on the day of the grant, and are contingent uperséiisfaction of performance objectives keyedctueving profitable growth over a perioc
three fiscal years commencing with the fiscal yietiowing such award. The anticipated cost of sagfard is expensed over the thyes
performance period. The actual cost of the contihgestricted stock may vary from the total valfie¢he awards depending upon the degr
which the key performance objectives are met.
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The remaining allowable shares for issuance urideR005 LTI Plan as of December 31, 2005 is 2,8%,5

1995 Long-Term Incentive Plakinder the 1995 LTI Plan approved by stockholder$d85 and as amended in 2002 and 2003, an agc
total of 3,000,000 shares of Common stock werervesefor issuance. The Common stock used to satisfgployee option exercises will
from the Corporatiors treasury stock. The Corporation does not expmaepurchase any shares in 2006 to replenish imgagack fo
issuances made to satisfy stock option exercisenigee than 50,000 shares of Common stock may bedadan any year to any ¢
participant in the 1995 LTI Plan. Awards under 11895 LTI Plan consisted of three components — perdace units (cash), najualified stoc
options, and non-employee director grants.

Under the 1995 LTI Plan, the Corporation awardedopmance units of 6.3 million in 2004 and 4.8 ioifi in 2003 to certain key employe
The performance units are denominated in dollaxs @ contingent upon the satisfaction of perforteanbjectives keyed to achiev
profitable growth over a period of three fiscal gieaommencing with the fiscal year following sueheads. The anticipated cost of such aw
is expensed over the thrgear performance period, which amounted to $5.8anjl $4.3 million, and $3.3 million in 2005, 200dnd 200:
respectively. The actual cost of the performandésumay vary from the total value of the awardseteping upon the degree to which the
performance objectives are met.

Under the 1995 LTI Plan, the Corporation granted-goalified stock options in 2004 and 2003 to key Eyges. Grants under the 2004
Plan were made in the fourth quarter of both ye@isck options granted under the 1995 LTI Planrextgn years after the date of the grant
are generally exercisable as follows: up to onedtbf the grant after one year, up to tiirds of the grant after two years, and in fullet
years from the date of gra

In May 2003, the Corporation’s Board of Directorglastockholders approved an amendment to the 199%lan to authorize noamploye:
directors to participate under the plan. The amesrdrprovided that each n@mployee director could receive the equivalenti®,800 of th
Corporations Common stock per year. The Board of Directore@pma and issued stock grants of 277 shares, 2&&shand 480 shares
2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, of the Corpmmat Common stock to each of the eight remployee directors. The stock grants v
valued at $15,000 based on the market price o€trporation’s Common stock on the grant date ane wepensed at the time of issuance.

1995 LTI Plan was superseded by the 2005 LTI Ptathere are no remaining allowable shares for &uawards under the 1995 LTI Plan.
of December 31, 2005 there were options repreggatiotal of 769,936 shares outstanding under @96 plan.

Employee Stock Purchase Pl: In May 2003, the Corporatios’Board of Directors and stockholders approved2®@3 Employee Sto
Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) under which eligible leyges may purchase the Corporato@ommon stock at a price per share equal to 8!
the lower of the fair market value of the Commauwcktat the beginning or end of each offering perieach offering period of the ESPP I
six months, with the first offering period commengion January 1, 2004. Participation in the offgiglimited to 10% of an employeebas
salary (not to exceed amounts allowed under Sed&hof the Internal Revenue Code), may be terrathat any time by the employee,
automatically ends on termination of employmenthviiie Corporation. A total of 1,000,000 shares om@on stock have been reservec
issuance under the ESPP. The Common stock toys#tisfstock purchases under the ESPP will be nésglyed shares of Common stc
During 2005, 82,283 shares were purchased unde&t3i>. As of December 31, 2005, there were 88Z%Bags available for future offerin
and the corporation has withheld $2.2 million fremployees, the equivalent of 48,605 shares.
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Stock option activity during the periods for botans is indicated as follows:

Weighted- Weighted-
Average Options Average
Shares Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
Outstanding at January 1, 20 1,340,30: $ 21.1¢ 837,02 $ 18.4¢
Granted 148,05: 38.1¢
Exercisec (233,709 16.57
Forfeited (16,92¢) 24.3¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,237,72. 24.01 855,67¢ 20.8:
Granted 126,33t 55.91
Exercisec (315,51) 19.3i
Forfeited (50,385 25.6¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 998, 15¢ 29.4: 729,69( 23.51]
Granted 189,27¢ 55.8¢
Exercisec (219,699) 21.11
Forfeited (9,720 42.8:
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 958,01t $ 36.47 641,54¢ $ 28.0¢
The following table summarizes information abowicktoptions outstanding at December 31, 2005:
Options Outstanding
Weighted-Average Weighted-
Range of Remaining Contractual Life Average
Exercise Prices Shares in Years Exercise Price
Less than $20.0 100,86: 3.2 $ 18.7¢
$20.00- $29.99 291,99: 5E 22.5¢
$30.00- $40.00 253,28 7.4 35.4¢
Greater than $40.C 311,88: 9.t 55.81
958,01¢ 7.1 $ 36.4:
Options Exercisable
Weighted-Average Weighted-
Range of Remaining Contractual Life Average
Exercise Prices Shares in Years Exercise Price
Less than $20.0 100,86: 3.2 $ 18.7¢
$20.00- $29.99 291,99: 5.5 22.5¢
$30.00- $40.00 207,66° 7.3 34.8¢
Greater than $40.C 41,027 8.¢ 55.91
641,54¢ 5.9 $ 28.0¢

2005 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directoithe Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (“2@t6ck Plan”),approved by the stockhold
in 2005 authorized the grant of stock awards andhea option of the noemployee directors, the deferred payment of regstigulate
compensation and meeting fees in equivalent shBwsuant to the terms of the 2005 Stock PlanCiigoration’s noremployee directo
each receive annual restricted stock awards vadt&80,000, which are subject to a three yearicéisin period commencing on the date of
grant. These restricted stock awards are subjdorf@iture if the nonemployee director resigns or retires by reasoriobhher decision not
stand for reelection prior to the lapsing of all restrictionsjless the restrictions are otherwise removed byGbmmittee on Directors a
Governance. The cost of the restricted stock awailtibe amortized over the three year restricti@miod from the date of grant. Newly elec
non-employee directors receive a dime restricted stock award valued at $25,000. foktel number of shares of Common stock availabi
grant under the 2005 Stock Plan may not exceed)BGBares. During 2005, no grants of restrictedksteere awarded under the 2005 S

Plan.
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1996 Stock Plan for Non-Employee DirectoiBhe Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (“19@ck Plan”),approved by the stockhold

in 1996, authorized the grant of restricted stowlar@s and, at the option of the nemployee directors, the deferred payment of re
stipulated compensation and meeting fees in equivahares. Pursuant to the terms of the 1996 $ttack nonemployee directors received
initial restricted stock grant of 3,612 shares %98, which became unrestricted in 2001. Additionadh the fifth anniversary of the initial gre
those non-employee directors who remained aerployee director, received an additional restiictéock grant equal to the produc
increasing $13,300 at an annual rate of 2.96%, comged monthly from the effective date of the 186¢k Plan. In 2001, the amount
director was calculated to be $15,419, represerstitmfal additional grant of 1,555 restricted shaféhe cost of the restricted stock awar:
being amortized over the five-year restriction pérrom the date of grant. Prior to the effectiatedof the 2005 Stock Plan, newly elected non-
employee directors received similar compensatiateuthe terms of the 1996 Stock Plan upon theatiele to the Board.

Pursuant to election by na@mployee directors to receive shares in lieu ofipat for earned and deferred compensation undeta8é Stoc
Plan, the Corporation had provided for an aggregdtétional 29,027 shares, at an average price82f76 as of December 31, 2005. Du
2005, the Corporation issued 2,802 shares in aeferompensation pursuant to such elections.

13. ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

The Corporation has continued the operation ofgiteeind water and soil remediation activities at Weod-Ridge, New Jersey site throt
2005. The cost of constructing and operating thes was provided for in 1990 when the Corporatistablished a reserve to remediate
property. Costs for operating and maintaining #itie totaled $0.8 million in 2005, $1.5 million 2004, and $0.6 million in 2003, all of wh
have been charged against the previously establlishgerve. The Corporation increased the remediatiserve by $0.2 million and $
million in 2005 and 2004, respectively, based upevised operating projections. The reserve balawxef December 31, 2005 was ¢
million. Even though this property was sold in Dedxer 2001, the Corporation retained the respotitgitfidr this remediation in accordar
with the sale agreement.

The Corporation has been named as a potentialypnsible party (“PRP”)as have many other corporations and municipalitnea, number ¢
environmental cleaomp sites. The Corporation continues to make pragiasresolving these claims through settlement udisions an
payments from established reserves. Significaes siemaining open at the end of the year are: Gdldivucking landfill superfund sit
Fairfield, New Jersey; Sharkey landfill superfuntd,sParsippany, New Jersey; Amenia landfill shepenia, New York; and Chemsol, i
superfund site, Piscataway, New Jersey. The Catiparaelieves that the outcome for any of theseaiaimg sites will not have a materie
adverse effect on the Corporation’s results of afi@ns or financial condition.

In the first quarter of 2005, the Corporation sdisl Fairfield, New Jersey property, which was forlyean operating facility for tr
Corporations Motion Control segment. Under the sale agreentbet,Corporation has retained the responsibilitycdotinue the ongoir
environmental remediation on the property. At tlatedof the sale, remediation costs associated téFairfield site were anticipated to
incurred over three to five years with an estimatest of $1.5 million. As of December 31, 2005 4$illion of costs have been incurred.

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Corporation @ased the remediation reserve related to the CHl@weking landfill superfund site by $<
million. The increase related to the estimated gdwater remediation for this site, which could spagr 30 years. Through 2005, the majc
of the costs for this site have been for the soilediation.

In 2003, the Corporation responded to a U.S.E.lRRAquest For Information concerning the Lower Pas&iver site. The Corporati
subsequently joined a cooperating parties grolgh&we costs relating to the site and in 2004 sigimealgreement with the other group mem
providing for an EPA study of the site. As of Dedmn31, 2005, the Corporation estimates the castscéated with this study will not hav
materially adverse effect on the Corporation’s lssof operation or financial condition.

In October 2002 the Corporation acquired the Etebtechanical Division (“EMD”)facility from Westinghouse Government Services |
(“Seller”). Included in the purchase was the assionpof several Nuclear Regulatory Commission (“NRRdcenses, necessary for

continued operation of the business. In conneatiith these licenses, the NRC required financialessce from the Corporation (in the fc
of a parent company guarantee) representing estihgatvironmental decommissioning and remediati@tscassociated with the commercial
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operations covered by the licenses. In additioe, @orporation has assumed obligations for additie@mvironmental remediation cos
Remediation and investigation of the EMD facilige aongoing. As of December 31, 2005, the balanchimreserve is $11.8 million. T
Corporation obtained partial environmental insueanoverage specifically for the EMD facility. Theligy provides coverage for losses du
on or off-site pollution conditions, which are peristing and unknown.

The Corporatiors aggregate environmental obligation at December2805 was $25.3 million compared to $25.2 millanDecember 3
2004. Approximately 80% of the Corporatisnénvironmental reserves as of December 31, 200®gent the current value of anticipz
remediation costs and are not discounted primally to the uncertainty of timing of expenditureeeTemaining environmental reserves
discounted using a rate of 4% to reflect the timtu® of money since the amount and timing of casyments for the liability are reliak
determinable. All environmental reserves exclude @otential recovery from insurance carriers ordigarty legal actions. As of December
2005, the undiscounted cash flows associated Wwighdiscounted reserves were $9.3 million and atieipated to be paid over the next
years.

14. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Corporation maintains six separate and distinotestic pension and other postretirement beplgdits, as described in further detail be
Prior to the acquisition of EMD in October 2002¢ tBorporation maintained a qualified pension pEmongqualified pension plan, anc
postretirement health benefits plan (the “CurtissgiM Plans”).As a result of the acquisition, the Corporationaittd three unfunded pens
and postretirement benefit plans (the “EMD Plansitpilar in nature to those listed above. The unédhsdtatus of the acquired EMD Plans
recorded as a liability at the date of acquisitiDaring 2003, the funds associated with the quedifpbension plans of both the Curtissight
Plans and EMD Plans were placed under a masterfang, from which the Corporation directs the istreent strategy for both plans.

The Curtiss-Wright Plans

The Corporation maintains a naontributory defined benefit pension plan coversupstantially all employees other than those enga
covered by the EMD Pension Plan described belove Chrtiss-Wright Retirement Plan (the “CW PensidanP formula for nonunior
employees is based on years of credited servicatanfive highest consecutive yeacgmpensation during the last ten years of servitke
“cash balancebenefit. Union employees who have negotiated afiiamaler the CW Pension Plan are entitled to aefiebased on years
service multiplied by a monthly pension rate. Enypkes become participants under the CW Pension &ftan one year of service and
vested after five years of service. At December2BD5 and December 31, 2004, the Corporation haplgiat pension costs of $76.0 million .
$77.8 million, respectively, under the CW PensitemPDue to the funded status, the Corporation do¢expect to contribute funds to the
Pension Plan in 2006.

The Corporation also maintains a non-qualifiedaegton plan (the “CW Restoration Plargdvering those employees whose compensati
benefits exceed the IRS limitation for pension liégneBenefits under the CW Restoration Plan arefanded, and, as such, the Corpore
had an accrued pension liability of $0.7 milliorDetcember 31, 2005 and 2004. The Corporasi@ontributions to the CW Restoration Plar
not expected to be material in 2006.

The Corporation provides postretirement health fitsn® certain employees (the “CW Retirement PJahi 2002, the Corporation restructu
the postretirement medical benefits for certainvacemployees, effectively freezing the plan. THeigation associated with these ac
employees was transferred to the CW Pension Pla@.plan continues to be maintained for retired eyges. As of December 31, 2005
2004, the Corporation had an accrued postretirefemefit liability of $1.0 million and $1.2 milligmespectively, as benefits under the plai
not funded. The Corporation’s contributions to @\& Retirement Plan are not expected to be mater2006.
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The Curtiss-Wright Plans

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(In thousands) 200" 200¢ 200t 200¢
Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 124,78: $ 126,520 $ 58C $ 62¢
Service cos 10,31t 9,83¢ — —
Interest cos 8,097 7,54( 35 29
Plan participan’ contributions — — 8 —
Amendments 273 303 — —
Actuarial loss (gain 7,181 (5,57%) 217 19
Benefits paic (13,157 (13,849 (112) (96)

Benefit obligation at end of yeat 137,49¢ 124,78 72€ 58C




Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ 211,59: 199,01 — —
Actual return on plan asse 30,521 25,83 — —
Employer contributior 127 598 104 96
Plan participan’ contribution — — 8 —
Benefits paic (13,157 (23,845 (112 (96)
Fair value of plan assets at end of yee 229,09! 211,59¢ — —
Funded statu 91,597 86,80¢ (728) (580)
Unrecognized net actuarial ge (18,03)) (11,239 (315) (570
Unrecognized transition obligatic (©)] @) — —
Unrecognized prior service co 1,70¢ 1,55¢ — —
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost: $ 75,26¢ $ 77,118 $ (1,049 $ (1,150
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 120,88¢ $ 110,11 N/A N/A
Weighted-average assumptions in determination of benef

obligation:
Discount rate 5.7%% 6.0(% 5.5(% 5.0%
Rate of compensation incree 3.5(% 3.5(% — —
Health care cost trends:

Rate assumed for subsequent y — — 13.0% 10.5(%

Ultimate rate reached in 2011 and 2010, respegt — — 5.5(% 5.5(%
Measurement dai

September & September & October 3 October 3

The following table details the components of nariquic pension expense (income) for the CW PenBian and CW Restoration Plan:

Components of net periodic benefit expense (income)

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Service cos $ 10,31 $ 9,83¢ $ 8,89¢
Interest cos 8,16¢ 7,54( 7,98z
Expected return on plan ass (16,65¢) (17,27¢) (18,087
Amortization of prior service co: 14& 112 58
Amortization of transition obligatio 4 4 3
Recognized net actuarial loss (ge 31 33 (587)
Cost of settlemer — 257 121
Net periodic benefit expense (incon $ 2000 $ 50C $ (1,61))

Weighte-average assumptions in determination of net peribdnefit cost

Discount rate 6.0(% 6.0(% 6.7 %

Expected return on plan ass 8.5(% 8.5(% 8.5(%

Rate of compensation incree 3.5(% 3.5(% 4.25%
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The following table details the components of reriquic pension income for the CW Retirement Plan:

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Interest cos $ 35 s 29 % 39
Recognized net actuarial ge (38) (73 (73
Net periodic benefit incom $ 3 3 44) $ (34)

Weightec-average assumptions in determination of net peribenefit cost

Discount rate 5.0(% 5.3(% 6.7 %
Health care cost trend
Current year rat 10.5(% 9.4(% 10.7(%
Ultimate rate reached in 2010, 2007, and 2007 ecspely 5.5(% 5.5(% 5.5(%

The effect on the CW Retirement Plan of a 1% changlee health care cost trend is as follows:

(In thousands) 1% Increase 1% Decrease
Total service and interest cost compont $ 2 $ (2
Postretirement benefit obligatic $ 49 $ (44)

The EMD Plans

The Corporation maintains the Curtiss-Wright Eleditechanical Corporation Pension Plan (the “EMD gt@m Plan”),a qualified contributor
defined benefit pension plan that covers all Csfiéright ElectroMechanical Corporation employees. The EMD Pensilam Rovers bot
union and nonsnion employees and is designed to satisfy the irements of relevant collective bargaining agreet:iefemploye
contributions are withheld each pay period andeayeal to 1.5% of salary. The benefits under the ERENsion Plan are based on yea
service and compensation. At December 31, 2005328604, the Corporation had an accrued pensionilialoif $30.5 million and $37.1 millio
respectively, related to the EMD Pension Plan. Tbheporation expects to contribute $6.8 million, #®imated minimum required amount
the EMD Pension Plan in 2006.

The Corporation maintains the Curtiss-Wright Eleditechanical Corporation Non-Qualified Plan (theMB Supplemental Plan”), a non-
qualified non-contributory noftnded supplemental retirement plan for eligible Eey executives. The EMD Supplemental Plan provitds
periodic payments upon retirement that are basetbtah compensation (including amounts in excessgjdlified plan limits) and years
service and are reduced by benefits earned frotainasther pension plans in which the executivetigpate. At December 31, 2005 and 2(
the Corporation had an accrued pension liabilitp25H million related to the EMD Supplemental Plahe Corporatiors contributions to tt
EMD Supplemental Plan are not expected to be naier2006.

The Corporation, through an administration agree¢mgth Westinghouse, maintains the WestinghouseegBuwent Services Group Welf
Benefits Plan (the “EMD Retirement Plan”), a regirbealth and life insurance plan for substantiallly of the Curtiss-Wright Electro-
Mechanical Corporation employees. The EMD Retirenidan provides basic health and welfare coveraga woneontributory basis. Benef
are based on years of service and are subjectteirceaps. The Corporation had an accrued pagne¢int benefit liability of $39.5 million a
$39.1 million related to the EMD Retirement Plarbacember 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Purdoghe Asset Purchase Agreement
Corporation has a discounted receivable from WagbimGroup International to reimburse the Corporafor a portion of these postretirerr
benefit costs. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, tiseodnted receivable included in other assets wh9 illion and $5.5 millior
respectively. The Corporation expects to contritiited million to the EMD Retirement Plan during 800
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The EMD Plans

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
(In thousands) 2005 2004 2005 2004
Change in Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 137,62 $ 128,28° $ 37,740 $ 41,10¢
Service cos 3,89¢ 3,24¢ 57C 78¢
Interest cos 8,36¢ 8,08( 1,781 2,36¢

Plan participan’ contributions 774 804 181 —



Amendments 70 —

Actuarial loss (gain 941 3,50z (8,54%) (4,919
Benefits paic (6,832 (6,300 (1,772 (1,607%)
Benefit obligation at end of yeat 144,83¢ 137,62: 29,95: 37,74(

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ 88,43¢ 83,73 — —
Actual return on plan asse 12,44+ 10,05: — —
Employer contributior 10,82 142 1,591 1,60
Plan participan’ contribution 774 804 181 —
Benefits paic (6,837) (6,300 (1,772) (1,607%)
Fair value of plan assets at end of yec 105,64« 88,43¢ — —
Funded statu (39,195 (49,18 (29,957 (37,740
Unrecognized net actuarial loss (ge 6,16( 9,70(C (9,514 (2,326
Unrecognized prior service co: 64 — — —
Accrued benefit costs $ (32,97) $ (39,487) $ (39,466 $ (39,06¢)
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 131,50¢ $ 124,79 N/A N/A

Weighted-average assumptions in determination of benef

obligation:
Discount rate 5.7%% 6.0(% 5.7%% 6.0(%
Rate of compensation incree 3.5(% 3.5(% — —
Health care cost trends:
Rate assumed for subsequent y- Pre-65 — — 9.5(% 10.5(%
Rate assumed for subsequent y- Pos-65 — — 13.0(% 13.0(%
Ultimate rate reached in 20— Pre-65 — — 5.5(% 5.5(%
Ultimate rate reached in 2011 and 2010, respegtiv
Pos-65 — — 5.5(% 5.5(%
Measurement da September & September & October 3 October 3

The following table details the components of reriguic pension expense for the EMD Pension PlahEviD Supplemental Plan:

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Service cos $ 389¢ $ 324¢ $ 2,70¢
Interest cos 8,32( 8,08( 7,85¢
Expected return on plan ass (7,919 (7,619 (7,61¢)
Recognized net actuarial loss (ge 7 — (399
Net periodic benefit expen: $ 4307 $ 3,71t $ 2,557
Weightec-average assumptions in determination of net peribdnefit cost

Discount rate 6.0(% 6.25% 7.0(%

Expected return on plan ass 8.5(% 8.5(% 8.5(%

Rate of compensation incree 3.5(% 3.25% 4.0(%
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The following table details the components of reriquic pension expense for the EMD Retirement Plan

(In thousands) 2005 2004 2003
Service cos $ 57C $ 78¢ $ 70t
Interest cos 1,781 2,36¢ 2,38¢
Recognized net actuarial ge $ (360) — —
Net periodic benefit expen: $ 1991 $ 3,158 $ 3,09:

Weightec-average assumptions in determination of net peribdnefit cost

Discount rate 6.0(% 6.25% 6.75%
Health care cost trend
Current year rat— Pre-65 10.5(% 9.7(% 11.1(%
Current year rat— Pos-65 13.0(% 15.7(% 18.0(%
Ultimate rate reached in 20~ Pre-65 5.5(% 5.5(% 5.5(%
Ultimate rate reached in 2010, 2007, and 2007 ecspely— P0os-65 5.5(% 6.5(% 6.5(%

The effect on the EMD Retirement Plan of a 1% cleanghe health care cost trend is as follows:

(In thousands) 1% Increase 1% Decrease
Total service and interest cost compont $ 37C % (29%)
Postretirement benefit obligatic $ 3421 % (3,619

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and &tattation Act of 2003 (the “Act’was signed into law on December 8, 200:
accordance with FASB Staff Position FAS 106-1, @weporation made a ortene election to defer recognition of the effectdte law in th
accounting for its plan under FAS 106 and in pringddisclosures related to the plan until authtixieaguidance on the accounting for
federal prescription drug subsidy is issued. Fiegllations regarding the implementation of the vete issued in February 2005. During
fourth quarter of 2005, the Corporation decidedpply for the Medicare Part D subsidy under this. An attestation of actuarial equivale
was submitted on October 31, 2005 with the undedstg that in 2006, the prescription drug plan wdobk enriched to a design tha
actuarially equivalent. The effect of the anticgghtsubsidy is a $2.7 million reduction in the balmf the Accumulated Pension Ber
Obligation disclosed as of December 31, 2005. Eldection is treated as an actuarial gain in accm®lavith FSP FAS 108-and is included
the gain in the reconciliation above.

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service, as appropriate, are expectéeé twaid from the plans:

cw EMD EMD EMD
CW Pension Retirement  Pension Retirement Subsidy
(In thousands) Plans Plan Plans Plan Receipts Total
2006 $ 10,48($% 96$ 8,58t$ 2,02:$ (83 $ 21,10
2007 10,11( 88 8,90: 2,05(C (94) 21,05¢
2008 10,27 82 9,27¢ 2,071 (209 21,61
2009 10,54 75 9,62 2,00z (115) 22,12t
2010 13,35¢ 66 9,98¢ 2,07 (125) 25,36:
2011- 2015 55,32¢ 262 55,78¢ 10,51 (744) 121,14¢
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Pension Plan Asse

The Corporation maintains the funds of the CW Rem§ilan and the EMD Pension Plan under one mastgr The Corporatios’ Retiremer
Plans are diversified across investment classesarwhg investment managers in order to achievegpimal balance between risk and ret
In accordance with this policy, the Corporation feasablished target allocations for each asset @dasl ranges of expected exposure.
Corporations retirement assets are invested within this afiogastructure in three major categories: domestjuity securities, internatior
equity securities, and debt securities. Below heeQorporation’s actual and established targetations:

As of December 31 Target Expected
Asset clas: 2005 2004 Exposure Range
Domestic Equitie: 54% 54% 50% 40%- 6C%
International Equitie 15% 15% 15% 10%- 2C%
Total Equity 69% 69% 65% 55%- 7%
Fixed Income 31% 31% 35% 25%- 4%
Cash 0% 0% 0% 0% - 10%

The Corporation may from time to time require thallocation of assets in order to bring the reteatplans into conformity with these rang
The Corporation may also authorize alterationsesiations from these ranges where appropriatedbieaing the objectives of the retirem
plans. The Corporation’s investment policy doespermit its investment manager to invest plan fundbee Corporation’s stock.

The longterm investment objective of the Retirement Plan®iachieve a total rate of return, net of fedsictv exceeds the actuarial ove
expected return on assets assumption of 8.50% fasefdinding purposes and which provides an appaterpremium over inflation. T
intermediateterm objective of the Retirement Plans, definedhase to five years, is to outperform each of tapital markets in which ass
are invested, net of fees. During periods of ex&renarket volatility, preservation of capital talkesigher precedence than out performing
capital markets.

The overall expected return on assets assumptied insthe calculation of annual net periodic benedist is based on a combination of
historical performance of the pension fund and etgi®ns of future performance. The historical netuare determined using the market-
related value of assets, includes the recognitforealized and unrealized gains and losses overeayéar period. Although over the last
years the mark-related value of assets had an average annualofidld.6%, the actual returns averaged 11.3% dutiagsame period. Giv
the uncertainties of the current economic and gitayz landscape, the Corporation considers 8.5%é a reasonable assumption of fL
long-term investment returns. While the Corporattakes into account historical performance, itsuaggtions also consider the forward-
looking long-term outlook for the capital markets.

Other Pension and Postretirement Plans

The Corporation offers all of its domestic emplayebe opportunity to participate in a defined cimition plan. Costs incurred by 1
Corporation in the administration and record kegpif the defined contribution plan are paid forthg Corporation and are not considt
material.

In addition, the Corporation had foreign pensiostsainder various retirement plans of $3.6 milli$8,5 million, and $1.9 million in 20C
2004, and 2003, respectively.
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15. LEASES

The Corporation conducts a portion of its operatifnom leased facilities, which include manufactgrand service facilities, administrat
offices, and warehouses. In addition, the Corponattases automobiles, machinery, and office egeiprander operating leases. The le
expire at various dates and may include renewalseaalations. Rental expenses for all operatiagele amounted to $21.9 million in 2(
$18.5 million in 2004, and $10.5 million in 2003.

At December 31, 2005, the approximate future mimmrental commitments under operating leases thae lwitial or remaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year dod@sgs:

Rental

(In thousands) Commitment

2006 $ 15,47
2007 13,60(
2008 11,42:
2009 8,67¢
2010 5,76:
Thereaftel 16,40:
Total $ 71,33¢

16. INDUSTRY SEGMENTS

The Corporation manages and evaluates its opesaltiased on the products and services it offerdtendifferent markets it serves. Baset
this approach, the Corporation has three reportsddenents: Flow Control, Motion Control, and Méla¢atment. The Flow Control segm
primarily designs, manufactures, distributes, amdiises a broad range of highly engineered flomtrabrproducts for severe service milit
and commercial applications. The Motion Controlreegt primarily designs, develops, and manufactoreshanical systems, drive syste
and electronic controls and sensors for the aecespad defense industries. Metal Treatment prowdesus metallurgical services, princip:
shot peening, coatings, and heat treating. The segprovides these services to a broad spectrutnsitbmers in various industries, incluc
aerospace, automotive, construction equipmengrallgas, petrochemical, and metal working.

The accounting policies of the operating segmergsttze same as those described in the summangoifisant accounting policies. Inter
expense and income taxes are not reported on aatimgesegment basis because they are not condittetbe performance evaluation by
Corporation’s chief operating decision-maker, itaman and CEO.

Sales to one customer of the Flow Control segmematugh which the Corporation is a subcontractoth® U.S. Government were 10%
consolidated revenues in 2005, 13% in 2004, and ¥62©03. During 2005, 2004, and 2003, the Corpanabad no commercial custor
representing more than 10% of consolidated revenue.
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Consolidated Industry Segment Information: Flow Motion Metal Segment Corporate

(In thousands) Control Control Treatment Total and Other () Consolidated
Year Ended December 31, 20!

Revenue from external custom: $ 466,54t $ 46545, $ 198,93. $ 1,130,920 $ — $ 1,130,92
Intersegment revenu — 54¢ 54t 1,09: (2,099 —
Operating income (expens 54,50¢ 50,48¢ 34,47( 139,46 (1,482 137,98:
Depreciation and amortization expel 17,30% 19,57: 10,83¢ 47,71¢ 13€ 47,85!
Segment asse 440,55( 653,03 194,31¢ 1,287,90: 112,38: 1,400,28!
Capital expenditure 16,45¢ 12,96¢ 12,91¢ 42,34+ 10C 42,44
Year Ended December 31, 20(

Revenue from external custom: $ 388,13¢ $ 388,57t $ 178,32 $ 955,03¢ $ — $ 955,03¢
Intersegment revenu — 144 55k 69¢ (699) —
Operating income (expens 44,45 44,89:¢ 28,11: 117,45! (7,119 110,34:
Depreciation and amortization expel 15,88« 14,21« 10,38: 40,47¢ 263 40,74
Segment asse 415,50 576,27! 194,78: 1,186,56: 91,87¢ 1,278,441

Capital expenditure 10,42( 10,17 11,72¢ 32,31¢ 13z 32,45



Year Ended December 31, 20(

Revenue from external custom $ 341,27 $ 26590 $ 138,89 $ 746,07. $ — $ 746,07:
Intersegment revenu — — 544 544 (5449 —
Operating income (expens 39,98( 30,32 18,74 89,04: (72 88,97
Depreciation and amortization expel 14,45¢ 7,98: 8,68¢ 31,12¢ 201 31,327
Segment asse 323,68¢ 317,63: 170,54 811,86° 161,79¢ 973,66
Capital expenditure 12,417 4,791 15,727 32,93¢ 394 33,32¢

(1) Operating income (expense) for Corporate angeOincludes pension (expense) income, environrheataediation and administrati
expenses, and other expen:

Reconciliations

For the years ended December 31|n thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Revenues

Total segment revent $ 1,130,920 $ 955,03¢ $ 746,07:

Intersegment revent 1,09t 69¢ 544

Elimination of intersegment reven (2,099 (699) (544)
Total consolidated revenu $ 1,130,920 $ 955,03¢ $ 746,07:

Earnings before taxe:

Total segment operating incor $ 139,46: $ 117,45¢ $ 89,04:
Corporate and administrati (1,4872) (7,119 (72
Other income, ne 29¢ 442 74¢
Interest expens (19,989 (12,03) (5,667)
Total consolidated earnings before $ 118,29¢ $ 98,75: $  84,05¢
Assets
Total assets for reportable segme $ 1,287,90. $ 1,186,56. $ 811,86
Pension asse 76,00: 77,80: 77,87
Non-segment cas 24,99 54t 72,58
Other asset 11,42 13,60¢ 11,38¢
Elimination of intersegment receivabl (37) (77) (45)
Total consolidated asse $ 1,400,28 $ 1,278,441 $ 973,66!
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The following table presents geographical informatdf the Corporatiors' revenues and property, plant, and equipment baséue location «
the customer and the assets, respectively:

December 31 (In thousands) 2005 2004 2003

Long-Lived Long-Lived Long-Lived
Revenues Assets Revenues Assets Revenues Assets

Geographic Informatior

United States of Americ $ 864,46! $ 18227 $73535 $ 181,70¢ $ 574,420 $ 176,27:
United Kingdom 109,65¢ 49,79¢ 92,54: 52,56¢ 66,21( 40,61«
Canade 38,59¢ 26,28t¢ 20,67¢ 14,13¢ 17,05: 6,52¢
Other foreign countrie 118,20¢ 16,46 106,46° 16,83! 88,38: 14,72«
Consolidated tote $1,130,920 $ 274,82: $955,03¢ $ 265,24! $ 746,07 $ 238,13¢

17. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

The Corporation, through its Flow Control segméxats several NRC licenses necessary for the coutinperation of its commercial nucl
operations. In connection with these licenses,NR&C required financial assurance from the Corporatn the form of a parent comps
guarantee, representing estimated environmentanad®issioning and remediation costs associated télcommercial operations coverec
the licenses. The guarantee for the decommissiarosts of the refurbishment facility, which is estted for 2017, is $3.1 million. See Note
for further information.

The Corporation enters into standby letters of itragreements with financial institutions and cuas¢éos primarily relating to guarantees
repayment on certain Industrial Revenue Bondsréuperformance on certain contracts to provide gpetgland services, and to secure adv
payments the Corporation has received from ceiitstigrnational customers. At December 31, 2005, 2@ 2003, the Corporation |
contingent liabilities on outstanding letters oédit of $32.3 million, $19.4 million, and $19.5 kiwh, respectively.

Consistent with other entities its size, the Cogtion is party to a number of legal actions andntéa none of which individually or in tl
aggregate, in the opinion of management, are eggdot have a material adverse effect on the Cotipara results of operations or finan
position.

18. GAIN ON THE SALE OF REAL ESTATE

On March 17, 2005, the Corporation completed the akits Fairfield, New Jersey property, a fornogerating property, for $10.5 million. T
property encompasses approximately 39 acres andowasrly an operating facility for the CorporatisriMotion Control segment now loca
in Shelby, North Carolina. As a result of the s#he, Corporation recognized a e gain of $2.8 million in the first quarter of @), which i
recorded in operating income in the Corporationdms$dlidated Statements of Earnings.

19. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On February 7, 2006, the Board of Directors dedar@-ford stock split in the form of a 100% stock divideitie split, in the form of 1 she
of Common stock for each share of Common stocktaudng, is payable on April 7, 2006. As the maniete of the shares does not ref
the stock split at the time of the filing of thismAual Report on Form 10-K, all references througttbis Annual Report on Form 1K-to
number of shares, per share amounts, stock opdimtas and market prices of the CorporattoBommon stock have not been adjusted to
the effect of this stock split.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except per share data) First Second Third Fourth
2005
Net sales $ 258,48 $ 283,190 $ 271,35 $ 317,89
Gross profil 85,76¢ 100,29¢ 93,51t 110,92¢
Net earning: 14,52 17,93¢ 17,51¢ 25,30¢
Earnings per shar
Basic earnings per shz $ 06 $ 08: $ 081 $ 1.1¢
Diluted earnings per sha 0.67 0.82 0.8C 1.1%
Dividends per shar 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.12
2004
Net sales $ 214930 $ 22242t $ 236,57« $ 281,10«
Gross profil 71,59¢ 76,02: 81,84¢ 101,03
Net earning: 15,60¢ 14,32« 14,72 20,41
Earnings per shar
Basic earnings per she $ 078 % 06 $ 06 $ 0.9t
Diluted earnings per sha 0.7¢4 0.67 0.6¢ 0.9
Dividends per shar 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢ 0.0¢

See notes to the consolidated financial statenfenedditional financial information.
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Report Of The Corporation

The consolidated financial statements appearing 8ef this Form 10« have been prepared by the Corporation in confiyrmith accountin
principles generally accepted in the United StafeAmerica. The financial statements necessaritjuitle some amounts that are based o
best estimates and judgments of the CorporatioheiOfinancial information in the Annual Report isnsistent with that in the financ
statements.

The Corporation maintains accounting systems, phaes, and internal accounting controls designegréwide reasonable assurance
assets are safeguarded and that transactions ecatea in accordance with the appropriate corpaatkorization and are properly recort
The accounting systems and internal accountingralsnare augmented by written policies and procesiuorganizational structure provid
for a division of responsibilities; selection andining of qualified personnel; and an internal iaytogram. The design, monitoring, ¢
revision of internal accounting control systemsoiwe, among other things, managemerjtidgment with respect to the relative cost
expected benefits of specific control measures. &dament of the Corporation has completed an asseswh the Corporatios’ interna
controls over financial reporting and has includgdnagements’ Annual Report On Internal Control OF&ancial Reportingin Item 9A o
this Form 10-K.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors, perfed an audit of the Corporatienfinancial statements that also included formin
opinion on managememtassessment of internal controls over financigbming as well as the effectiveness of such cdsmfar the year end:
December 31, 2005. An audit includes examiningadast basis, evidence supporting the amounts @otbsures in the financial stateme
An audit also includes assessing the accountimgiples used and significant estimates made by gemant, as well as evaluating the o
financial statement presentation. The objectivethair audit is the expression of an opinion on fhegness of the presentation of
Corporations financial statements in conformity with accougtprinciples generally accepted in the United StateAmerica, in all materi
respects, on managementissessment of the effectiveness of internal alsnover financial reporting, and on the effectiess of intern:
controls over financial reporting as of DecemberZ105.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, carepd entirely of directors who are independenthaf €orporation, appoints 1
independent auditors for ratification by stockhetdand, among other things, considers the scopigeahdependent auditorekamination, th
audit results, and the adequacy of internal acéogrmontrols of the Corporation. The independerditaus and the internal auditor have di
access to the Audit Committee, and they meet with committee from time to time, with and without magement present, to disc
accounting, auditing, non-audit consulting servidgeternal control, and financial reporting matters

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Roseland, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balafeets of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and subsiel (the “Company”as o
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related cdasedl statements of earnings, stockholdeggiity, and cash flows for each of the ti
years in the period ended December 31, 2005. Cditsaalso included the financial statement schetisted in the Index at Item 15. Thi
financial statements and financial statement sdeealte the responsibility of the Compasyhanagement. Our responsibility is to expre:
opinion on these financial statements and finarste@tement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlaUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obta@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tiliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An &
also includes assessing the accounting princigded and significant estimates made by managementethas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetegresent fairly, in all material respects, timarficial position of the Company at Decen
31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of its opersitaord its cash flows for each of the three yearhénperiod ended December 31, 20C
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in
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the United States of America. Also, in our opinisagch financial statement schedule, when consideredlation to the basic consolida
financial statements taken as a whole, presentg,fai all material respects, the information &&th therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the effectivenes
the Company’s internal control over financial repay as of December 31, 2005, based on the critestablished innternal Control—
Integrated Frameworlissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatanbe Treadway Commission and our report datedcmM&, 200
expressed an unqualified opinion on managemensssament of the effectiveness of the Compaimternal control over financial report
and an unqualified opinion on the effectivenesthefCompany’s internal control over financial repag.

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
March 3, 2006

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Roseland, New Jersey

We have audited management’s assessment, incladénd iaccompanying Managemenfinnual Report On Internal Control Over Finar
Reporting, that Curtiss-Wright Corporation and sdiasies (the “Company”aintained effective internal control over finadcigporting as ¢
December 31, 2005, based on the criteria establigihénternal Control—Integrated Frameworiksued by the Committee of Sponso
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. As deediin Managemerg’ Annual Report On Internal Control Over Finandkaporting
management excluded from their assessment thenahteontrol over financial reporting at Indal Teoloygies, Inc., which was acquired
March 1, 2005 and whose financial statements ref@al assets and revenues constituting 6.5 andercent, respectively, of the rele
consolidated financial statement amounts as offanthe year ended December 31, 2005. Accordingly,audit did not include the inter
control over financial reporting at Indal Techndlsy Inc. The Compang’management is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal contre
over financial reporting and for its assessmernhefeffectiveness of internal control over finahcgporting. Our responsibility is to express
opinion on management's assessment and an opinidheoeffectiveness of the Compasiynternal control over financial reporting basen
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadslof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8a&@nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our audit udeld obtaining an understanding of internal contnar financial reporting, evaluati
managemeng assessment, testing and evaluating the designoperhting effectiveness of internal control, aretfgrming such oth
procedures as we considered necessary in the ctanoes. We believe that our audit provides a redse basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the companyg’ principal executiv
and principal financial officers, or persons penfgrg similar functions, and effected by the companyoard of directors, management,
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneedieg the reliability of financial reporting anbet preparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generally @edeaccounting principles. A compasyhternal control over financial reporting inclg
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheariaintenance of records that, in reasonablel dataurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypi@ide reasonable assurance that transactioneeseded as necessary to permit prepar
of financial statements in accordance with gengatlcepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are k
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngangent and directors of the company; and (3) pev&hsonable assurance regar
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized dsition, use, or disposition of the compasi@ssets that could have a material effect o
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal tcohover financial reporting, including the podét of collusion or improper managemi
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or
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detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of amaluation of the effectiveness of the internatcol over financial reporting to futt
periods are subject to the risk that the contrady tmecome inadequate because of changes in corglibo that the degree of compliance !
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, managemestassessment that the Company maintained effedti@nal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31
2005, is fairly stated, in all material respectasdd on the criteria established liternal Control—Integrated Frameworissued by th
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission. Also in our opinion, the Company mteined, in all material respec
effective internal control over financial reportimg of December 31, 2005, based on the critergbkshied ininternal Control—ntegratec
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@dnited States), the consolids
financial statements and financial statement sdeeds of and for the year ended December 31, 20@BeoCompany and our report de
March 3, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinionhasé financial statements and financial statenehedule.

Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
March 3, 2006
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéson Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls And Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2005, the Corporation’s managemecluding the Corporatios’ Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial O#fit
conducted an evaluation of the Corporation’s dmate controls and procedures, as such term isatefinRules 13a-15(e) and 1%8{e) unde
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended“fRRchange Act”). Based on such evaluation, thep@ations Chief Executive Offict
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Qugtion’s disclosure controls and procedures are effedtivall material respects, to ens
that information required to be disclosed in thports the Corporation files and submits under tlxehBnge Act is recorded, proces:
summarized, and reported as and when required.

Managemeris Annual Report On Internal Control Over Finan&eborting

The Corporatiors management is responsible for establishing ardtaiaing adequate internal control over finanegborting, as defined
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securlieshange Act of 1934, as amended.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohwver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of
future effectiveness of controls currently deemfdctive are subject to the risk that controls negome inadequate because of chanc
conditions or deterioration in the degree of coamudie with the policies or procedures.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated findnsfatements, the Corporation acquired Indal Teldugies, Inc. during the year enc
December 31, 2005. This acquisition with asseBestember 31, 2005 and current year revenues repiegd.5% and 2.7%, respectively
the consolidated amounts, have been excluded franagement’s assessment of internal control ovanéial reporting.

The Corporation’s management assessed the effeetigeof the Corporatiosi’internal control over financial reporting as oéd@mber 3:
2005. In making this assessment, the Corporatiomanagement used the criteria established by dhen@ttee of Sponsoring Organization:
the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-IntegdaFramework.

Based on managemesitassessment, excluding the acquired company edfdéa in the third paragraph, management beliehat Bs c
December 31, 2005, the Corporation’s internal adrver financial reporting is effective based ba established criteria.

The Corporatiors assessment of the effectiveness of internal alsntrver financial reporting as of December 31,%20@s been audited
Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registereblipiaccounting firm, and their report thereonnisluded in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportin

There were no changes in the Corporasoimternal control over financial reporting durittge most recently completed fiscal quarter
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Iltem 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART IlI

The information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 18 &4 of Part |1l of this report, to the extent rsatt forth herein, is incorporated hereir
reference from the registrastdefinitive proxy statement relating to the annuoreting of stockholders to be held on May 5, 208Bich
definitive proxy statement shall be filed with t8ecurities and Exchange Commission within 120 ddies the end of the fiscal year to wt
this report relates. Information required by Ite@ilth) of Regulation S-K is included in Part | ofstireport under the captiorEXecutive

Officers.”
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule.
(a) Financial Statements and Footnc
Page
1. The following are documents filed as part of tlapart in Part Il, Item €
Consolidated Statement of Earnir 38
Consolidated Balance She 39
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flc 40
Consolidated Statement of Sharehol’ Equity 41
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 42
2. Financial Statement Schedi
Schedule —Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 83

All other financial statement schedules have bemitted because they are either not required, npticgble or th
required information is shown in the Consolidat@wbRcial Statements or Notes there

(b) Exhibits

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

3.1
3.2
3.3

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Recapitalizatiated as of February 1, 2005, by and between thestRant anc
CW Merger Sub, Inc. (incorporated by referencexhikit 2.1 to Form -K filed February 3, 2005

Share and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated Fel®a2p02, between Spirent Plc. and the Registmooiporated
by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Forr-K filed April 15, 2002).

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 25, 2@d2ebn Westinghouse Government Services CompanyalrdC
the Registrant (incorporated by reference to ExI@Hi to Form -K filed November 12, 2002

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated January 31, 26@eén Solectron Corporation and the Registranb(porated b
reference to Exhibit (2)(viii) to Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20t

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatinoofporated by reference to Fori-A/A filed May 24, 2005)
Amended and Restated -Laws (incorporated by reference to For-A/A filed May 24, 2005)
Form of stock certificate for Common stock (incaigted by reference to Forn-A/A filed May 24, 2005)
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4.1

4.2

4.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.1

Agreement to furnish to the Commission upon reqaesipy of any lor-term debt instrument where the amount of
securities authorized thereunder does not exce#ddf@he total assets of the Registrant and itsiglidries on a
consolidated basis (incorporated by reference talix4 to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 19i

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreemermtodaaly 23, 2004, between Registrant, the Lendanties
thereto from time to time, the Issuing Banks reddro therein and The Bank of America, N.A. (inaogied by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 20!

Second Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, datefiMay 24, 2005, between the Registrant andrisare
Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Rights Agentdiporated by reference to Registration Statemeritasm 8A/A
filed May 24, 2005)

Modified Incentive Compensation Plan, as amendedeNer 9, 1989 (incorporated by reference to Exiida) to
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 19¢

Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2005 Omnibus Lo-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference ppéndix B tc
Proxy Statement filed April 5, 2005)

Form of Long Term Incentive Award Agreement, daleduary 1, 2006, between the Registrant and theugxe
officers of the Registrant (filed herewith’

Revised Standard Employment Severance AgreememiGeittain Management of the Registrant (incorpdrate
reference to Exhibit 10 to Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

Retirement Benefits Restoration Plan as amended 2fr1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhilitté Form 1-Q
for quarter ended June 30, 1997

Restated and Amended Cur-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan and Instrumdnmimendment No. 1, as amend
through February 28, 2002 (incorporated by refezdndExhibit (10)(v) to Form 10-K for the year edd@ecember 31,
2001), and Instrument of Amendment No. 2 (incorpeidy reference to Exhibit 10 to Form @Q0for the quarter end
September 30, 2004)

Restated and Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporatioririggvand Investment Plan, dated February 28, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit (10)(v) tafol(-K for the year ended December 31, 200

CurtisWright Electrc-Mechanical Corporation Retirement Plan, dated Gat@9, 2002 (incorporated by referenct
Exhibit (10)(vii) to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200:

CurtisWright Electrc-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan, dated JanLig?p04 (incorporated by reference
Exhibit (10)(xviii) to Form 1+K for the year ended December 31, 200:

Instruments of Amendment Nos. 2 through 5 to theti€s+Wright Corporation Retirement Plan (incorgechby
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200
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10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19
10.2

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

Instruments of Amendment Nos. 1 and 2 to the G-Wright Electr-Mechanical Corporation Retirement P
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Fd€-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

Instrument of Amendment Nos. 1 and 2 to the Ci-Wright Corporation Savings and Investment Plandjiporatec
by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to the Curtiss-Wrighactro-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan (ipooated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Form-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2005 Stock Plan for Employee Directors (incorporated by reference tpeémlix C tc
Proxy Statement filed April 5, 2005)

Curtiss-Wright Corporation Executive Deferred Compensaitam, as of January 31, 2005 (incorporated by eefsa
to Exhibit (10)(ix) to Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200.

Change In Control Severance Protection AgreemeéddJuly 9, 2001, between the Registrant and Ehxetutive
Officer of the Registrant (incorporated by refereta Exhibit 10.1 to Form 10-Q for the quarter eh&eptember 30,
2001).*

Standard Change In Control Severance Protectioeekgent, dated July 9, 2001, between the RegisarahKey
Executives of the Registrant (incorporated by exfee to Form 1-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20(

Trust Agreement, dated January 20, 1998, betweeRdyistrant and PNC Bank, National Associationdiporated b
reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Form-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 199¢

Consulting Agreement, dated March 1, 2006, betvikerRegistrant and George J. Yohrling (filed hetbwi

Consulting Agreement, dated June 18, 2002, betweeRegistrant and Gerald Nachman (incorporategtfgyence to
Exhibit 10.1 to Form 1-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2003 Employee Stock Rase Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendixd/Proxy
Statement filed March 28, 2003’

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrantentain Institutional Investors, dated September2283
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to F@&@-K filed October 3, 2003’

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Purchaseekgent between the Registrant and certain Iristitait Investors,
dated September 25, 2003 (incorporated by referenEahibit 10.2 to Form-K filed October 3, 2003’

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrantentain Institutional Investors, dated Decembe205
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to F@&-K filed December 5, 2005
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10.25

21
23
311
31.2
32

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Purchaseekgent between the Registrant and certain Institalt Investors
dated December 1, 2005 (incorporated by refereméxhibit 10.2 to Form-K filed December 5, 2005

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed herewi

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriimy (filed herewith)

Certification of Martin R. Benante, Chairman and@FPursuant to Rule 1:- 14(a) (filed herewith
Certification of Glenn E. Tynan, Chief Financialfoér, Pursuant to Rule 1~ 14(a) (filed herewith)

Certification of Martin R. Benante, Chairman and@&nd Glenn E. Tynan, Chief Financial Officer, Ruarst to 1¢
U.S.C. Section 1350 (filed herewitt

*Indicates contract or compensatory plan or arramge
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CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION and SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE Il — VALUATION and QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, ad8 20
(In thousands)

Additions

Balance at Charged to Charged to

Beginning Costs and Other Accounts
Description of Period Expenses (Describe)
Deducted from assets to which they ap
Year-ended December 31, 20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel $ 2627¢ $ 3,70C $ 772 W
Reserves for doubtful accounts and n 4,01z 1,161 1,01¢ @
Total $ 3028 $ 4,861 $ 1,791
Year-ended December 31, 20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel $ 2227t $ 421: $ 6,53¢ @
Reserves for doubtful accounts and ne 3,44¢ 802 36 W
Total $ 25727 $ 501¢£ $ 6,907
Year-ended December 31, 20
Reserves for inventory obsolescel $ 2354¢ $ 215; $ 1566 @
Reserves for doubtful accounts and ne 3,244 1,38¢ 11¢ W
Total $ 26,790 $ 354C $ 1,67¢

Notes:

(A)  Primarily amounts acquired from business combimatiand currency translation adjustme
(B)  Write-off and sale of obsolete inventol

(C)  Write-off of bad debts and the reduction of reserve reqguénts

(D)  Primarily the write-off of obsolete inventory
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Deductions
(Describe)
$ 5,37
73¢€
$ 6,111
$ 6,75:
607
$ 7,36(
$ 4,98¢
1,29:
$ 6,281

B)
©

B)
©

(©)
©

Balance at
End of
Period

$ 25,37¢
5,45¢

$ 30,82¢

$ 26,27¢
4,017

$ 30,28t¢

$ 22,27¢
3,44¢

$ 25,727



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION

(Registrant’

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Chairman and CE(

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf of 1
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbeated.

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ Glenn E. Tyna

Glenn E. Tynat
Chief Financial Office

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ Kevin McClurg

Kevin McClurg
Controller

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benante
Director

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ James B. Busey |

James B. Busey IV
Director

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ S. Marce Fulle

S. Marce Fuller
Director

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ David Lasky

David Lasky
Director

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ Carl G. Miller

Carl G. Miller
Director

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ William B. Mitchell

William B. Mitchell
Director

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ John R. Myer

John R. Myers
Director

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ William W. Sihlel

William W. Sihler
Director

Date: March 3, 200¢ By: /s/ J. McLain Stewa




J. McLain Stewart
Director
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This document, effective , functions both sathe
prospectus covering the shares referred to hereinwhich have
been registered under the Securities Act of 1933,nd as the
Award Agreement pursuant to which both those sharesand
certain Performance Units shall be granted.

AWARD AGREEMENT

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan
2005 Award Agreement and Plan Information

This Agreement, conditionally effectivieé section IV.m, below) as of the __ day of 209 ahd between Curtisékight Corporatio
(the “Corporation”) and (“Empldye@n employee of the Corporation or one of its subsies. For purposes of tl
Agreement, the Employee is considered to be an@raplof notwithstanding any actual gdbgissignment to any other segn
of the Corporation.

WHEREAS, Employee is now employed by@weporation or one of its subsidiaries; and

WHEREAS, in recognition of Employsgiotential as a person who can help increasedue wf the Corporation to its shareholders
Corporation desires to provide an opportunity forffoyee to acquire stock or to enlarge his or areyship of stock in the Corporation an
receive potential additional compensation in themfaf Performance Units, in either case pursuarth& provisions of the Curtidskight
Corporation 2005 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plkae (‘Plan”);

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms aodditions set forth in this Agreement and pursuarthe provisions of the Ple
the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

I. Award

Award of Performance Units, Performance Shares and of Grant of Option to Purchase
Unrestricted Stock

Pursuant to the provisions of the Plad af this Agreement, the Corporation hereby awdtdployee calendar year 2
Performance Units, and undertakes, early in the 288 _, to pay Employee the then value of saiddPerdnce Units, if any, as calculatet
accordance with further provisions hereof.

Pursuant to the provisions of the Plad ah this Agreement, the Corporation hereby awdtdgployee calendar year 2
Performance Shares, and undertakes, early in tie2@® , to pay Employee the then value of saifbRFaance Shares, if any, as calculate
accordance with further provisions hereof.

Pursuant to the provisions of the Plad af this Agreement, the Corporation also herebgrds to Employee an option (the “Optiond)
purchase from the Corporation for cash, or thrathghexchange of already owned shares of the Cdippoi®Common Stock, or both,




all or any part of an aggregate of whokresh of Common Stock of the Corporation at the lpase price of $ per share,
mean average between the highest and lowest selliogs of the Corporatioa’Common Stock as reported on the New York StoahBmg:
on the effective date of this option. This Optisrdesignated as a non-qualified stock option (NQSO)

It is understood and agreed that theesftid Award of Performance Units, Performance Shanel the Stock Option Grant are subje
the terms and conditions of this Agreement andhefRIan.

I1. Terms Applicable to Performance Units

a. Definition and Explanation - Performance Units are awards which are denominatéldllars and payable in cash early in the
2009, contingent upon the extent to which certa&vipusly established performance objectives aréeaed over the three year period
“Performance Period”) ending at the close of bussnen December 31, 2008. In the case of an awaehtemployee of Curtisé/right
Controls, Inc., Metal Improvement Company, Inc. QurtissWright Flow Control Corporation or any of their iliited companies (ea
hereinafter referred to as a “Business Unit"), Begformance Units will be valued for payment pugsmoéhe “Payment Value'hased on tt
extent to which those objectives are achieved byBihisiness Unit by with which Employee is employledhe case of an award to an emplc
of the Corporatiors Headquarters, the Performance Units will be vhlbased on the extent to which those objectivesaehgeved by tt
Corporation as a whole.

b. Performance Objectives - The Performance Objectives that have been setdon 8usiness Unit for the Performance Period
relates to the 2005 Award of Performance Unitsba®ed on the Business Unit's average annual retucapital (“Return on Capital'gnd it
average annual growth rate.

For purposes of the foregoing, ReturrCaipital means net income for the calendar yeaddiby the average over the last 13 mont
the amounts of total capital (debt plus equity}ret end of each month. The calculation of net ine@nd total capital would be made |
manner consistent with the practices followed ia tuirrent management reports (i.e., Wright and @doks) except that the effects of
following items would be excluded from considerati@, interest costs; 2, environmental cleanups;d@stexcess real estate (property avai
for sale); 4, excess cash and Corporate Portfotisess; 5, the overfunded CurtMgight Corporation Retirement Plan and the undetés
liability of the Curtiss-Wright Electro-MechanicBivision Pension Plan (per FAS 87); 6, actuariaraals for CurtissAright Corporation ar
Electro-Mechanical Division post retirement medicabts (per FAS 106); 7, cost of the long-term inise awards made under the Curtiss-
Wright Long-Term Incentive Plan; 8, the cost of debt or stoskuénces or other debt or capital restructuringea®nings on Corpore
Investments; 10, new accounting pronouncementsinfdrmation technology shared services assetsadfyrtization of intangibles; and .
deferred taxes relating to any of the above meatidtems.

Calculations would be made for each kessrunit for their respective employees and on¢hfoentire Corporation for employees of
Corporate Headquarters.




For purposes of the foregoing, annualuginorate is calculated by computing the averagehefpercentage increases in sales (incl
sales achieved by companies acquired) in eacteofahrs within the Performance Period.

c¢. Payment Value - As soon as practical after January 1, 2009 adwollue (“Payment Value'§hall be determined for each Performs
Unit awarded to the Employee pursuant to this agesg. This determination shall be made by usinga&rimispecific to your business unit
group. For example, by using a matrix similar te attached hereto as Attachment A, the per uniteay Value shall be calculated
multiplying $1.00 by the percentage (“Award Facjddcated at the intersection of (1) the row of figaiin horizontal line with and to the rit
of the average annual Return on Capital (“ROC” aid £hart) actually achieved by the Business Umitthe Perfamance Period and (2)
column of figures in vertical line with and beloletaverage annual growth rate actually achievetiéyusiness Unit.

Examples: 1,000 Performance Units

1 - Assume that employee A works for Business Unitixd ¢ghat Business Unit X achieved an average arfRetlrn on Capital of 12
and an average annual growth rate of 15%. Thediguhorizontal line with and to the right of 12%tRrn on Capital and in the verti
column below 15% average annual growth rate is 10D#s is employee A Award Factor. The Payment Value of each of emgz
A’s Performance Units is determined by multiplyingd®1by 100%, and is equal to $1.00. Performancé Rayout = $1,00(

2 - Assume that employee B works for Business Unit \¥ribg the Performance Period Business Unit Y adsean annual ROC
greater than 19% and an average annual growthimagxcess of 24%. Each of employeesB?erformance Units would then
worth$2.03, which is $1.00 multiplied by an Awarddtor of 203%, that being the figure that appearthé matrix in horizontal lir
with and to the right of >19 (greater than 19%) andertical line with and below >24 (greater th24P6). Performance Unit Payou
$2,030.

3 - If, during the same period, the Corporation as aleecorded a mere 8% Return on Capital coupled ail2% Average Annt
Growth Rate, the 200_ Performance Units awardedaporate Headquarters and Corporate Real EstgtarDeent personnel wot
have no value, since the award Factors shown iacAthent A for every situation involving a Return @apital of <9 (less than 9%)
0.0%. Performance Unit Payout = $0

d. Time and Manner of Payment - Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Agreat, 2005 Performance Units shall be conw
to their Payment Value, and payment in full shallhbade as soon as practical following the end dfi @erformance Period. All payments s
be made in cash or check subject to applicableagpdopriate withholding taxes.




e. Accounts - Until such time as payment shall be made to Emgpylee Corporation shall create an account onaditk$ to reflect th
number of Performance Units credited to Employeelreder; provided, however, that neither Employaeamy person claiming through or
behalf of the employee shall under no circumstaraeglire any interest or right in any assets ofGlogporation or any of its subsidiari
Nothing contained in this Agreement and no actakeh pursuant hereto shall create or be construerkate a fiduciary relationship betw
the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries and Exyeé or any other person. To the extent that angopeacquires a right to receive payn
from the Corporation or any of its subsidiarieselugder, such right shall be no greater than thH# nfjany unsecured general creditor of
Corporation or any of its subsidiaries.

f.Termination or Resignation - If, before January 1, 2009, Employs&mployment is terminated for any reason or Engsoyoluntaril
resigns or retires prior to attaining at least fifge-five (55) and completing at least five (5)ams of service with Curtisééright Corporation ¢
any of its affiliates (“Early Retirement Date”)] alghts to and interest in the 2005 Performancédbshall be forfeited.

g.Death or Retirement at Early Retirement Date - If Employee has attained his or her Early Retireimizaite and either dies or reti
prior to his or her 629 birthday, Employees interest in the 2005 Performance Units shall inaet until the Payment Value of his or
Performance Units shall have been determined,viitig which the Payment Value of his or her PerfaroeUnits, if any, reducegro ratato
reflect the amount of time during the Performanegde that he or she shall not have been an emg]ajell be paid to Employee, or follow
employees’ death, in accordance with paragraph héeeof.

h. Death or Retirement after age 62 and eligible for Early Retirement - If Employee has attained his or her Early Retirenizate an
either dies or retires at or after his or he®Birthday, Employees interest in the 2005 Performance Units shallinart without reduction fi
any period in which he or she shall not have beerraployee, until the Payment Value of EmplogeBerformance Units shall have b
determined, following which the Payment Value of toyee’s Performance Units, if any, shall be pai&Employee, or following employees
death, in accordance with paragraph 1V.e, hereof.

i. Transfer of Employee - If Employee is transferred between Business Unitbeiween one or more of the Business Units an
Corporation’s headquarters, the Payment Valueobhher Performance Units shall be calculate@flect pro rataboth the amount of time
or she shall have been employed with, and the afwactbr attributable to each, of the Corporasoméadquarters and Business Units to w
Employee shall have been assigned during the Peafuze Period.




j- Right to Benefits - The sole interest of Employee under this Agreemutit respect to the award of Performance Units|dhealtc
receive the Performance Unit payout values as geavherein, if and when the same shall become wdi@ayable in accordance with the te
hereof, and neither any Employee nor anyone clajrtinough Employee shall have any right, titlerdefest in or to any of the specific as
of the Corporation or a subsidiary. Said Award bader shall be paid solely from the general assettse Corporation, and no separate fur
other segregated assets shall be maintained tadprany benefits hereunder. In no manner shallassgts of the Corporation or a subsidiar
deemed or construed through any provisions ofAlieement to be held in trust for the benefit offimyee or to be collateral security for
performance of the obligations imposed by this &grent on the Corporation. The rights of Employes amyone claiming through Employ
shall be solely those of a general unsecured oredlitthe Corporation, as determined under appléckew.

k. Offset to Benefits - Any other provision of the Agreement to the contraotwithstanding, the Corporation may reduce ampants ti
be paid to Employee under this Agreement by anyustso which Employee may owe to the Corporatioa subsidiary.

I. Adjustments - Any other provision of this Agreement to the contraotwithstanding, the Executive Compensation Cdttes of the
Board of Directors of the Corporation reservesrtghkt in its sole discretion to make any adjustniarthe calculation, or in the amount of
payment resulting from the calculation, that it misenecessary or appropriate because of unantidipateisual or extraordinary events
otherwise to avoid unintended distortions of loagst incentive awards and payments pursuant to twseds.

I11. Terms Applicable to Performance Shares

a. Definition and Explanation - Performance Shares are awards which are denadiimashares and earned as Cutfissght commol
stock shares early in the year 2009, contingenh dpe extent to which certain previously establisherformance objectives are achieved
the three year period (the “Performance Peri@ifijing at the close of business on December 38.2060Qhe case of an award to an emplt
of Curtiss-Wright Controls, Inc., Metal Improveme&Ddmpany, Inc. or Curtisé/right Flow Control Corporation (each hereinafteferred to ¢
a “Business Unit"), the number of Performance Shaarned will be determined at payment (the “Eaivalde”) based on the extent to wh
those objectives are achieved by the Businesshynithich Employee is employed unless the measuaecisrporate measure compared tc
Company'’s peer group. In the case of an award engployee of the CorporaticmHeadquarters, the Earned Value will be basedhemxtter
to which those objectives are achieved by the Qattjmn as a whole.

b. Performance Objectives - The Performance Objectives that have been sehéPerformance Period that relates to the 2005 dwi
Performance Shares are: Net Income performances/approved Net Income budget averaged for the tyears; and Net Income as a per
of total Sales relative to our Peer Group (as @efiand reviewed annually by the Executive Compars&@ommittee). The attached mat
Attachment B, outlines the award schedule.




For purposes of the foregoing, the caltah for Net Income as a percent of budgeted Netrhe is actual, publicly reported (also me
final business unit where applicable) Net Incometfe period divided by the Net Income budget appdoby the Board, averaged over
three years. Four calculations would be made fahegar - three for the core business units (CeutissWright Controls, Inc., Met
Improvement Company, Inc. and Curti&ight Flow Control Corporation) for their respegtiemployees and one for the entire Corporatic
employees of the Corporate Headquarters. The eaionlof Net Income would be made in a manner cbast with the practices followed
the current management reports (i.e., Wright angr@dooks) and as reported to shareholders.

For purposes of the foregoing, Net Incasea percent of total Sales relative to our Peeusis calculated by computing the Net Incc
as a percent of Sales percentile performance gRdler Group for each of the three years and takingverage of the three percentiles. Net
Income is calculated as above and Sales are agedpy the annual report.

c. Earned Value - As soon as practical after January 1, 2005, thredeaValue shall be determined for each particigmamsuant to th
Agreement. This determination shall be made bygudittachment B; the number of Shares earned skaltdiculated by multiplying tl
resulting value from the Corporate PSP Matrix tintfesinitial grant value. The value from the maisXocated at the intersection of (1) the
of figures in horizontal line with and to the rigbt the Net Income versus Budget actually achiefsedhe Performance Period and (2)
column of figures in vertical line with and belohetNet Income as a Percent of sales vs. the PesipGiverage thregear percentile actua
achieved by Company.

Examples: Grant of 1,000 Performance Shares

1- Assume that Net Income versus Budget average¥ ¥ Net Income as a percent of Sales vs. theGreep is 75" percentile fo
the three years. The figure in horizontal line vatid to the right of 100% Net Income vs. Budget ianidhe vertical column below 78

percentile Net Income as a percent of Sales vePdee group is 100%. This is the employee awarnifathe shares earned equal 1t
multiplied by the original grant. Performance Shagout = 1,000 share

2 - Assume that Net Income versus Budget averagesa@PiNet Income as a percent of Sales vs. the ®eeip is 90" percentile fo

the three years. The figure in horizontal line watid to the right of 85% Net Income vs. Budget amthe vertical column below 99
percentile Net Income as a percent of Sales vsP#&r group is 135%. The shares earned equal 138¢%plied by the original grar
Performance Share Payout = 1,350 sh:

3 - If the Corporation as a whole recorded only a 40f%rage Net Income versus Budget coupled with 8 B€rcentile Net Income a:
percent of Sales vs. the Peer Group, the Perforsn8hares awarded would be zero, since the awatar§aghown in Attachment B 1
every situation involving a Net Income vs. Budgesult less than 50% is zero. Performance ShareuPay0 Shares. Similarly, a
performance below 58 percentile vs. the Peer Group, irrespective of Mebme vs. Budget performance, would equal zeroes
earned




d. Time and Manner of Award - Except as otherwise provided herein or in the Agrert, 2005 Performance Share Grants shi
converted to their Earned Value, and shares wildekvered in full as soon as practical followirftetend of each thregear Performant
Period. Access to earned awards, the ability tdettsell shares, will be limited to 50% of the edragvard until such time as the Company’
Stock Ownership Guidelines are met and sustairgse attachment C).

e. Accounts - Until such time as the Earned Value shall be detexthand payment made to Employee, the Corporatiati create ¢
account on its books to reflect the number of Rerémce Shares initially awarded to Employee purstathis Target Award. These restric
accounts shall not be entitled to or credited wlitidends. No Employee shall be entitled vote aagfédtmance Shares until the Earned Vali
determined and payment made to Employee. ; proyidedever, that neither Employee nor any persoimatg through or on behalf
Employee shall under any circumstances acquirepasyerty interest in any specific assets of thepGration or any of its subsidiaries. Noth
contained in this Agreement and no action takersymmt hereto shall create or be construed to ceedi@uciary relationship between
Corporation or any of its subsidiaries and Emplogeany other person. To the extent that any peasouires a right to receive payment f
the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries hereundach right shall be no greater than the righao§ unsecured general creditor of
Corporation or any of its subsidiaries.

f.Termination or Resignation - If, before January 1, 2009, Employe&mployment is terminated for any reason or Engs#oyoluntaril
resigns or retires prior to attaining at least fifge-five (55) and completing at least five (5)ams of service with Curtisééright Corporation ¢
any of its affiliates (“Early Retirement Date”)] alghts to and interest in the 2005 Performancar&hshall be forfeited.

g.Death or Retirement at Early Retirement Date - If Employee has attained his or her Early Retireimizaite and either dies or reti
prior to his or her 629 birthday, Employee interest in the 200_ Performance Shares shafinemnuntil the earned value of his or
Performance Shares shall have been determinedwiall) which the earned value of his or her PerfaroeaShares, if any, reducptb ratato
reflect the amount of time during the Performaneeid®l that he or she shall not have been an emg|sfeall be delivered to Employee
following employees’ death, in accordance with gaagh 1V.e, hereof.

h. Death or Retirement after age 62 and eligible for Early Retirement - If Employee has attained his or her Early Retirenizate an
either dies or retires at or after his or her"8Birthday, Employees interest in the 2005 Performance Shares shafinua without reductic
for any period in which he or she shall not haverban employee, until the earned value of Emplay®@erformance Shares shall have
determined, following which the earned value of BEogpe's Performance Shares, if any, shall be delivere&Enployee, or followin
employees’ death, in accordance with paragraph heeeof.




i. Right to Benefits - The sole interest of Employee under this Agreemmtit respect to the award of Performance Sharel lsbac
receive the Performance Share Earned Value asdaw\herein, if and when the same shall become ddeayable in accordance with
terms hereof, and neither any Employee nor anyt@iming through Employee shall have any rightetitk interest in or to any of the spec
assets of the Corporation or a subsidiary. SaifloReance Share Award hereunder shall be paid satetiie Corporatiors common stoc
treasury or newly issued, registered under the @atn’s S-8 Registration Statement, SEC N0138541. In no manner shall any asse
the Corporation or a subsidiary be deemed or coadtthrough any of the provisions of this Agreentenbe held in trust for the benefit
Employee or to be collateral security for the perfance of the obligations imposed by this Agreenwnthe Corporation. The rights
Employee and anyone claiming through Employee $iebBolely those of a general unsecured credittimefCorporation, as determined ur
applicable law.

j. Offset to Benefits - Any other provision of the Agreement to the contraotwithstanding, the Corporation may reduce amgrds t
be paid to Employee under this Agreement by anyustso which Employee may owe to the Corporatioa subsidiary.

k. Adjustments, Clawback Provision - Any other provision of this Agreement to the contranotwithstanding, the Executi
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directorthef Corporation reserves the right in its solemion to revoke any award, mandate
return of any payment, make a downward adjustmeratniy calculation, or reduce the size of an awasdlting from the calculation, tha
deems necessary or appropriate.

IV. Terms Applicable to Option
a.Expiration Date - The Option shall expire on November 14, 2015ndeen years after the effective date of this award
b.Exercise of Option - The Option shall be exercisable from time to tisither:

Cash Only Exercise - by executing a Notice of Exercise of Option (a s#pen of an appropriate form is provided with
Agreement) specifying the number of whole sharesetpurchased, and returning it to the attentiothefCorporate Secretary, Curtldgight
Corporation, 4 Becker Farm Road, Roseland, Neweydi8068, said Notice to be accompanied by thecAdh purchase price of the shares; or



Exchange of Already Owned Shares - by executing and sending or delivering to the aib@nof the Corporate Secretary, at
above address, both a completed Notice of Exedfi€aption and a Stock Tender Form (specimens of@pfate forms are provided with t
Agreement), together with a tender of a sufficiemmber of already owned shares of Common Stockomnabination of already owned she
plus cash, to satisfy the full purchase price efélercised shares. Shares tendered may be boglskates. To the extent shares evidenct
certificates are tendered, the certificate or fiedies must be enclosed with the tender. In therase of an option shares tendered wil
valued for exercise purposes based on the closing pn the New York Stock Exchange on the tradiate immediately preceding the date
shares tendered are received by the Corporation.

c.Exercise Schedule - Subject to all other provisions hereof, the Optihall become exercisable with respect to thirel of the share
covered thereby on one or more occasions on ar taftefirst anniversary of the date hereof, withpect to a second third of such shares ol
or more occasions on or after the second such arsaixy, and with respect to the final third of sgblares on one or more occasions on or
the third anniversary hereof.

d.Limits on Purchase - Employee may use the Option to purchase any nuwibshares up to the maximum number specified fe
Option, provided that fractional shares may notpbechased, and that no more than tried of the shares covered by the Option ma
purchased prior to the second anniversary of the ldereof, and no more than twirds may be purchased prior to the third suchveansary
Furthermore, the payment for shares to be acqbiyeghy exercise of the Option may not be made ialevbr in part by the exchange of shi
that Employee shall have owned for less than gixn@nths prior to their tender as payment.

e Death or Disability - If Employee dies or becomes disabled, the Optiop beaexercised only within one year from the ddtdeath o
disability, and then only to the extent it wouldsedeen exercisable if Employee had still beereadind employed by the Corporation or ar
its subsidiaries.

f.Termination for Cause - If Employee is terminated for Cause the Optiorthe extent not already exercised, shall expiréh¥ath.

g.Termination, Resignation, or Retirement - If Employee has attained his or her Early Retireinigste and retires, the Option shal
exercisable within the times set forth in the EisgSchedule of section lll.c above, as if Employeee still employed by the Corporation,
only until the tenth anniversary of the effectivate of this award. If Employeg’employment is terminated for any reason othar thadeatt
disability, termination for cause, or retirementanthe terms set forth above, the Option may kotsed, but only within three (3) mon
following the date of such termination of employrhdn no event, however, may an Option be exercidtat its expiration or prior to the tir
it is by its terms exercisable, or for any greaember of shares than the number for which it wouldler its terms, at the time of exercise
exercisable.




V. Terms Applicable to Performance Units, Performance shares and to Option

aDuty of Loyalty - Employee acknowledges, understands and agreethéhaption award to the extent not theretofore @ged shall b
canceled and forfeited and payment otherwise duPearformance Units and Performance Shares shdbirfeited if Employee, without tt
consent of the Corporation, either while employgdh® Corporation or any of its subsidiaries oréadter, including after retirement, becol
associated with, employed by, renders any senice®r owns any interest (other than an intereat the Secretary of the Corporat
determines to be nosubstantial) in, any business that at the tima isompetition with the Corporation or any of itdsidiaries or with ar
business in which the Corporation or any of itsstdilaries has a substantial interest.

b.Disputes Regarding Nature of Resignation or Termination - Solely for the purpose of determining whether arti@pshall hav
expired or an event of forfeiture shall have ocedmwith respect to Performance Units or Performa&@twares, an Employee shall not be dee
to have voluntarily resigned or otherwise voluryaterminated his or her employment if the resigmat or termination is the direct &
proximate result of a substantial adverse changdlegirierms or conditions of his or her employmerdluding, but not limited to, a reduction
his or her salary or in job responsibilities.

For purposes of this Agreement, a tertionaof employment is for “Cause” if the Employee

(@) has been convicted of a felony;

(b) intentionally engaged in illegal conduct, fraud willful misconduct that is demonstrably and med#yi injurious to th
Corporation or a Business Unit;

(c) intentionally and substantially failed to perforis heasonably assigned duties with the Corporaiiam Business Uni

In the event that a dispute shall ariseécawhether a termination was for cause, or oveether a voluntary retirement, resignatiol
other voluntary termination of employment is theedt and proximate result of a substantial advetsnge in the terms or conditions
employment, that dispute shall be settled and lfindétermined by arbitration in the City of New %ounder the then existing rules of
American Arbitration Association, and judgment ugbe award rendered by the arbitrator(s) may beredtin any court having jurisdicti
thereof.

c. Employment and Other Rights - Nothing contained in this Agreement shall confeorufemployee any right to be continued in
employ of the Corporation or any of its subsidigrieor require Employee to continue in the empliothe Corporation or a subsidiary, nor d
the Agreement create any rights in Employee, oraligations on the part of the Corporation or bssdiary, other than those set forth hel
The awards payable under this Agreement shall dependent of and in addition to, any other agreésntrat may exist from time to tir
concerning any other compensation or benefits dayapthe Corporation or a subsidiary.




d.Receipt of Documents - Employee acknowledges receiving a copy of this Agrent, the summary plan document and Attachmel
B and C, containing supplemental information, whidctachments are incorporated herein and madetahpegof.

A copy of the Plan may be obtained fréwm office of the Secretary of the Corporation.

e.Transfer, Assignment, and Designation of Beneficiaries - Employee$ interest in the Performance Units and/or Optiansrde:
hereunder may not be sold, pledged, assigned psfémed otherwise than, following Employee’s degthrsuant to Employeg’writter
designation of beneficiary or beneficiaries madadnordance with procedures established by thedZatipn, or, in default of such designat
to Employee’s estate or in accordance with the lafadescent and distribution.

f.Employee and Heirs, Executors, Administrators and Assigns Bound - Employee agrees to be bound by the terms and jpwosisf thi:
Agreement and Employee further agrees that hiseorbeneficiaries, heirs, administrators, executord assigns shall also be bound by
terms and provisions hereof.

g.Withholding Tax - Employee acknowledges that, in connection withttaesactions accomplished or contemplated by thieémen
the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries may bé@come obligated to make certain withholdingsmfroompensation due to Employ
Accordingly, Employee hereby agrees that he orvgliecooperate in any reasonable arrangement dedigm insure that the amounts requ
to be withheld will be available to the Corporatmmnany of its subsidiaries when required.

h. Consulting Services - Employee agrees that subsequent to the terminafitiis or her employment, and so long as paymesitiio
been received on any Performance Units and theo@gtiall remain open without having been fully eisd, Employee shall render to
Corporation or any of its subsidiaries such coisgland advisory services as the Corporation ordrits subsidiaries may from time to ti
reasonably request; provided, however, that Em@alell not be required to render any such senatestime or in a manner that wao
unduly interfere with his or her employment witlparty other than the Corporation or one of its glibges, nor to render any services the
or she is prevented from performing by reason disability (which need not necessarily be of a pment nature). Employee shall not
required to travel (except for normal commutatidm)connection with the performance of such serviaed shall be reimbursed for
reasonable out-gfocket expenses incurred or paid by him or heroimection with the performance of such servicesnupresentation ai
approval by the Corporation or any of its subsidmof expense vouchers or such other supportifagnration as it may from time to tir
reasonably request.

i. Corporate Rights - The existence of the Plan and this Agreement stwllaffect the right or power of the Corporationniake
adjustments, recapitalizations, reorganizationsytber changes to the Corporatisrcapital structure or its business; issue bonelsewture:
common, preferred or prior preference stocks; diigsor liquidate the Corporation, or sell or traarshny part of its assets or business; ol
other corporate act, whether or a similar charamtetherwise.




j- Amendment - The Corporation reserves the right to amend or iteata the Plan prior to its expiration on May 18183, or t
discontinue grants and awards thereunder, providediever that no amendment, discontinuation, anirgtion shall be made that wo
impair the rights of any Employee under an awardaaly granted.

k. Notices - Any notice hereunder to be given to the Corporasioall be in writing and shall be delivered in perso the Secretary of t
Corporation, or shall be sent by registered mailumn receipt requested, to the Secretary of thep@ation at the Corporation’executiv
offices, and any notice hereunder to be given t@layee shall be in writing and shall be deliveragerson to Employee, or shall be ser
registered mail, return receipt requested, to Egg#aat his last address as shown in the employmeeontds of the Corporation or any of
subsidiaries. Any notice duly mailed in accordawith the preceding sentence shall be deemed gimgheodate postmarked.

|.Governing Law - This Award Agreement is issued, and the Performédiés, Performance Shares and Option evidenceeblpesr:
awarded, in New Jersey, U.S.A., and this Agreeraadtsaid awards shall be governed and construagctiordance with the laws of the Stat
New Jersey without regard to its conflicts of laprinciples to the extent such laws are not preedthpte the laws of the United States
America.

m. Binding Agreement - This Award Agreement is not binding unless andluh& Employee returns a fully executed copy henediime
for it to have been received by the Corporatiorthataddress set forth in section Ill.b, hereofpbhefore January 15, 2006.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this instrument to beuted the day and year first above written.

CURTISS-WRIGHT ORPORATION

EMPLOYEE

By:

Michael J. Dentol
Dated: Dated:

ATTACHMENTS (4)




CONSULTING AGREEMENT

This CONSULTING AGREEMENT dated this 1day of March, 2006, by and between Curliggght Corporation, a Delawe
corporation (the “Company”) and George Yohrling ¢t¥ling”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Yohrling has been serving as Executive Vice President of the Company and Chairrof CurtissWright Control, Inc
(“Controls™;

WHEREAS, Yohrling desires to retire from his pasits as the Executive Vice President of the Compamg,Chairman of Controls, ¢
otherwise as an employee and officer of the Compemyall of its affiliates effective as of March206, (the “Retirement Date”);

WHEREAS, in contemplation of compensation and bieaefangements for Yohrling such as are providerkim the parties determir
that no new incentive awards would be made to Yiofpih 2006 under the Company’s incentive compéosatlans;

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire tbampmencing after the Retirement Date, Yohrling wéltve as a consultant to the Compar
set forth herein; and

WHEREAS, the parties desire to set fahth exact nature and the amount of compensatiorbandfits to be provided to Yohrling
respect of his prior service as an employee anddrisulting services to the Company.

NOW THEREFORE, the parties hereto ageeliows:
l. Retirement

1.1 Retirement from Position as Executivee President

Yohrling hereby confirms his retiremerdrh his position as Executive Vice President of@wenpany and hereby resigns, effective i
the Retirement Date, from all of his other posiicas an officer of the Company and as a directdradficer of each of its affiliates ar
effective as of the Retirement Date, Yohrling slealhse to be an employee of the Company and eatshaffiliates for all purposes. Followi
the Retirement Date, Yohrling shall continue toreghe Company as a consultant as provided foiirhere



1.2. Related Matters to Retirement

(a) Medical, Dental and PrescriptiRenefits; Certain Insurance Benefit®uring the period commencing on the RetiremerteZa(
ending on February 28, 2007, the Company shallimoaton behalf of Yohrling and his spouse all matlicdental, and prescription di
benefits provided to the Compasyactive employees at the same cost as an actigyee. The foregoing shall be in full satisfactiaithe
Companys obligation to Yohrling to provide COBRA continigat of coverage under Section 4980B of the InteReenue Code of 1986,
amended (the “Code”) and Sections 601-608 of thelByee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, aerded (“ERISA”).During the
“Consulting Period,” as defined in Section 2.1 lmstAgreement, Yohrling shall also be entitled attbusiness travel accident and worker’
compensation insurance which the Company offersudtants to the Company in the ordinary courseusiriess, paid at Company expense.

(b) Financial Counselindpuring the period of this Agreement, the Compaiily reimburse Yohrling the cost for financial caeding
services substantially equivalent to those here¢ofwovided to him as an active employee up to simnam cost of what the Company pay
provide such services to its executives (curred#yp00); however, the Company will not be respdasibr any personal income tax liabil
associated with the services provided.

(c) Withholding The Company shall have the right to deduct fretm amounts payable under this Section 1.2, anystaxeothe
amounts required by law to be withheld.

Il. Consulting Period

2.1. Consulting Services

During the period commencing on tetirement Date and ending on the first anniverséithe Retirement Date, February 28, 2
(the “Consulting Period”),Yohrling agrees to serve the Company as a conguftad render such advisory and consulting servioethe
Company and its affiliates in connection with thesiness of the Company and its affiliates as magaeably be requested by the Board o
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, having dwegard to Yohrlingd health, residence and personal circumstancebeatirne, i
connection with any matter with respect to whichhas experience or special competence by reasois pfior employment with the Compe
(the “Consulting Services”)The Consulting Services shall be rendered at sochtibns as shall be mutually convenient to the gamg an
Yohrling. The Company agrees that the ConsultinyiSes shall be appropriate for a former Executitiee President of the Company. T
Agreement may be renewed on its terms for two
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(2) additional one-year terms (“Renewal YedsY) the Executive Compensation Committee. Any extenbeyond the second Renewal Y
will require the approval of the Board of Directors

2.2._Consulting Fees

(a) In consideration for the ConisigtServices to be provided the Company and forateeptance of the terms contained in
Agreement, provided Yohrling is then available &fprm Consulting Services for the Company, andvigied further, that Yohrling is not
breach of, or has not committed a material breadfich has not been cured), of any of the covenaatgained in Section 3.1 hereof,
Company shall pay Yohrling, in equal monthly inktednts, a consulting fee at the annual rate of ZBY (the “Consulting Fees”).

(b) Yohrling shall also be entitlénl an annual incentive payment with a target valfies159,000 (“Performance Bonus'Jhe
Performance Bonus shall be based on a number fifrpemce goals mutually established and agreed tédhrling and the Chief Executi
Officer at the commencement of this Agreement gigt@ved by the Executive Compensation Committeés Award shall be paid when st
payments are customarily paid by the Company uitsl@nanagement incentive compensation plans.

2.3. Reimbursement of Expenses

During the Consulting Period, then@any shall promptly pay Yohrling the reasonabld antual expenses incurred by him in
performance of the Consulting Services, includimighout limitation, those incurred in connectionthivbusiness related travel or entertainn
or, if such expenses are paid directly by Yohrlislgall promptly reimburse him for such paymentvjed that Yohrling properly accou
therefor in accordance with the Company’s currepease reimbursement policy.

2.4, NofEmployee Status

Yohrling acknowledges that during Bonsulting Period and thereafter he will not bé'employee” ér person of similar status)
the Company or any of its affiliates for purposéshe Code. Yohrling acknowledges that he will betpaid any “wages’aé defined in tr
Code) in respect of the Consulting Services unéeti@n 2.2 of the Agreement, and that he shalldel\sresponsible for all taxes imposec
him by reason of the payment of the Consulting Feed/or any other compensation, benefits or otieowmts payable in respect of
Consulting Services.
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Ill.  General Provisions

3.1. Covenants

(a) Unauthorized Disclosuré&/ohrling agrees and understands that in his josivith the Company, Yohrling has been and
continue to be exposed to and has and will receifegmation relating to the confidential affairseti@Company and its affiliates, including
not limited to technical information, intellectuptoperty, business and marketing plans, strategiestomer information, other informat
concerning the products, promotions, developmémnting, expansion plans, business policies aactiges of the Company, its affiliates,
other forms of information considered by the Comp#m be confidential and in the nature of traderesisc(“Confidential Information):
Yohrling agrees that during the Consulting Periad #or 10 years thereafter, Yohrling will not dissé such Confidential Information, eit
directly or indirectly, to any third person or eéptivithout the prior written consent tfie Company; provided, however, that (i) YohrlirigH
have no such obligation to the extent such infolmmats or becomes publicly known other than as sulteof Yohrling’s breach of h
obligations hereunder and (ii) Yohrling may, afgéring prior notice to the Company to the extergqticable under the circumstances, disc
such information to the extent required by appliedlbw or governmental regulation or judicial oguatory process. This confidentia
covenant has no temporal, geographical or teraitogstriction. Upon the termination of the ConisigitPeriod, Yohrling will, to the exte
requested by the Company in writing, promptly sypigl the Company all property, keys, notes, mendaanvritings, lists, files, repor
customer lists, correspondence, tapes, disks, catigeys, maps, logs, machines, technical dat@ngrother tangible product or docun
which has been produced by, received by or otheraidmitted to Yohrling during or prior to the Coltimg Period.

(b)_Norcompetition. By and in consideration of the Compasigntering into this Agreement and the paymentbetanade ar
benefits to be provided by the Company hereundeéiraconsideration for the amounts received angetoeceived by Yohrling hereunder,
further in consideration of Yohrling’exposure to Confidential Information, Yohrlingregs that he will not, during the Consulting Pergod
for period of 10 years thereafter, or so long asheceiving benefits under this Agreement, whighds greater (the “Non-competition Term”
directly or indirectly, own, manage, operate, jaantrol, be employed by, or participate in the evahip, management, operation or contrc
or be connected in any manner with, including kattlimited to holding any position as a sharehaqldénector, officer, consultant, indepenc
contractor, employee, partner, or investor in, Regtricted Enterprise (as defined below); provitted in no event shall ownership of less 1
1% of the
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outstanding equity securities of any issuer whesities are registered under the Securities amthdhge Act of 1934, as amended, star
alone, be prohibited by this Section 3.1(B)or purposes of this paragraph, the term “ Restli Enterprisé shall mean any person, corporat
partnership or other entity that competes, direotlyindirectly, with any business or activity comtled or proposed to be conducted by
Company or any of its subsidiaries as of the Restinet Date.

(c) Nossolicitation. During the Noneompetition Term, Yohrling shall not, and shall watise any other person to, interfere wit
harm, or attempt to interfere with or harm, theatiehship of the Company or any of its affiliateghyor endeavor to entice away from
Company or any of its affiliates, or hire, any mersvho at any time during Yohrling’employment with the Company or the Consultingdd
was an employee or customer of the Company or &itg affiliates or otherwise had a material busmeelationship with the Company or
of its affiliates.

(d) Remediesrohrling agrees that any breach of the termsisf $ection 3.1vould result in irreparable injury and damage ® th
Company and/or its affiliates for which the Compamyl/or its affiliates would have no adequate rgmatdaw; Yohrling therefore also agrees
that in the event of said breach or any threateéth, the Company and/or its affiliates, as apple, shall be entitled to an immediate
injunction and restraining order to prevent suakelsh and/or threatened intentional breach andfdimeed breach by Yohrling and/or any and
all persons or entities acting for or with Yohrljngithout having to prove damages, in additionng ather remedies to which the Company
its affiliates may be entitled at law or in equitihe terms of this paragraph shall not preventibmpany and its affiliates from pursuing any
other available remedies for any breach and/oatered intentional breach hereof, including butlimated to the recovery of damages from
Yohrling, the recovery of all prior payments madeler this Agreement, the recovery of any paymérashad been made and still remain t
paid in the Curtiss-Wright Retirement Plan, andiszontinue any payments still due under the Ages@niThe parties hereto further agree that
the provisions of the covenants contained in tlistiSn 3.1are reasonable and necessary to protect the besgiebthe Company and its
affiliates because of Yohrling’s access to Conftag@nnformation and his material participationthre operation of such businesses. Yohrling
hereby acknowledges that due to the global aspéthe Company’s and its affiliatebusinesses and competitors it would not be appatepti
include any geographic limitation on this Sectioh.3Should a court or arbitrator determine, howetreat any provision of the covenants
contained in this Section 3ake not reasonable or valid, either in period mti geographical area, or otherwise, the partietthagree that
such covenants should be interpreted and enfooctitetmaximum extent which such court or arbitraeems reasonable or valid.
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The existence of any claim or cause of action byriiog against the Company or its affiliates undeis Agreement shall n
constitute a defense to the enforcement by the @agnpf the covenants contained in Section 3.1(a)

Anything contained in Section 3.1{d)the contrary notwithstanding, the Company shallrequired to give Yohrling prior writt
notice of any claimed failure by him to comply wihy provision of Section 3.1(b) or (c). If Yohujrshall, within fifteen (15) days after st
notice, be in all material respects in compliandt whe provisions of Section 3.1(b) or (c) thairigolved, the Company shall not, by virtue
the provisions of this Agreement, be entitled toiramediate injunction and restraining order to gmvsuch breach, provided, however,
nothing contained herein shall relieve Yohrlingnfrany liability for actual damages occurring agsuit of any breach by him of the provisi
of this Agreement.

3.2. Independence, Severability and{Eanlusivity .

Each of the rights enumerated is thjreement hereof shall be independent of theretiued shall be in addition to and not in lie
any other rights and remedies available to the Gompr Yohrling at law or in equity. If any prowsi of this Agreement is hereafter consti
or adjudicated to be invalid or unenforceable, shene shall not affect the remainder of the Agre¢roemights or remedies which shall
given full effect without regard to the invalid pions.

3.3 NorExclusivity of Rights

Nothing in this Agreement shall lfror reduce such rights as Yohrling may have umadgrof the following Plans of the Company
any amounts or benefits which Yohrling is or shedtome entitled to receive under any of those P3ha$l be paid or provided in accorda
with the provisions of the Plans: LoAgrm Incentive Plan; Retirement Plan; RetirememeBiés Restoration Plan; Deferred Compens:
Plan Employee Stock Purchase Plan; and Savingthaedtment Plan.

3.4 Rights of Terminatian

(a)_For CauseThe Company shall have the right, at any timeaife upon notice to Yohrling, to terminate thigréement fc
“cause” (as hereinafter defined). For purposeshisf Agreement, “causetheans: (1) Yohrling acting fraudulently in his téas with th
Company or on behalf of Company, (2) Yohrling mizapriating or doing material, intentional damagettie property of the Company,
Yohrling being convicted of a felony, (4) Yohrlirggacts or omissions amounting to willful miscondactrecklessness by Yohrling in -
performance of his duties under this Agreemenherhabitual neglect of such duties or (5) any otheterial breach by Yohrling of any of -
terms of this Agreement.
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(b)_Disability; Death In the event of Yohrling permanent and total disability due to physicamantal illness or incapacity, 1
Company shall have the right to terminate this &gment upon 30 daygrior written notice. In the event that Yohrling &ble to an
recommences rendering services and performing utissihereunder within such 8@y notice period, Yohrling shall be reinstated aodt
notice shall be without further force or effectYibhrling dies during the Term, this Agreement steximinate immediately upon his death.

3.5 Effects of Terminatian

(a) In the event that the Agreemisrterminated pursuant to Section 3.4(a), (i) thggeement shall immediately cease and (ii)
Company shall pay to Yohrling his accrued and uhpainsulting fees and expense reimbursement thranghdate of termination
accordance with the Company’s usual procedures.

(b) In the event that the Agreenisrierminated pursuant to Section 3.4(b), (i) thigeement shall cease in accordance with Section
3.4(b), (ii) the Company shall pay to Yohrling as Estate any unpaid consulting fees due for tta& yewhich Yohrling dies or becomes
disabled, and expense reimbursement through tleeodi&rmination in accordance with Company’s ugwatedures, and (i) the Company
shall pay all previously awarded Annual Incentiveakd or PU Award in accordance with the terms amtitions of the respective Award
documents.

(c) In the event that this Agreementerminated by Yohrling, then: (i) the Comparhals pay Yohrling his accrued and ung
consulting fees and expense reimbursement thrdwgtdte of termination in accordance with Compangisal procedures.

(d) Yohrling’s obligations pursudatSections 3.1 shall survive any termination @ thgreement for any reason whatsoever.
3.4. Successors

This Agreement shall be binding upon and shallentar the benefit of the Company and any and aitsofuccessors and assigns, which
purposes of this Agreement, shall include a cornpmmaor other entity acquiring all or substantiayl of the assets and business of
Company, as the case may be, whether by operatitawoor otherwise. The Company shall require ilscg@ssors and assigns to expre
assume and agree to perform this Agreement inaheegnanner and to the same extent that the Compaulg be required to perform it if
such succession or assignment had taken placehed¢iitis Agreement nor any right or interest hedemrshall be assignable or transferabl
Yohrling, his beneficiaries or legal representativexcept by will or by
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the laws of descent and distribution. This Agreenséall inure to the benefit of and be enforceddylérohrling’s legal personal representative.
3.5. Notices

All notices, consents or other cominations required or permitted to be given by pasty hereunder shall be in writing and sha
given by personal delivery, or certified or registémail, postage prepaid, as follows:

To the Company

Attn: Chief Executive Office
CurtisWright Corporatior
4 Becker Farm Roa
Roseland, New Jersey 070

To Yohrling:

6125 Wakehurst Roe
Charlotte, NC 2822

or at such other address as either party may fiore to time specify to the other. Any notice, cartser other communication required
permitted to be given hereunder shall be deemdubat@ been given on the date of mailing or persdeéivery and shall be conclusivi
presumed to have been received on the fourth bssiey following the date of mailing or, in the €ad personal delivery, the day of deliv
thereof, except that a change of address shableeffective until actually received.

3.6. Modifications and Waivers

No term, provision or condition big Agreement may be modified or discharged undesh modification or discharge is authori
by the Board and is agreed to in writing and sigmgd ohrling. No waiver by either party hereto afyabreach by the other party hereto of
term, provision or condition of this Agreement  frerformed by such other party shall be deemedigewof similar or dissimilar provisio
or conditions at the same or at any prior or subsegtime.

3.7. Entire Agreement




This Agreement constitutes the entinderstanding between the parties hereto rel&inge subject matter hereof, supersedin
negotiations, prior discussions, preliminary agreets and agreements relating to the subject mateof made prior to the date hereof.

3.8. Governing Law

This Agreement shall be governedabg construed in accordance with the laws of tlageSif New Jersey, without giving effec
conflicts of laws principles thereof. Notwithstandithe foregoing, and except with respect to amggeding for an injunction and restrair
order under Section 3.1(d), if a dispute hereustiatl exist either party shall have the right (bot the obligation), in addition to all other rig
and remedies provided by law, to compel arbitratiddrthe dispute in the County of Bergen, State efmNJersey, under the rules of
American Arbitration Association, by giving writterotice of arbitration to the other party withirirti (30) days after notice of such dispute
been received by the party to whom notice has lgaem; any decision and award under the arbitragiwall be final and binding on the par
hereto, and judgment on the decision and awardbmagntered in any court of competent jurisdictemg

3.9. Headings

The headings contained in this Agreet are for reference purposes only and shallaffett the meaning or interpretation of -
Agreement.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties heretaeéhaxecuted this Agreement on the day and yedodhtabove.

George Yohrling

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION

By:
Name: Martin R. Benant
Title: Chief Executive Office

Approved:
Name: John R. Myel
Title: Chairman
Executive Compensation Committ
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Exhibit 21
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The information below is provided, as of DecemhkrZ005 with respect to the subsidiaries of thei®emt, all of which are wholly owned by
the Corporation, directly or indirectly. The nanmégertain inactive subsidiaries and other constéid subsidiaries of the Registrant have been
omitted because such subsidiaries would not comstit significant subsidiary, individually or iretlaggregate.

Organized Under

Name the Laws of
Curtiss-Wright Flow Control Corporatio New York
Curtiss-Wright Controls, Inc Delaware
Metal Improvement Company, LL Delaware
Curtiss-Wright Electr-Mechanical Corporatio Delaware
Penny & Giles Controls Limite England
CurtisWright Antriebstechnik Gmbt Switzerland
Vista Controls, Inc California
Autronics Corporatiol Delaware
CurtisWright Flow Control Company Cana Nova Scotie
Peerless Instrument Co., It New York
Dy 4, Inc. Delaware
Synergy Microsystems, In California
Primagraphics (Holdings) Limite U.K.
Novatronics, Inc Ontario
Systran Corporatio Ohio



Exhibit 2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement Nos. 33-65073, 33-06329, 33t9%633-126541, and 33-126543 on
Form S-8 and Registration Statement Nos. 33-11398533-119589 on Form S-3 of Curtiss-Wright Corpiora of our reports dated March 3,
2006, relating to the financial statements andrfoial statement schedule of Curtiss-Wright Corporaind management’s report of the

effectiveness of internal control over financigboeting appearing in and incorporated by referéandbhe Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation for the year ended Delsen81, 2005.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
March 3, 2006



Exhibit 31.1

Certifications
I, Martin R. Benante, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Curtis-Wright Corporation
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&ie a material fact necessar

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nkadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtf@ periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and proceduties tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnegah

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@aorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presantbd report our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatowred during the registre's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

5. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regie's ability to record, process, summarize and reffiehcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registra’s

internal control over financial reportin

March 3, 2006

/s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic



Exhibit 31.2

Certifications
I, Glenn E. Tynan, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Curtis-Wright Corporation
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgt&ie a material fact necessar

make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nkadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ aéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtf@ periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresgused such disclosure controls and proceduties tiesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtubsidiaries, is made known
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnegah

b) Designed such internal control over financial réjpgr, or caused such internal control over finahi@aorting to be designe
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atanoce with generally accepted accounting princijj

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regis’s disclosure controls and procedures and presantbd report our conclusior
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regid’s internal control over financial reporting thatowred during the registre's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’ s internal control over financial reporting; e

5. The registrar's other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financia
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regie's ability to record, process, summarize and reffiehcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registra’s

internal control over financial reportin

March 3, 2006

/s/ Glenn E. Tyna

Glenn E. Tynat
Chief Financial Office!



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Curtiss-g¥ti Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K foetperiod ended December 31, 2005
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiseiothe date hereof (the “Report”), Martin R. Betiea as Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, and Glenn E. Tynan, as Cileancial Officer of the Company, each herebyifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section
1350, that to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsettion 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly mets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations
the Company

/s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benante
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 3, 200¢

/s/ Glenn E. Tyna

Glenn E. Tynan
Chief Financial Officer
March 3, 200¢



